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None
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Indicate by check mark if the registranbot required to file reports pursuant to Secli8ror Section 15(d) of the Act. Yed No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registr(1) has filed all reports required to be filgdSection 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 modh$or such shorter period that the registrang wejuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementdtHe past 90 days.

Yes [¥ No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure ofiniguent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulat&-K is not contained herein, and will not



contained, to the best of registrant's knowledgeleffinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part Il of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 104H.

Indicate by check mark whether the registis a large accelerated filer, an accelerateddr a non-accelerated filer (as defined in
Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act);

Large Accelerated FileEd Accelerated Filer]
Non Accelerated Filed (Do not check if a smaller reporting compe  Smaller Reporting Compan

Indicate by check mark whether the regigtis a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-hefExchange Act). Ye&l No

The aggregate market value of the votimdj @on-voting stock (Common Stock) held by nonhatis as of the last business day of most
recently completed second fiscal quarter (June@8) was approximately $207.2 million, based eandlosing sale price on the NASDAQ
Global Select Market on that date.*

The number of shares outstanding of thgigR@ant's Common Stock was 128,169,634 as of Dbee2B8, 2008.

* Excludes the common stock held by executive officdirectors and stockholders whose individual awinip exceeds 10% of the
Common Stock outstanding on June 27, 2008. Thautalon does not reflect a determination that quetsons are affiliates for any
other purpose.
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Documents Incorporated by Reference

Portions of the registrant's definitive yystatement to be filed with the Commission purguia Regulation 14A in connection with the
registrant's 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholdene (tProxy Statement") or portions of the registeaRbrm 10-K/A, to be filed subsequent to
the date here of, are incorporated by referenceRatt IIl of this report. Such Proxy StatemenEorm-10K/A will be filed with the
Commission not later than 120 days after the canatuof the registrant's fiscal year ended DeceriBe2008.
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All references to us, we, our, the Compangt Kratos refer to Kratos Defense & Security Sohg, Inc., a Delaware Corporation, and its
subsidiaries.

PART |
ltem 1. Business

This Annual Report (including the sectiegarding Management's Discussion and Analysisrmdrigial Condition and Results of
Operations) contains forward-looking statementargimg our business, financial condition, resuftsmerations and prospects. Words such as
"expects," "anticipates,” "intends," "plans,” "l@sles," "seeks," "estimates” and similar expressiwnariations of such words are intended to
identify forward-looking statements, but are no¢ighed to represent an all-inclusive means of idgngifforwardiooking statements as dena
in this Annual Report. Additionally, statements ceming future matters are forward-looking statetsen

Although forward-looking statements in dumual Report reflect our good faith judgment, satdtements can only be based on facts anc
factors currently known by us. Consequently, fovimoking statements are inherently subject tosriskd uncertainties and actual results and
outcomes may differ materially from the results antcomes discussed in or anticipated by the fat@oking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences in resultsoutcomes include, without limitation, thosecsfieally addressed in Item 1A—"Risk
Factors" below, as well as those discussed elsewhehis Annual Report. Readers are urged notatcepundue reliance on these forward-
looking statements, which speak only as of the datair Annual Report. We undertake no obligatiomevise or update any forward-looking
statements in order to reflect any event or cirdamse that may arise after the date of this AnRegort. Readers are urged to carefully review
and consider the various disclosures made throughetentirety of this Annual Report, which attertpidvise interested parties of the risks
and factors that may affect our business, finaremallition, results of operations and prospects.

We were incorporated in the state of Newkyan December 19, 1994 and began operations ichBE95. We reincorporated in the state
of Delaware in 1998. On September 12, 2007, wegddiour name from Wireless Facilities, Inc. to iisaDefense & Security Solutions, Inc.

Overview

We are an innovative provider of missioitical engineering, information technology (IT) gees and warfighter solutions. We work
primarily for the U.S. government and federal goweent agencies, but we also perform work for sdatélocal agencies and commercial
customers. Our principal services are relatedubabe not limited to, Command, Control, Commuriaa, Computing, Intelligence,
Surveillance and Reconnaissance (C4ISR); weapatersy lifecycle support and sustainment; militagapon range operations and technical
services; missile, rocket and weapons system teksegaluation; missile and rocket mission launafiises; public safety, security and
surveillance systems; modeling and simulation; ummed aerial vehicle (UAV) products and technolaggyyanced network engineering and
information technology services; and advanced mfdion technology services. We offer our custorsetations and expertise to support their
mission-critical needs by leveraging our skillsass our core service areas.

We derive a substantial portion of our rexefrom contracts performed for federal governnagmncies, including the U.S. Departmer
Defense (DOD), with the majority of our revenuereutly generated from the delivery of mission-catiwarfighter solutions, advanced
engineering services, system integration and systestainment services to defense and other non-B@Ixivilian government agencies. We
believe our diversified and stable client baseargjrclient relationships, broad array of contragttieles, considerable employee base posse
government security clearances,
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extensive list of past performance qualificaticarsg significant management and operational capialilposition us for continued growth.

Prior to 2008 we were also an independemtiger of outsourced engineering and network dapkent services, security systems
engineering and integration services and othemieahservices for the wireless communications #tdy the U.S. government and enterprise
customers. In 2006 and 2007, we undertook a tramsfiion strategy whereby we divested our commerviia@less-related businesses and
chose to pursue business with the federal goverfjmpemarily the DOD, through strategic acquisio®n September 12, 2007, we changed
our name from Wireless Facilities, Inc. (WFI) toatas Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (Kratog)r @ew name reflects our revised focus as
a defense contractor and security systems intagi@tthe federal government and for state andllagancies. In connection with our name
change, we changed our NASDAQ Global Market tradiymbol to "KTOS".

Current Reporting Segments

Prior to the divestiture of our wireles$ated business, we had three operating segment¥Veless Network Services (WNS) segment,
our Enterprise Network Services (ENS) segment,camdsovernment Network Services (GNS) segmentoRatig the divestiture of the WNS
segment and corporate name change, we reorgamizethio operating segments, Kratos Government Bolsif KGS) (formerly GNS) and
Public Safety and Security (PSS) (formerly ENS)e Tihancial statements in this Annual Report aesented in a manner consistent with our
new operating structure. For additional informatiegarding our operating segments, see Note 14tdd\to Consolidated Financial
Statements. From a customer and solutions pergpeute view our business as an integrated wholerging skills and assets wherever
possible.

Kratos Government Solutions (KGS) Segment

The Kratos Government Solutions segmentiges engineering, information technology and weepsystems to federal, state, and local
government agencies, but primarily the DOD. Ourknocludes weapon systems sustainment, lifecygpet and extension; command,
control, communications, computing, intelligenagrveillance and reconnaissance (C4ISR) servicd@gamirange operations and technical
services; missile, rocket, and weapons systemaigsévaluation; mission launch services; publietgaand security services; modeling and
simulation, unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) produartsl technology, and advanced network engineeridgrdarmation technology services;
public safety, security and surveillance systentsgration. Our KGS segment also provides publietgakecurity and surveillance systems
products and services to the homeland security @avith products and services aimed at supporiisgriesponders.

Public Safety and Security (PSS) Segment

The Kratos Public Safety and Security segrpeovides system design, deployment, integratioonitoring and support services for pu
safety, security and surveillance networks forestaid local governments and commercial custometdidsafety and security networks have
been traditionally segregated into systems sucioige, data, access control, video surveillanaaperature control and fire and life safety. We
provide services that combine such systems and iotfegrated solutions on an Ethernet-based platfove also offer solutions that combine
voice, data, electronic security and building awton systems with fixed or wireless connectivityusions. Our target markets are retail,
healthcare, education, sports and entertainmentjaipal government, correctional facilities andestipublic facilities. Our commitments to
these markets and our ability to provide featuclsrcosteffective solutions have allowed us to become dribelarger independent integrat
for these types of systems. We maintain regiorfadefocations, comprised of Kratos Mid Atlanticratos Southeast, and Kratos Southwest.
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Industry Background
U.S. Department of Defense Drives Strategic Prim# for the Company

The delivery and execution of our missioiti@al engineering and support services are drivgthe priorities of the U.S. federal
government and primarily the Department of Defefi$w strategic priorities of the DOD are basedingé¢ part on the Quadrennial Defense
Review, the first conducted in an era of globaldgsm, which continues the shift in emphasis Bniifying key strategic priorities. These
priorities are currently focused on mission criticapabilities of the U.S. armed forces and prawgdine support infrastructure necessary to
sustain these forces in a time of heightened warkadiness and deployment.

The 2009 Fiscal Year DOD approved budg86iE5.4 billion, an increase of $35.9 billion o¥éscal Year 2008. The total budgetary
increase of approximately 7.5% represents a sgifiopportunity to key federal government contrecin support of the DOD's war fighter,
information technology, and other operational pties. The approved DOD budget for 2009 includescaest for supplemental funding of
$70.0 billion to fight the Global War on Terror. \Welieve there will be significant market opportigs for providers of system sustainment
and engineering services and solutions to federaignment agencies over the next several yearscyarly those in the defense and
homeland security communities.

Focus on Federal Government Transformation

The federal government, and the DOD inipaldr, is in the midst of a significant transforioa that is driven by the federal government's
need to address the changing nature of globaltthrAssignificant aspect of this transformatiothie use of Command, Control,
Communications, Computing, Intelligence, Surveit@mnd Reconnaissance (C4ISR), and informatiomt#opy to increase the federal
government's effectiveness and efficiency. Theltésincreased federal government spending orrinéion technology to upgrade networks
and transform the federal government from sepaisitated organizations into larger, enterpriselemnetworkeentric organizations capable
sharing information broadly and quickly. While thhensformation initiative is driven by the needptepare for new world threats, adopting
these IT transformation initiatives will also impeefficiency and reduce infrastructure costs acedisfederal government agencies.

An additional aspect of the military tramshation includes significantly enhancing militagadiness in areas such as missile defense,
weapons system sustainment and extension, and/énallostrengthening of intelligence and secufiigr example, the objective of the DOD as
it relates to missile defense is to continue toeligy, test, and field missile defense systemsdtept America, its allies and deployed forces.

Competitive Strengths

We believe we are well positioned to maetrapidly evolving needs of federal governmennages for high-end engineering services, IT
solutions and other technical operations becausgossess the following key business strengths arfdimance qualifications:

Significant and Highly Specialized Experience

Through the existing customer engagemenrdsaath the government focused acquisitions we taapleted over the past several years,
we have amassed significant and highly speciakzgrrience in areas directly related to weaporesysife cycle extension and sustainment;
missile, rocket and weapons system test and evay&4ISR; military range operations and techngmalices and other highly differentiated
services and solutions. This collective experienc@ast performance qualifications, is a requinehos the majority of contract vehicles and
customer engagements we are
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involved in. We believe this presents a significlaatrier to entry and positions us for long-terracss.
In-Depth Understanding of Client Missions

We have a history of providing mission4cat services and solutions to our clients, enaplia to develop an in-depth understanding of
their missions and technical needs. In additicsigaificant number of our employees are locatediant sites, giving us valuable strategic
insights into clients' ongoing and future prograguirements. Our in-depth understanding of ountleissions, in conjunction with the
strategic location of our employees, enables wdfey technical solutions tailored to our cliergpecific requirements and consistent with their
evolving mission objectives.

Diverse Base of Key Contract Vehicles

As a result of our business developmenigamn securing key contracts, we are a preferrattactor on numerous multi-year government-
wide acquisition contracts and multiple award caciis that provide us with the opportunity to bidhemdreds of millions of dollars of busine
against a discrete number of other pre-qualifiedmanies each year. These contracts include SeapGi$A, Passive RFID EPC-1, PES, IT,
LOG World, Mobis Millennia Lite, AMCOM Express, Csalidated Acquisition of Professional Services (G)\FSupport Services for
Aviation, Air Defense and Missile Systems, Systéingineering and Technical Assistance Contract,Spetialized Engineering,

Development and Test Articles/Models. While thesfied government is not obligated to make any awandier these vehicles, we believe that
holding preferred positions on these contract \ehiprovides us an advantage as we seek to exparevel of services we provide to our
clients.

Strategic Geographic Locations and BRAC

The federal government's Base RealignmeahtCGlosure (BRAC) Act of 2005 is the congressignalithorized process the Department of
Defense has implemented to reorganize its basetsteuto more efficiently and effectively supportSJarmed forces, increase operational
readiness and facilitate new ways of doing businkss result of the DOD's BRAC transformation, iee’e concentrated part of our business
strategy on building a significant presence in BRAC receiving locations where the federal governnig relocating its personnel as well as
related technical and professional services. Asavetinue to entrench in these key locations, weeekihis to be a significant competitive
advantage.

Highly Skilled Employees and an Experienced Managemh Team

We deliver our services through a highlijis@t workforce of approximately 2,000 full-timeag-time and on-call employees in our on-
going business. Our senior managers have overaduandred years of collective experience with falgovernment agencies, the U.S.
military, and federal government contractors. Merslg# our management team have experience growismésses organically, as well as
through acquisitions.

The cumulative experience and differentlagpertise of our personnel in our core focussaoéa€4I1SR, weapons systems lifecycle
extension and maintenance, missile and rockeatebsevaluation, along with our sizable employeeslvaith government security clearances,
allow us to qualify for and bid on larger projedighe prime contracting role.

Services and Solutions

We provide a range of integrated enginggnivar fighter, security and information technolagyrvices and solutions by leveraging our
core service offerings: weapons systems lifecyafgpsrt and
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extension; C4ISR; military range operations anthtézal services; missile and rocket test and evi@nasecurity systems integration; and
advanced network engineering; and IT services.

Weapon Systems Lifecycle Sustainment, Supportx@edgion

We provide weapons systems life cycle supgad extension services for the DOD and foreignegnments. These services focus on
maintaining, testing and repairing certain weapgystems for the war fighter.

C4ISR (Command, Control, Communications, Computimglligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance)

In the area of C4ISR, Kratos is involvediiwide range of services, including installatiopgrade and maintenance of command, control,
computing and surveillance systems for customezk ag Joint Inter Agency Task Force-south (JIATRG,Naval Undersea Warfare Center
(NUWC) and the Space and Naval Warfare Systemse€C¢8PAWAR).

Missile Ranger Operations and Technical Serv

A key area of differentiation for us is hiit the range and technical service areas we offerhave resources stationed at many major
weapons and targets range locations throughouttited States, including Naval Air Warfare CenterNMugu, Hawaii Pacific Missile Range,
Fort Bliss, Texas, and White Sands Missile Rangay Nlexico. Our services include aerial targets apens and maintenance, surface targets
operations and maintenance, missile systems opesatind maintenance, range operations planningw@ubrt, hazardous materials
management, supply and logistics support, and naatwring.

Missile and Rocket Test and Evaluat

Through the acquisitions of Haverstick Adtisg, Inc. and DFI, we acquired expertise in #nea of missile and rocket test and evaluation
services. This includes exclusive rights to thégleand manufacture of the motor on the Oriole Rb&ystem and ancillary hardware for
sounding rockets, suborbital research and targeices together with both intellectual property auiject matter expertise in sensors and
modeling and simulation associated with a wide eamigmissile technologies. Additionally, this afeour business develops and produces
low-cost ballistic missile defense targets.

Security Systems Integration

We have broad experience integrating sgcservices and solutions across a number of nétaod communications platforms. In
particular, our non-federal business has long-stanexperience and has developed significant custaetationships by providing best-atass
systems integration services on a variety of ptatfincluding digital (IP) surveillance and secyrtiuilding automation systems and controls,
fire and life safety systems, access control amiigger protection, and service and maintenan¢heofforementioned systems.

We have comprehensive experience providirgineering services at any phase of a projeayiifie including program management,
engineering design, system engineering, C5| Syf#D0O, operations and maintenance, integrated tetemanications, and warfare systems
training.

Learning, Performance and Training Solutic

Our learning, performance and training sohs consist of a broad range of products andses\capabilities to deliver training solutions
and web-enabled or satellite based interactivewggt learning for customers in the DoD, other gowemt agencies, universities and
commercial organizations. Our training solutionsude services, product development, and toolsessitig a breadth of related

8




Table of Contents

disciplines that include human performance factots & task analysis, competencies definition, Islk8l knowledge building via multiple
delivery mediums, tracking, assessment, evalua#iod,trend analysis. In addition, we develop am¥iple classroom based and e-learning
training and education programs and Net-Centric Blu@ystems Integration (HIS) solutions.

We also offer a range of IT services andtgms from conceptual network planning to systarmvice and maintenance. We also offer our
proprietary software based network management ptedia software license and maintenance saleswvdigo serve as a platform for
incremental network based services work. We hatensive experience building complex and secure ordtsvfor the federal government, and
we possess in-depth experience with network oeraitenters. Our services include network opersiti@mters, help desks, system
maintenance, system upgrades, configuration managetata warehousing, COTS selection and integraéind high performance computi

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to aggressively grow owsibess as a leading provider of highly-differemibservices in our core areas of focus as noted
above by delivering comprehensive, high-end engingeservices, technical solutions and informatechnology solutions to federal
government agencies while improving our profitahiliTo achieve our objective, we intend to:

Accelerate Internal Growth

We are focused on accelerating our integnalvth rate by capitalizing on our current contia@se and customer relationships, expanding
services provided to our existing clients, expagadiar client base and offering new, complementaryises.

Capitalize on Current Contract Base We are aggressively pursuing task orders uexisting contract vehicles to maximize our revenue
and strengthen our client relationships, thougheti®no assurance that the federal governmentweike awards up to the ceiling amounts or
that we will be awarded any task orders under thebéles. We have developed several internal thaisfacilitate our ability to track,
prioritize and win task orders under these vehidlEsnbining these tools with our technical expertsur strong past performance record and
our knowledge of our clients' needs, should pasitis to win additional task orders.

Expand Services Provided to Existing Cient We are focused on expanding the services wéd®do our current clients by leveraging
our strong relationships, technical capabilitied past performance record, and by offering a widage of solutions as we continue to acquire
companies with new areas of specialization. Weekelour understanding of client missions, proceaadseeds, in conjunction with our full
lifecycle IT offerings, positions us to capture nesrk from existing clients as the federal governtmontinues to increase the volume of IT
services contracted to professional services pesgidvioreover, we believe our strong past perfoomearacord positions us to expand the level
of services we provide to our clients as the feldgoaernment places greater emphasis on past peafare as a criterion for awarding contre

Expand Client Base. We are also focused on expanding our clier¢ br@e areas with significant growth opportunitissleveraging our
capabilities, industry reputation, long-term clieefationships and diverse contract base. We aatieithat this expansion will enable us both to
pursue additional higher value work and to furtthieersify our revenue base across the federal govent. Our long-term relationships with
federal government agencies, together with our GWARicles, give us opportunities to win contracitwew clients within these agencies.
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Improve Operating Margins. We believe that we have significant opport@sitio increase our operating margins and improve
profitability by capitalizing on our corporate iaftructure investments and internally developetst@md concentrating on high value-added
prime contracts.

Capitalize on Corporate Infrastructure Istments. In recent periods, we have made significanéstments in our senior management
and corporate infrastructure in anticipation ofifetrevenue growth. These investments includeddsenior executives with significant
experience with federal IT services companiesngtiening our internal controls over financial reppg and accounting staff in support of
public company reporting requirements and expandingSensitive Compartmented Information Faciliaes other corporate facilities. We
believe our management experience and corporagestnficture are more typical of a company with @imlarger revenue base than ours. We
therefore anticipate that, to the extent our reeegnows, we will be able to leverage this infrastime base and increase our operating margins.

Concentrate on High Value-Added Prime Cacts. We expect to improve our operating margins astsive to increase the percentage
of revenue we derive from our work as a prime awttor and from engagements where contracts aredladi@n a best value, rather than on a
low cost, basis. The federal government's move tdywarformancdsased contract awards to realize greater retuitsonvestment has resuli
in a shift to greater utilization of best value agga We believe this shift will enable us to expand operating margins as we are awarded 1
contracts of this nature.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions

We intend to supplement our organic grolthdentifying, acquiring and integrating businest®at meet our primary objective of
providing us with enhanced capabilities in ordeptiosue a broader cross section of the DoD, DHSo#imel government markets, complement
and broaden our existing client base and expangrmary service offerings. Our senior managemeairt brings significant acquisition
experience.

On December 31, 2007 we completed the aitogui of Haverstick Consulting, Inc., an Indianipdndiana based privately-held provider
of rocket and missile test and evaluation, weapysems support, and professional services to tBe Afrmy, U.S. Air Force, U.S. Navy,
NASA, and other federal, state and local agen€@esJune 28, 2008 we acquired San D-based C4ISR and net-centric warfare solutions
provider SYS (AMEX:SYS) in a stock-for-stock trantan. In addition, on December 24, 2008 we acaguifentsville, Alabama based Digital
Fusion, Inc. (DFI) in a stock-for-stock transactidiney provide technical engineering services anthbhned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) products
and technology. We continue to evaluate potentiglisition targets. To the extent any future adtjarsinvolves cash consideration, we will
need to obtain additional financing through the sdlequity or debt securities to fund any suclugitons.

Customers

A representative list of our customersum KGS segment during 2008 included the U.S. AicepU.S. Army, U.S. Navy, Missile
Defense Agency, the Department of Homeland SecWMi\SA, FMS and the U.S. Southern Command. In &8 Begment, our customers in
2008 included British Petroleum, Atlanta's Hartsfi@ackson Airport, Lockheed Martin, City of Phigghia, DuPont Fabros Technologies,
Anadarko, Houston Community College, Shire Pharmécals and Memorial Hermann Hospital System.
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The following table presents our custonieysn whom we receive more than 10% of our revenue:

Key Customer Revenue % of Total Revenue
2006

U.S. Navy $ 34.2 22%
2007

U.S. Army $ 46.7 24%

U.S. Navy $ 38.7 20%
2008

U.S. Army $ 49.C 16%

U.S. Navy $106.¢ 36%

Backlog

As of December 28, 2008, our backlog wagadmately $750 million, of which $160 million wésnded. Backlog is our estimate of the
amount of revenue we expect to realize over thexnaimg life of awarded contracts and task ordeas We have in hand as of the measurement
date. Our total backlog consists of funded and mahéal backlog. We define funded backlog as estinfatede revenue under government
contracts and task orders for which funding hasitaggropriated by Congress and authorized for ediphee by the applicable agency, plus
estimate of the future revenue we expect to reédama our commercial contracts that are under fanalers. Our funded backlog does not
include the full potential value of our contradiscause Congress often appropriates funds to loebysan agency for a particular program of a
contract on a yearly or quarterly basis, even thahg contract may call for performance over a nemna years. As a result, contracts typically
are only partially funded at any point during theirm, and all or some of the work to be perforraader the contracts may remain unfunded
unless and until Congress makes subsequent apgtioprand the procuring agency allocates fundintdpéocontract.

Employees

As of December 28, 2008, including the esgpes from the Haverstick, SYS, and DFI acquisi#tjome employed approximately 2,000
full-time, part-time and on-call employees. We hawe collective bargaining unit of approximatelye&@ployees which is represented by the
International Association of Machinists & Aerospatlerkers, AFL-CIO, White Sands Local Lodge 2515ambgordo, New Mexico.

Competition

Our market is competitive, and includesftiierange of federal and non-federal engineednd IT service providers. Many of the
companies that we compete against have significgnéater financial, technical and marketing resesy and generate greater revenues than
we do. Competition in the federal business segrimehides tier one, large federal government cotracsuch as Northrop Grumman, SAIC,
ITT Industries, Inc., Computer Sciences Corporat®RINC, Raytheon Corporation, BAE, and CACI. While view government contractors
as competitors, we often team with these companigsnt proposals or in the delivery of our seesdor customers. Tier two competitors
include smaller and mid-tier government contractursh as NCI, Inc., Stanley, Inc., and Dynamicse@esh Corp. Competition in the PSS
segment includes Siemens Building Technology, Jami@ontrols, Ingersoll Rand and Convergent.

We believe that the principal competitiaetbrs in our ability to win new business inclu@stpperformance, qualifications, domain and
technology expertise, the ability to replace carttkeehicles, the ability to deliver results withindget (time and cost), reputation,
accountability, staffing flexibility
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including the large number of personnel with goweent security clearances, and project managemeetise. We believe our ability to
compete also depends on a number of additionadfaaicluding the ability of our customers to penfiche services themselves, and
competitive pricing for similar services.

Available Information

We file reports with the SEC. We make afali on our website under "Investor Relations/SHiBds," free of charge, our annual reports
on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, carreports on Form 8-K and amendments to thosertgpe soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such materials withfarnish them to the SEC. Our website addresangv.kratosdefense.com

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the followirigk factors and all other information containentdin as well as the information included in
this Annual Report, and other reports and filingedewith the SEC in evaluating our business andpaets. Risks and uncertainties, in
addition to those we describe below, that are neggntly known to us or that we currently beliexeienmaterial may also impair our business
operations. If any of the following risks occur rdusiness and financial results could be harmeldtaa price of our common stock could
decline. You should also refer to the other infatioracontained in this report, including our coridated financial statements and related nc

Our business could be adversely affectgahanges in the contracting or fiscal policies thfe federal government and governmental
entities.

We derive a significant portion of our raue from contracts with the U.S. federal governnaemt government agencies and subcontracts
under federal government prime contracts, andubeess of our business and growth of our businédssamtinue to depend on our successful
procurement of government contracts either direatlihrough prime contractors. Accordingly, chanigegovernment contracting policies or
government budgetary constraints could directlgafbur financial performance. Among the factoet ttould adversely affect our business
are:

. changes in fiscal policies or decreases in avalgblernment funding, including budgetary constsaaifecting federal
government spending generally, or specific departmer agencies in particular;

. the adoption of new laws or regulations or changesisting laws or regulation

. changes in political or social attitudes with regge security and defense issues;

. changes in federal government programs or requinesnancluding the increased use of small busipesegiders;
. changes in or delays related to government resinigton the export of defense articles and sery

. potential delays or changes in the government gpjations process; ar

. delays in the payment of our invoices by governnpayiment offices.

These and other factors could cause govemtsrand government agencies, or prime contratitatsise us as a subcontractor, to reduce
their purchases under existing contracts, to egerttieir rights to terminate contracts at-will@abstain from exercising options to renew
contracts, any of which could have an adverse effieour business, financial condition and resoiitgperations. Many of our government
customers are subject to stringent budgetary cainsst The award of additional
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contracts from government agencies could be adyeaffected by spending reductions or budget cltbat these agencies.

Recent deterioration in the credit marketsd the financial services industry may negativalypact our business, results of operations,
financial condition or liquidity.

Recently the credit markets and the finalnérvices industry have been experiencing a gefiainprecedented turmoil and upheaval
characterized by the bankruptcy, failure, collapseale of various financial institutions and apretedented level of intervention from the
United States federal government. While the outcofrthese events cannot be predicted, they may &aaelverse effect on our liquidity,
financial condition and results of operations ibécame necessary for us to acquire additionalfadebicing. Given our highly leveraged
liquidity position, any down-turn in our operatiegrnings or cash flows could impair our abilitycamply with the financial covenants of our
existing credit facility. If additional debt finaimg were required, it may be at interest rategfaater than our current outstanding debt or may
not be available at all.

Although we maintain allowances for doubfocounts for estimated losses from the inabditpur customers to make required payments
and such losses have historically been within apeetations and the allowances we have establisteedannot guarantee that we will
continue to experience the same loss rates weihakie past, especially given the recent detetimmatf the credit markets. A significant
change in the liquidity or financial condition afilocustomers could cause unfavorable trends imemenue and receivable collections and
additional allowances may be required. These amitiallowances could materially affect our finaheesults.

We have incurred and may continue to inagmodwill impairment charges in our reporting enis which could harm our profitability.

A significant portion of our net assets efrom goodwill and other intangible assets. Inoadance with Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards, or SFAS 14&oodwill and Other Intangible Asset{SFAS 142) we periodically review the carrying \eswof our
goodwill to determine whether such carrying valerseed the fair market value. Our acquired comsaanie subject to annual review for
goodwill impairment. If impairment testing indicatehat the carrying value of a reporting unit extseigés fair value, the goodwill of the
reporting unit is deemed impaired. Accordingly igpairment charge would be recognized for that répg unit in the period identified, whic
could reduce our profitability. In 2008 as a residlbur annual review, we recorded a goodwill innpegnt charge of $105.8 million related to
our KGS segment, to reflect the declining market @conomic conditions through December 28, 2008.

Given continued significant decline in 8teck market in general and specifically our stpdke in 2009, we believe it is more likely than
not that this could be an indication of additiogabdwill impairment and could potentially resultéririggering event under SFAS 142 and an
additional goodwill impairment charge in the figgtarter of 2009.

We derive a substantial amount of our reues from the sale of our solutions either directly indirectly to U.S. government entities
pursuant to government contracts, which differ maily from standard commercial contracts, invohampetitive bidding and may t
subject to cancellation or delay without penaltynyaof which may produce volatility in our revenuesid earnings.

Government contracts frequently includevfgions that are not standard in private commetciaisactions, and are subject to laws and
regulations that give the federal government rigimg remedies not typically found in commercialtcacts, including provisions permitting t
federal government to:

. terminate our existing contrac

. reduce potential future income from our existingtcacts;
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. modify some of the terms and conditions in our taxgscontracts;

. suspend or permanently prohibit us from doing bessnwith the federal government or with any spegjivernment agenc

. impose fines and penalties;

. subject us to criminal prosecution;

. suspend work under existing multiple year contracts related task orders if the necessary fundearappropriated b
Congress;

. decline to exercise an option to extend an existindfiple year contract; and

. claim rights in technologies and systems inventiedeloped or produced by us.

In addition, government contracts are feagly awarded only after formal competitive biddimgpcesses, which have been and may
continue to be protracted and typically impose fmions that permit cancellation in the event thetessary funds are unavailable to the public
agency. Competitive procurements impose substartss and managerial time and effort in orderépare bids and proposals for contracts
that may not be awarded to us. In many cases, oessiul bidders for government agency contractpereded the opportunity to formally
protest certain contract awards through variousi@geadministrative and judicial channels. The @sbprocess may substantially delay a
successful bidder's contract performance, reswdaircellation of the contract award entirely argtrdict management. We may not be awarded
contracts for which we bid, and substantial delaysancellation of purchases may follow our sudteg$sds as a result of such protests.

Certain of our government contracts alsat@o "organizational conflict of interest" claughat could limit our ability to compete for
certain related follow-on contracts. For examplaewwe work on the design of a particular solutise,may be precluded from competing for
the contract to install that solution. While weiagly monitor our contracts to avoid these condljate cannot guarantee that we will be able to
avoid all organizational conflict of interest issue

We face intense competition from many catiprs that have greater resources than we do, eth¢ould result in price reductions,
reduced profitability or loss of market share.

We operate in highly competitive marketd generally encounter intense competition to wintiacts from many other firms, including
mid-tier federal contractors with specialized cédfit#s and large defense and IT services providémmpetition in our markets may increase
as a result of a number of factors, such as tharee of new or larger competitors, including thftsened through alliances or consolidation.
These competitors may have greater financial, ieahrmarketing and public relations resourcegydaclient bases and greater brand or name
recognition than we do. These competitors couldyragrother things:

. divert sales from us by winning very la-scale government contracts, a risk that is enhahgebe recent trend in governme
procurement practices to bundle services into tazgatracts;

. force us to charge lower prices; or

. adversely affect our relationships with currengists, including our ability to continue to win coetitively awardec
engagements in which we are the incumbent.

If we lose business to our competitorsrerfarced to lower our prices, our revenue andaparating profits could decline. In addition, we
may face competition from our subcontractors whamftime-to-time, seek to obtain prime contractatiss on contracts for which they
currently serve as a subcontractor to us. If or@are of our current subcontractors are awardadepdontractor
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status on such contracts in the future, it coul@disales from us or could force us to charge tqwiees, which could cause our margins to
suffer.

Recent acquisitions and potential futurequisitions could prove difficult to integrate, digpt our business, dilute stockholder value
and strain our resources.

We have completed several acquisitionaffdementary businesses in recent years, incluaimdpecember 2007 acquisition of
Haverstick Consulting, Inc., our June 2008 acdoisiof SYS, and our December 2008 acquisition of. ORe success of the acquisitions will
depend in part on the success of integrating tleeadipns, technologies and personnel of SYS and THd failure to successfully integrate the
operations of the two companies or otherwise tbzeany of the anticipated benefits of the acdigiss could seriously harm our results of
operations.

We continually evaluate opportunities tq@ce new businesses as part of our ongoing siyrated we may in the future acquire additic
companies that we believe could complement or expam business or increase our customer base. gitiqus involve numerous risks,
including:

. difficulties in integrating operations, technolagji@ccounting and personnel,

. difficulties in supporting and transitioning custers of acquired companie

. difficulties or delays in transitioning federal gpmment contracts pursuant to federal acquisiggulations;

. diversion of financial and management resource®s &gisting operations;

. potential loss of key employee

. federal acquisition regulations may require usri@einto government novation agreements, a paintime-consuming

process; and

. inability to generate sufficient revenue to offaeguisition costs

Acquired companies may have liabilitiesadverse operating issues that we fail to discdwerngh due diligence prior to the acquisition.
In particular, to the extent that prior owners nf acquired businesses or properties failed to ¢pmijth or otherwise violated applicable laws
or regulations, or failed to fulfill their contractl obligations to the federal government or othients, we, as the successor owner, may be
financially responsible for these violations aniflii@s and may suffer reputational harm or otheeviie adversely affected. Acquisitions also
frequently result in the recording of goodwill aotther intangible assets which are subject to pitkeintpairments in the future that could harm
our financial results. In addition, if we financeqaisitions by issuing convertible debt or equiégwrities, our existing stockholders may be
diluted, which could affect the market price of stwck. As a result, if we fail to properly evaleacquisitions or investments, we may not
achieve the anticipated benefits of any such agapns, and we may incur costs in excess of whaanteipate.

Our financial results may vary significalytfrom quarter to quarter.

We expect our revenue and operating resuliary from quarter to quarter. Reductions ineraye in a particular quarter could lead to
lower profitability in that quarter because a rigfally large amount of our expenses are fixed insthert-term. We may incur significant
operating expenses during the start-up and eaxjestof large contracts and may not be able t@réze corresponding revenue in that same
quarter. We may also incur additional expenses vwoatracts expire, are terminated or are not redewe

In addition, payments due to us from fetlgewernment agencies may be delayed due to bidlimdes or as a result of failures of
government budgets to gain congressional and adtratibn
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approval in a timely manner. The federal governradigical year ends September 30. If a federal euftg the next federal fiscal year has not
been approved by that date in each year, our slimaly have to suspend engagements that we arengarkiuntil a budget has been approved.
Any such suspensions may reduce our revenue ifotiith quarter of that year or the first quartettod subsequent year. The federal
government's fiscal year end can also trigger amzd purchase requests from clients for equipnrehtveaterials. Any increased purchase
requests we receive as a result of the federalrgovent's fiscal year end would serve to increasetord or fourth quarter revenue, but will
generally decrease profit margins for that quaetsithese activities generally are not as proftalsl our typical offerings.

Additional factors that may cause our ficiahresults to fluctuate from quarter to quarterliide those addressed elsewhere in these Risk
Factors and the following, among others:

. the terms of customer contracts that affect théntinof revenue recognitiol

. variability in demand for our services and solusipn

. commencement, completion or termination of congrdctring any particular quarter;

. timing of award or performance incentive fee natijt

. timing of significant bid and proposal costs;

. variable purchasing patterns under GSA Schedukorifracts, government wide acquisition contract/&&s), blanket

purchase agreements and other indefinite delivedgfinite quantity contracts;

. restrictions on and delays related to the expodedénse articles and servic

. costs related to ongoing government inquiries;

. strategic decisions by us or our competitors, aschcquisitions, divestitures, spin-offs and jeittures;

. strategic investments or changes in business gite

. changes in the extent to which we use subcontrgctor

. seasonal fluctuations in our staff utilization sate

. changes in our effective tax rate including charigesir judgment as to the necessity of the vaduasillowance recorded agai

our deferred tax assets; and

. the length of sales cycles.

Significant fluctuations in our operatirgsults for a particular quarter could cause uaflamfit of compliance with the financial covenants
contained in our credit facility, which if not waid by the lender, could restrict our access totabaind cause us to take extreme measures to
pay down our debt under the credit facility. In gidd, fluctuations in our financial results coudduse our stock price to decline.

If we fail to establish and maintain imptant relationships with government entities and agées and other government contractors,
our ability to bid successfully for new business ynlae adversely affected.

To develop new business opportunities, vimgrily rely on establishing and maintaining redaships with various government entities
and agencies. We may be unable to successfullytaiiour relationships with government entities agencies, and any failure to do so could
materially adversely affect our ability to compstecessfully for new business. In addition, werofiet as a subcontractor or in "teaming"”
arrangements in which we and other contractorsdgdther on
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particular contracts or programs for the federalegpment or government agencies. As a subcontractaam member, we often lack control
over fulfilment of a contract, and poor performaran the contract could tarnish our reputationnevben we perform as required. We expect
to continue to depend on relationships with otleetiactors for a portion of our revenue in the $eeable future. Moreover, our revenue and
operating results could be materially adverselga#d if any prime contractor or teammate choasesféer a client services of the type that we
provide or if any prime contractor or teammate teawvith other companies to independently provided¢hservices.

We derive a significant portion of our remues from a limited number of customers.

We have derived, and believe that we valitmue to derive, a significant portion of our eeues from a limited number of customers. To
the extent that any significant customer usesdéssir services or terminates its relationship wish our revenues could decline significantly.
As a result, the loss of any significant client icbseriously harm our business. For the fiscal yealed December 28, 2008, two customers
comprised approximately 68.6% and 52.5% of ourr@dausiness revenues and total revenues, respbgtand our five largest customers
accounted for approximately 82.4% and 63% of otal tederal business revenues and total revenesgectively. None of our customers are
obligated to purchase additional services fromAssa result, the volume of work that we performdapecific customer is likely to vary from
period to period, and a significant client in orgipd may not use our services in a subsequerdgeri

Our margins and operating results may seffif we experience unfavorable changes in the poojion of cost-plus-fee or fixed-price
contracts in our total contract mix.

Although fixedprice contracts entail a greater risk of a redymedit or financial loss on a contract compareatioer types of contracts
enter into, fixed-price contracts typically providigher profit opportunities because we may be tbleenefit from cost savings. In contrast,
cost-plus-fee contracts are subject to statutomjtdion profit margins, and generally are the Igagfitable of our contract types. Our federal
government customers typically determine what tyfpeontract we enter into. Cost-plus-fee and fixede contracts in our federal business
accounted for approximately 39.1% and 35.8%, raapdy, of our federal business revenues for teedl year ended December 28, 2008. To
the extent that we enter into more cost-plus-feless fixed-price contracts in proportion to ouataontract mix in the future, our margins and
operating results may suffer.

Our cash flow and profitability could beeduced if expenditures are incurred prior to thenéil receipt of a contract.

We provide various professional serviced ssmetimes procure equipment and materials onfbafhaur federal government customers
under various contractual arrangements. From tarigrte, in order to ensure that we satisfy our @usrs' delivery requirements and
schedules, we may elect to initiate procuremeativance of receiving final authorization from tlevgrnment customer or a prime contractor.
If our government or prime contractor customerguneements should change or if the government®mptime contractor should direct the
anticipated procurement to a contractor other tigar if the equipment or materials become obsaetequire modification before we are
under contract for the procurement, our investnirettie equipment or materials might be at risk & gannot efficiently resell them. This could
reduce anticipated earnings or result in a losgatieely affecting our cash flow and profitability.

Loss of our GSA contracts or GWACs woutldpiair our ability to attract new business.

We are a prime contractor under several @&#racts and GWAC schedule contracts. We belieaeour ability to provide services
under these contracts will continue to be importardur business
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because of the multiple opportunities for new emgagnts each contract provides. If we were to laseosition as prime contractor on one or
more of these contracts, we could lose substaiei@nues and our operating results could suffeA G®tracts and other GWACs typically
have a one or two-year initial term with multiplptions exercisable at the government client's digam to extend the contract for one or more
years. We cannot be assured that our governmemtghwill continue to exercise the options remajron our current contracts, nor can we
assured that our future clients will exercise ampdion any contracts we may receive in the future.

Failure to properly manage projects maystdt in additional costs or claims.

Our engagements often involve large sdaghly complex projects. The quality of our perf@mece on such projects depends in large part
upon our ability to manage the relationship with oustomers, and to effectively manage the pr@adtdeploy appropriate resources,
including third-party contractors, and our own jpersel, in a timely manner. Any defects or error§ailure to meet clients' expectations could
result in claims for substantial damages againsDus contracts generally limit our liability foachages that arise from negligent acts, error,
mistakes or omissions in rendering services tocbants. However, we cannot be sure that thesea&ctoial provisions will protect us from
liability for damages in the event we are suecaddition, in certain instances, we guarantee custstiat we will complete a project by a
scheduled date. If the project experiences a peegoce problem, we may not be able to recover th#iadal costs we will incur, which could
exceed revenues realized from a project. Findllei underestimate the resources or time we needrplete a project with capped or fixed
fees, our operating results could be seriously kdrm

The loss of any member of our senior maeatent could impair our relationships with federabgernment clients and disrupt the
management of our business.

We believe that the success of our busiardsour ability to operate profitably dependstom ¢ontinued contributions of the members of
our senior management. We rely on our senior manageto generate business and execute programasssiigity. In addition, the
relationships and reputation that many memberaioBenior management team have established andaimaivith federal government
personnel contribute to our ability to maintairosty client relationships and to identify new bussepportunities. We do not have any
employment agreements providing for a specific teframployment with any member of our senior manag®. The loss of any member of
our senior management could impair our abilitydentify and secure new contracts, to maintain gdieet relations and to otherwise manage
our business.

If we fail to attract and retain skilledneployees or employees with the necessary secueggrances, we might not be able to perform
under our contracts or win new business.

The growth of our business and revenue mgpe large part upon our ability to attract aethin sufficient numbers of highly qualified
individuals who have advanced information technglagd/or engineering skills. These employees aggeat demand and are likely to remain
a limited resource in the foreseeable future. @efederal government contracts require us, andesohour employees, to maintain security
clearances. Obtaining and maintaining securityralezes for employees involves a lengthy processijtas difficult to identify, recruit and
retain employees who already hold security cleaaniny addition, some of our contracts contain {gions requiring us to staff an engagement
with personnel that the client considers key tosuacessful performance under the contract. Ieteat we are unable to provide these key
personnel or acceptable substitutions, the cliemt tarminate the contract and we may lose revenue.

If we are unable to recruit and retain fiicent number of qualified employees, our abilitymaintain and grow our business could be
limited. In a tight labor market, our direct lalmmsts could increase or we may be required to engage numbers of subcontractor personnel,
which could cause
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our profit margins to suffer. Conversely, if we miain or increase our staffing levels in anticipatof one or more projects and the projects are
delayed, reduced or terminated, we may underutifizeadditional personnel, which would increasegrmeral and administrative expenses,
reduce our earnings and possibly harm our restittp@rations.

If our subcontractors fail to perform thecontractual obligations, our performance and refation as a prime contractor and our
ability to obtain future business could suffer.

As a prime contractor, we often rely updimeo companies to perform work we are obligategeidorm for our clients as subcontractors.
As we secure more work under our GWAC vehiclesewgect to require an increasing level of suppamnfisubcontractors that provide
complementary and supplementary services to oerinffs. Depending on labor market conditions, wg n@t be able to identify, hire and
retain sufficient numbers of qualified employeepénform the task orders we expect to win. In stades, we will need to rely on subcontracts
with unrelated companies. Moreover, even in faviergddor market conditions, we anticipate enterirtig more subcontracts in the future as
we expand our work under our GWACs. We are resjptm$dr the work performed by our subcontractovgrethough in some cases we have
limited involvement in that work.

If one or more of our subcontractors faikatisfactorily perform the agreed-upon servigea timely basis or violate federal government
contracting policies, laws or regulations, our iaptio perform our obligations as a prime contractomeet our clients' expectations may be
compromised. In extreme cases, performance or defaiencies on the part of our subcontractordaeesult in a client terminating our
contract for default. A termination for default ¢d@xpose us to liability, including liability fdhe agency's costs of reprocurement, could
damage our reputation and could hurt our abilitgdmpete for future contracts.

Our failure to comply with complex procumreent laws and regulations could cause us to lossibhass and subject us to a variety of
penalties.

We must comply with laws and regulationatiag to the formation, administration and perfamoe of federal government contracts,
which affect how we do business with our clientd aray impose added costs on us. In addition, ttheré government, including the Defense
Contract Audit Agency (DCAA), audits and reviews gerformance on contracts, pricing practices, stisicture and compliance with
applicable laws, regulations and standards. The B@Xiews a contractor's internal control systemd policies, including the contractor's
purchasing, property, estimating, compensationmrmadagement information systems, and the contraatompliance with such policies. Any
costs found to be improperly allocated to a specifintract will not be reimbursed, while such c@dteady reimbursed must be refunded.
Adverse findings in a DCAA audit could materialfffext our competitive position and result in a dabsial adjustment to our revenue and
profit.

If a federal government audit uncovers ioper or illegal activities, we may be subject tal@nd criminal penalties and administrative
sanctions, including termination of contracts, éitdre of profits, suspension of payments, fined suspension or debarment from doing
business with federal government agencies. In mtditve could suffer serious harm to our reputatiod competitive position if allegations of
impropriety were made against us, whether or nug. tif our reputation or relationship with fedegalvernment agencies were impaired, or if
the federal government otherwise ceased doing essiwith us or significantly decreased the amotibtisiness it does with us, our revenue
and operating profit would decline.
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The commercial business arena in which agerate has relatively low barriers to entry anccheased competition could result in
margin erosion, which would make profitability evenore difficult to sustain.

Other than the technical skills requireadim commercial business, the barriers to entthimarea are relatively low. We do not have any
intellectual property rights in this segment of business to protect our methods, and businedsugtanosts do not pose a significant barrier to
entry. The success of our commercial businessgsrient on our employees, customer relations andubcessful performance of our
services. If we face increased competition as @ltre§ new entrants in our markets, we could exgese reduced operating margins and loss of
market share and brand recognition.

If our commercial customers do not investsecurity systems and other new in-building tealagies such as wireless local area
networks and/or IP-based networks, our businesd wilffer.

We intend to devote significant resourcedeveloping our enterprise-based wireless load aetworks (WLAN), but we cannot predict
that we will achieve widespread market acceptanuengst the enterprises we identify as potentialacners. It is possible that some
enterprises will determine that capital constraamtd other factors outweigh their need for WLANteyss. As a result, we may be affected by a
significant delay in the adoption of WLAN by entdges, which would harm our business.

If we experience systems or service faluour reputation could be harmed and our clientsutd assert claims against us for damages
or refunds.

We create, implement and maintain IT sohsithat are often critical to our clients' openasi. We have experienced, and may in the fi
experience, some systems and service failuresdatzher delivery delays and other problems in catina with our work. If we experience
these problems, we may:

. lose revenue due to adverse client reaction;

. be required to provide additional services to artlat no charge

. receive negative publicity, which could damage reputation and adversely affect our ability toaadtror retain clients; and
. suffer claims for substantial damages.

In addition to any costs resulting fromgwot or service warranties, contract performancequired corrective action, these failures may
result in increased costs or loss of revenue éintti postpone subsequently scheduled work or caorcilil to renew, contracts.

While many of our contracts limit our lifityi for consequential damages that may arise fregligence in rendering services to our
clients, we cannot assure you that these contigatagisions will be legally sufficient to proteugs if we are sued. In addition, our errors and
omissions and product liability insurance coveragg/ not be adequate, may not continue to be avaitabreasonable terms or in sufficient
amounts to cover one or more large claims, orrtearer may disclaim coverage as to some typegwfeficlaims. The successful assertion of
any large claim against us could seriously harmbmuginess. Even if not successful, these claim&laesult in significant legal and other co
may be a distraction to our management and may barmeputation.

Security breaches in sensitive federal gamment systems could result in the loss of clieatsl negative publicity.

Many of the systems we develop, install arantain involve managing and protecting inforraatinvolved in intelligence, national
security and other sensitive or classified fedgoalernment functions.
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A security breach in one of these systems couldecaarious harm to our business, damage our reputatd prevent us from being eligible
further work on sensitive or classified systemsféaleral government clients. We could incur logses such a security breach that could
exceed the policy limits under our errors and oiissand product liability insurance. Damage to myputation or limitations on our eligibility
for additional work resulting from a security brbdan one of the systems we develop, install anchta@ could materially reduce our revenue.

Our employees may engage in misconduabthier improper activities, which could cause uslése contracts.

We are exposed to the risk that employaedior other misconduct could occur. Misconduceimployees could include intentional
failures to comply with federal government procuegrnregulations, engaging in unauthorized actisitiefalsifying time records. Employee
misconduct could also involve the improper usewfdients' sensitive or classified information,igthcould result in regulatory sanctions
against us and serious harm to our reputation anlficesult in a loss of contracts and a redudtiorevenues. It is not always possible to deter
employee misconduct, and the precautions we takesteent and detect this activity may not be effecin controlling unknown or unmanaged
risks or losses, which could cause us to lose aot#tor cause a reduction in revenues.

Our business is dependent upon our abitilykeep pace with the latest technological changes

The market for our services is characterizg rapid change and technological improvemerd#ufe to respond in a timely and cost
effective way to these technological developmerdsald result in serious harm to our business andatiog results. We have derived, and we
expect to continue to derive, a substantial portibaur revenues from providing innovative engimegservices and technical solutions that
based upon today's leading technologies and tbategrable of adapting to future technologies. Assalt, our success will depend, in part, on
our ability to develop and market service offeritigat respond in a timely manner to the technokdgidvances of our customers, evolving
industry standards and changing client preferences.

If we are unable to manage our growth, obusiness could be adversely affected.

Sustaining our growth has placed signifiaemands on our management, as well as on oumtrative, operational and financial
resources. For us to continue to manage our gromghmust continue to improve our operational, fciahand management information
systems and expand, motivate and manage our woekftirwe are unable to manage our growth whilentaéming our quality of service and
profit margins, or if new systems that we implemienassist in managing our growth do not produeeettpected benefits, our business,
prospects, financial condition or operating resodtsld be adversely affected.

We may be harmed by intellectual propértfringement claims and our failure to protect ountellectual property could enable
competitors to market products and services withitar features.

We may become subject to claims from ouplegrees or third parties who assert that softwackather forms of intellectual property that
we use in delivering services and solutions todhients infringe upon intellectual property riglaissuch employees or third parties. Our
employees develop some of the software and otmersfof intellectual property that we use to provide services and solutions to our clients,
but we also license technology from other vendibigur employees, vendors, or other third partieseat claims that we or our clients are
infringing on their intellectual property rightseveould incur substantial costs to defend thosenslaf any of these infringement claims are
ultimately successful, we could be required to eesdling or using products or services that inocafe the challenged software or technology,
obtain a license or additional licenses from our
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employees, vendors, or other third parties, orsiggeour products and services that rely on thélenged software or technology.

We attempt to protect our trade secreteriigring into confidentiality and intellectual pesty assignment agreements with third parties,
our employees and consultants. However, these mgras can be breached and, if they are, there widyenan adequate remedy available to
us. In addition, others may independently discawgrtrade secrets and proprietary information anslich cases we could not assert any trade
secret rights against such party. Enforcing a clhiat a party illegally obtained and is using agade secret is difficult, expensive and time
consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. lareeunable to protect our intellectual property, @mpetitors could market services or
products similar to our services and products, Wiiculd reduce demand for our offerings. Any litiga to enforce our intellectual property
rights, protect our trade secrets or determinev#tlieity and scope of the proprietary rights ofethcould result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources, with no assurance of siscces

The matters relating to our internal rewieof our stock option granting practices and thestatement of our financial statements have
exposed us to civil litigation claims, regulatorygreedings and government proceedings, which cduddle a material adverse effect on us.

In the summer of 2006, our current exeathanagement team, which has been in place sirgk Ritiated an investigation of our past
stock option granting practices (the "Equity Aw&eview") in reaction to media reports regardingkstoption granting practices of public
companies. The Equity Award Review was conductet awersight from the Board and assistance fromootside counsel. In February 2007,
the Board appointed a Special Committee of the @tareview the adequacy of the Equity Award Revéw the recommendations of
management regarding historical option grantingficas, and to make recommendations and findinggrding those practices and individual
conduct. The Special Committee was not charged mvitking, and did not make, any evaluation of theoanting determinations or tax
adjustments. The Special Committee was comprisadhoin-employee director who had not served orCaumpensation Committee before
2005.

The Equity Award Review encompassed alhtgraf options to purchase shares of our commarkstnd other equity awards made since
two months prior to our IPO in November 1999 thiol@ecember 2006. We also reviewed all option grr@swere entered into our stock
option database (Equity Edge) after our IPO witrant date before November 1999, as well as otitestantial grants issued prior to our IPO,
consisting of more than 14,000 grants. We furtkerewed all option grants with a grant date thatcpded an employee's date of hire. As part
of the review, interviews of 18 current and forroéficers, directors, employees and attorneys werglacted, and more than 40 million pages
of electronic and hard copy documents were searfdraélevant information. The Special Committescatonducted its own separate review
of the option granting practices during the terafreurrent executive management team through additiinterviews and document collection
and review with the assistance of its own sepamatesel and FTI Consulting.

The Equity Award Review established theealbe of contemporaneous evidence supporting assuladtnumber of the previously-
recorded option grants, substantially all of whigdre made in the period from 1998 through late 2@@8ing this period of time, in some
instances, documents, data and interviews sudggspption grants were prepared or finalized dayscsome cases, weeks or months afte
option grant date recorded in our books. The afibgirants include options issued to certain newlyehemployees but dated prior to their
employment start dates and options issued to ngesmes, including advisors to the Board errongodskignated as employees. The Special
Committee also concluded that certain former emgssyand former officers participated in making iog@r option grants, including the
selection of grant dates with the benefit of higlisiand in the deferral of the recording of otheevapproved option grants.
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In light of the Equity Award Review, the ditt Committee of our Board concluded that our pfioancial statements for periods from 1!
through our filing of interim financial statemeriits the period ended September 30, 2006, couldngdr be relied upon and must be restated.
Our management determined that, from fiscal ye@81Brough fiscal year 2005, we had unrecordedaastt equity-based compensation
charges associated with our equity incentive pl&hsse charges are material to our financial stet¢sfor the years ended December 31, .
through 2005, the periods to which such chargeddvoave related. Previously filed annual reportd=onm 10-K and quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q affected by the restatements have naot aed will not be amended and should not be relgmh. Our Annual Report on Form KO-
filed on September 11, 2007 superseded and repiadbdir entirety all of our previously issueddimcial statements and related reports filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Our past stock option granting practices thre restatement of our prior financial stateméatge exposed and may continue to expose us
to greater risks associated with litigation, regprig proceedings and government inquiries and eefoent actions. As described in Part |,
Item 3, "Legal Proceedings," several derivative ptaimts have been filed in state and federal cagtsnst our current directors, some of our
former directors and some of our current and forexercutive officers pertaining to allegations rielgtto stock option grants. The SEC initia
an inquiry into our historical stock option gramgipractices, and we received a subpoena from tlitedJStates Attorney's Office for the
Southern District of California for the productiohdocuments relating to our historical stock optgranting practices.

In April 2008, the SEC notified us thah&d completed its investigation and that it did intgnd to recommend any enforcement actiol
the SEC against us. We have cooperated and expeshtinue to cooperate with the U.S. Attorney'édef

The period of time necessary to resolveliti& Attorney's Office inquiry is uncertain, ané wannot predict the outcome of this inquiry or
whether we will face additional government inqustinvestigations or other actions related to astohical stock option grant practices.
Subject to certain limitations, we are obligatedhiemnify our current and former directors, offeand employees in connection with the
investigation of our historical stock option praes, the completed SEC and pending U.S. Attorri@ffise inquiries and any future governm
inquiries, investigations or actions. These ingsirtould require us to expend significant managétmae and incur significant legal and other
expenses, and could result in civil and crimindicexs seeking, among other things, injunctions igfais and the payment of significant fines
and penalties by us, which could have a materiatieg effect on our financial condition, businessults of operations and cash flow.

If a federal government investigation urex@vimproper or illegal activities, including angtential improper or illegal activities related to
our stock option review or related matters, we f@ypubject to civil and criminal penalties and adstiative sanctions, including termination
of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspensiorpafyments, fines and suspension or debarment frong daisiness with federal government
agencies. The aggregate and ongoing legal feesiatsbwith the investigation and defense of thétensirelated to the Equity Award Review
are significant, but the impact has been partialiygated by funds available under insurance pedigiurchased in prior years. We cannot
assure you that the insurers will continue to reirsb us for ongoing fees. Moreover, the insuramdieips contain a number of provisions that
the insurers could assert either to discontinuergans or even to seek the return of previously npagenents. For instance, if it were
determined by final adjudication in the underlyagion or in a separate action or proceeding thratér officers or directors committed
deliberate fraudulent or criminal acts, then inssimuld assert that coverage under our directutfficer's liability insurance policies for
those periods could be rescinded. In the evenudi a determination and an assertion by an instireinsurance carriers could pursue a claim
against the former officers and directors and/diousimounts previously advanced under the undeglpolicies. If insurance coverage is
withheld or rescinded by our insurance carrierscadd
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be exposed to potentially significant financial dems arising from continuing to fund ongoing castd costs associated with potential claims
for return of prior payments, which could causssiggificant harm. In addition, we could suffer sei$ harm to our reputation and competitive
position if allegations of impropriety were madeswst us, whether or not true. If our reputatiomedationship with federal government
agencies were impaired, or if the federal goverrtrotirerwise ceased doing business with us or sagmifly decreased the amount of business
it does with us, our revenue and operating profitld decline.

If we fail to maintain an effective systeofiinternal controls, we may not be able to acctely report our financial results or prevent
fraud.

Effective internal controls are necessaryuis to provide reliable financial reports. If wennot provide reliable financial reports, our
operating results could be misstated, our reputatiay be harmed and the trading price of our stockd be negatively affected. Our
management has concluded that there are no matexdddnesses in our internal controls over finanmgpbrting as of December 28, 2008.
However, there can be no assurance that our certvelr financial processes and reporting will Heaive in the future or that additional
material weaknesses or significant deficienciesuninternal controls will not be discovered in fo&ure. Any failure to remediate any future
material weaknesses or implement required new prakred controls, or difficulties encountered inithmplementation, could harm our
operating results, cause us to fail to meet ousntéqg obligations or result in material misstatensen our financial statements or other public
disclosures. Inferior internal controls could atsmise investors to lose confidence in our repditeaahcial information, which could have a
negative effect on the trading price of our stdokaddition, from time to time we acquire businesafich could have limited infrastructure i
systems of internal controls.

On June 28, 2008, we completed the acguisitf SYS Technologies (SYS) and on December 2882we completed the acquisition of
Digital Fusion, Inc. (DFI) and, as permitted by Sg@dance, we excluded from our assessment offteeti@eness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 28, 2008, therimal control over financial reporting of thesetantities. Performing assessments of
internal controls, implementing necessary changed,maintaining an effective internal controls gsscis costly and requires considerable
management attention, particularly in the caseegfly acquired entities.

We may need additional capital in the fuéuto fund the growth of our business, and finanginmay not be available.

We currently anticipate that our availatédgital resources, including our credit facilitydasperating cash flows, will be sufficient to meet
our expected working capital and capital expendirequirements for at least the next 12 months.é¥ew such resources may not be
sufficient to fund the long-term growth of our busss or the expenses associated with the ongdigation, litigation settlements and
government inquiries. In particular, we may expacea negative operating cash flow due to billinggstones and project timelines in certain
of our contracts.

We may raise additional funds through prbli private debt or equity financings if such ficangs become available on favorable terrr
we may expand our credit facility to fund futureyaisitions and for general corporate purposes. hewealue to the current challenges in the
lending markets, we can provide no assurance tledenhder would agree to extend additional or caritig credit under that facility. We could
fall out of compliance with financial and other emants contained in our credit facility which, dtrwaived, would restrict our access to cay
and could require us to pay down our existing detoter the credit facility. Any new financing or efings would likely dilute our stockholders'
equity ownership. In addition, additional financimgy not be available on terms favorable to ust@il. If adequate funds are not available or
are not available on acceptable terms,
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we may not be able to take advantage of availaipedunities, develop new products or otherwispeas to competitive pressures. In any
such case, our business, operating results ordialacondition could be materially adversely aféatt

Our ability to make payments on our debllwe contingent on our future operating performare, which will depend on a number of
factors that are outside our contro

Our debt service obligations are estimadeoe approximately $11.0 million to $13.0 million2009, including approximately $5.9 milli
of principal repayments. This debt service may remvadverse impact on our earnings and cash fldwghacould in turn negatively impact o
stock price.

Our ability to make principal and interpalyments on our debt is contingent on our futuerajing performance, which will depend on a
number of factors, many of which are outside of @umtrol. The degree to which we are leverageddcbale other important negative
consequences, including the following:

. we must dedicate a substantial portion of our ¢asts from operations to the payment of our inddbtss, reducing the fun
available for future working capital requiremerdapital expenditures, acquisitions or other genesgborate requirements;

. a significant portion of our borrowings are, andl wontinue to be, at variable rates of interedtjcli may result in higher inter
expense in the event of increases in interest;rates

. we may be more vulnerable to a downturn in the stries in which we operate or a downturn in thenecoy;

. we may be limited in our flexibility to plan fory oeact to, changes in our business and the iridastr which we operate;

. we may be placed at a competitive disadvantage aoedpto our competitors that have less d

. we may determine it to be necessary to disposertdio assets or one or more of our businessesitae our debt; ar

. our ability to borrow additional funds in excessooir current financing may be limited.

Our business may not generate sufficiesh ¢®@w from operations and future borrowings maylme available in amounts sufficient to
enable us to pay our indebtedness or fund our dithedity needs. Moreover, we may need to refireaalt or a portion of our indebtedness on
or before maturity. In such a case, we may notidbe @ refinance any of our indebtedness on comialgreeasonable terms or at all. If we are
unable to make scheduled debt payments or compythé other provisions of our debt instruments,lenders may be permitted under
certain circumstances to accelerate the maturithe@indebtedness owed to them and exercise atheedies provided for in those instruments
and under applicable law.

We are subject to restrictive debt covetsgoursuant to our indebtedness. These covenanty neatrict our ability to finance our
business and, if we do not comply with the coversaot otherwise default under them, we may not hélve funds necessary to pay all
amounts that could become due and the lenders cdaléclose on substantially all of our assets.

Our indebtedness contains covenants thaing other things, significantly restricts andsagme cases, effectively eliminates our ability
and the ability of our subsidiaries to:

. incur additional debt;

. create or incur liens
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. bid on or perform work due to limits on the amoahperformance bonds that may be secured by letfersedit;
. pay dividends or make other equity distributionsto stockholders

. make investments;

. sell assets;

. issue or become liable on a guaran

. create or acquire new subsidiari

. effect a merger or consolidation of, or sell alsabstantially all of our assets; and

. raise capital using our equity.

In addition, we must comply with certaindncial covenants. In the event we were to faih&et any of such covenants and were unat
cure such breach or otherwise renegotiate suchnemis, our lenders would have significant rightdeay future access to liquidity and/or
seize control of substantially all of our assetse Taterial financial covenants with which we maghply include a maximum first lien
leverage ratio, a maximum total leverage ratioimmum liquidity ratio, a minimum fixed charge caage ratio, and a minimum consolidated
EBITDA.

The covenants contained in our indebtedaedsany credit agreement governing future debt sigryificantly restrict our future
operations. Furthermore, upon the occurrence okeaewnt of default, our lenders could elect to decdl amounts outstanding under such
agreements, together with accrued interest, tonbpeeidiately due and payable. If those lenders weeetelerate the payment of those amol
we may not have sufficient assets to repay thosmiats in full.

We are also subject to interest rate rig&  our indebtedness at variable interest ratesed on a base rate or LIBOR floor rate plus an
applicable margin. Shifts in interest rates cowdsieha material adverse effect on us.

We may be required to prepay our indebtestprior to its stated maturity, which may limitioability to pursue business opportunitie

Pursuant to the terms of certain of ouelitédness, in certain instances we are requirptefray outstanding indebtedness prior to its
stated maturity date. Specifically, certain nondreiag cash inflows such as proceeds from asses$ seisurance recoveries, and equity
offerings may have to be used to pay down indelgesland may not be reborrowed. These prepaymerisioms may limit our ability to
utilize this cash flow to pursue business oppotiesi

Our stock price may be volatile, which magult in lawsuits against us and our officers amlirectors.

The stock market in general and the stoep of government services companies in partichive experienced volatility that has often
been unrelated to or disproportionate to the opeyaterformance of those companies. The markeemi®ur common stock has fluctuated in
the past and is likely to fluctuate in the futufectors which could have a significant impact aanarket price of our common stock include,
but are not limited to, the following:

. quarterly variations in operating resu

. announcements of new services by us or our coropsi
. the gain or loss of significant customers;

. changes in analysts' earnings estimates;

26




Table of Contents

. rumors or dissemination of false information;

. pricing pressures

. short selling of our common stock;

. impact of litigation and ongoing government inges;

. general conditions in the mark

. political and/or military events associated withiremt worldwide conflicts; an
. events affecting other companies that investorsndesmparable to us.

Companies that have experienced volaiititthe market price of their stock have frequebtien the subject of securities class action
litigation. We and certain of our current and forro#ficers and directors have been named defendawtass action and derivative lawsuits.
These matters and any other securities class ditgation and derivative lawsuits in which we miag involved could result in substantial
costs to us and a diversion of our managemengstaih and resources, which could materially haumfimancial condition and results of
operations.

Our charter documents and Delaware law ndster potential acquirers and may depress our ktpdce.

Certain provisions of our charter documemd Delaware law, as well as certain agreementsawe with our executives, could make it
substantially more difficult for a third party teguire control of us. These provisions include:

. authorizing the board of directors to issue pref@stock;

. prohibiting cumulative voting in the election ofe&gtors;

. prohibiting stockholder action by written conse

. establishing advance notice requirements for notising for election to our board of directors or fwoposing matters that can

be acted on by stockholders at meetings of oukhktuders;

. Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,lakich prohibits us from engaging in a businesslgioation with ar
interested stockholder unless specific conditioesnaet; and

. a number of our executives have agreements withaientitle them to payments in certain circumsgaifollowing a change in
control.

We have a stockholder rights plan which migzgourage certain types of transactions invohangctual or potential change in control .
may limit our stockholders' ability to approve tsactions that they deem to be in their best interéds a result, these provisions may depress
our stock price.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Iltem 2. Properties

Our principal executive offices for all lnsss segments are located in approximately 93608re feet of office space in San Diego,
California. The lease for such space expires inl&Z10. Other corporate resource offices are ktan the following locations: Washington,
D.C.; Marietta, Georgia; Newport, Delaware; Houstbaxas; Dayton, Ohio; Huntsville, Alabama; AlexaadVirginia; and Indianapolis,
Indiana. We also lease office space to providel Isgpport services to our customers in variousargjthroughout the United States. The le
on these spaces expire at various times througruegb2016. We continually evaluate our current futdre space capacity in relation to
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current and projected future staffing levels. Whedwe that our existing facilities are suitable atkquate to meet our current business
requirements.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Contingencies
IPO Securities Litigation

Beginning in June 2001, the Company anthoeof its officers and directors were named dsmigants in several parallel class action
shareholder complaints filed in the United Statéstriat Court for the Southern District of New Yognkow consolidated under the caption, In re
Wireless Facilities, Inc. Initial Public OfferingeBurities Litigation, Case 01-CV-4779. In the ameshdomplaint, the plaintiffs allege that the
Company, certain of its officers and directors, grelunderwriters of the Company's initial publifedang ("IPO") violated section 11 of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of theusities Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegatibas the Company's registration statement
and prospectus failed to disclose material fagianging the compensation to be received by, andttek allocation practices of, the IPO
underwriters. The plaintiffs seek unspecified mangtlamages and other relief. Similar complaintseviided in the same court against
hundreds of other public companies ("Issuers") toaducted IPOs of their common stock in the [&@0k and 2000. These complaints have
been consolidated into an action captioned Init@alfPublic Offering Securities Litigation, 21 M@2 (the "IPO Cases").

In June 2004, the Issuers (including then@any) executed a partial settlement agreementthétiplaintiffs that would have, among other
things, resulted in the dismissal with prejudicalbtlaims against the Issuers and their offi@erd directors and the assignment of certain
potential Issuer claims to the plaintiffs. On Fedrgul5, 2005, the district court issued a decisienifying a class action for settlement purpc
and granting preliminary approval of the settlermirtiject to modification of certain bar orders eomplated by the settlement. On August 31,
2005, the court reaffirmed class certification luf settlement class and preliminary approval oftbdified settlement in a comprehensive
Order. On February 24, 2006, the court dismisdeghtion filed against certain underwriters in cention with certain claims to be assigned
under the settlement. On April 24, 2006, the distourt held a Final Fairness Hearing to determihether to grant final approval of the
settlement, and the court reserved decision atithat While the partial settlement was pendingrapgl, the plaintiffs continued to litigate
against the underwriter defendants. The distriaticdirected that the litigation proceed withinwnber of "focus cases" rather than all of the
310 cases that had been consolidated. The Compasgds not one of these focus cases. On Oct@8h@004, the district court certified the
focus cases as class actions. The underwriter dafes appealed that ruling and on December 5, 2886 econd Circuit Court of Appeals
reversed the district court's class certificatiegidion. On April 6, 2007, the Second Circuit derndaintiffs' rehearing petition, but clarified
that the plaintiffs could seek to certify a momaitied class in the district court. In light of tBecond Circuit opinion, liaison counsel for all
issuer defendants, including the Company, infortheddistrict court that the settlement could noaipproved because the defined settlement
class, like the litigation class, could not be ified. On June 24, 2007, the district court enteardrder terminating the proposed settlement.

Plaintiffs filed second consolidated ameahdemplaints in the six focus cases on August 0872and, on September 27, 2007, again
moved for class certification. On November 12, 20f¥ftain of the defendants in the focus cases thtivdismiss the second consolidated
amended class action complaints. On March 26, 20@8district court denied the motions to dismissept as to section 11 claims raised by
those plaintiffs who sold their securities for &prin excess of the initial offering price andgbavho purchased outside the previously cert
class period. Briefing on the class certificatioatibn was completed in May 2008. That motion wathdriawn without prejudice on

28




Table of Contents

October 10, 2008. On February 25, 2009, liaisomselfor the plaintiffs informed the district cotinfat a settlement had been agreed to in
principle, subject to formal approval by the patand preliminary and final approval by the coDrie to the inherent uncertainties of litigati
the ultimate outcome of this matter cannot be ptedi In accordance with FASB 5, "Accounting fomBogencies,” the Company believes
contingent liability related to this claim is nabjpable or estimable and therefore no amounts baga accrued in regards to this matter.

2004 Securities Litigation

In August 2004, following the Company's anncement on August 4, 2004 that it intended ttatests financial statements for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and #@8ompany and certain of its current and foraficers and directors were named
defendants ("Defendants”) in several securitiesscétion lawsuits filed in the United States Dist€ourt for the Southern District of
California. These actions were filed on behalfrafge who purchased, or otherwise acquired, the @oypcommon stock between April 26,
2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generalBgak that, during that time period, Defendants nfialde and misleading statements to the
investing public about the Company's business srath€ial results, causing its stock to trade aficiglly inflated levels. Based on these
allegations, the lawsuits alleged that Defendartated the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ardathintiffs sought unspecified damages.
These actions were consolidated into a single etim re Wireless Facilities, Inc. Securities Litiige, Master File 04CV1589-JAH. Plaintiffs
filed a First Amended Consolidated Class Action @taimt on April 1, 2005. Defendants filed their oot to dismiss this first amended
complaint on April 14, 2005. The plaintiffs therqueested leave to amend their first amended contplBire plaintiffs filed their Second
Amended Complaint on June 9, 2005, this time oralieti those who purchased, or otherwise acquiteel Company's common stock between
May 5, 2003 and August 4, 2004. Defendants filegrtmotion to dismiss this Second Amended Complamduly 14, 2005. The motion to
dismiss was taken under submission on October@@j 2nd on March 8, 2006, the Court granted themnts' motion. However, plaintiffs
were granted the right to amend their complainhinit}5 days and subsequently filed their Third AdeshConsolidated Class Action
Complaint on April 24, 2006. Defendants filed a imotto dismiss this complaint on June 8, 2006. CayM, 2007, the Court denied the
Defendants' motion to dismiss. Defendants' filedrthnswer to the plaintiffs' complaint on July 2807. In February 2008, following a
voluntary mediation of the matter, the parties heaca tentative agreement to settle the classmadtiaJune 2008, the parties executed a
Memorandum of Understanding documenting the essldntins of the proposed settlement and on Auguad@3, the parties filed their joint
motions for preliminary approval of the proposetllsment with the Court. The Court granted preliarinapproval of the proposed settlement
on September 3, 2008. On January 13, 2009, follgwimotion by the parties, the Court granted fapgroval of the proposed settlement
terms, issued its final judgment on the matter, emered an order dismissing the case with pregudic

Pursuant to the settlement agreement aadldrder of the Court, plaintiffs and the classnissed all claims, with prejudice, in exchange
for a cash payment in the total amount of $12 milliThe Company's directors' and officers' liapilitsurers paid the settlement amount in
accordance with the Company's insurance policéss, the applicable retention or co-insurance ofidiga that were paid directly by the
Company. The Company's amount of payment towarddtttement was approximately $2.4 million. In foerth quarter of 2008, the
Company paid $3.0 million related to this matténwbich $1.0 million was from its restricted casttaunt. The Company expects to receive
$0.6 million from the insurance carriers for thayment in the first half of 2009. Despite the settbnt reached in this action, the Company
believes that the allegations lacked merit.
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In 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filledthe United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of California against certain of the
Company's current and former officers and directBeglicini v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case 04®83; and Roth v. Wireless Facilities, Inc.,
Case 04CV1810. These actions were consolidatediisbogle action in In re Wireless Facilities, IBerivative Litigation, Lead Case No
04CV1663-JAH. These lawsuits contain factual alliege that are substantially similar to those miadiae class action lawsuits, but the
plaintiffs in these lawsuits assert claims for lofeaf fiduciary duty, gross mismanagement, abusmnfrol, waste of corporate assets, viola
of Sarbanes Oxley Act section 304, unjust enrichtraed insider trading. The plaintiffs in these laits seek unspecified damages and
equitable and/or injunctive relief. The lead pléfrfiled a consolidated complaint on March 21, 30®n May 3, 2005, the defendants filed
motions to dismiss this action, to stay this acflending the resolution of the consolidated norivdéive securities case pending in the
Southern District of California, and to dismiss ttemplaint against certain non-California residgefiendants. Pursuant to a request by the
Court, Defendants' motions were withdrawn withogjpdice pending a decision on defendants' mobtatigmiss the complaint against the
non-California resident defendants. On March 2@,72@he Court ruled that it lacked personal judsidn over five of the six non-California
defendants and dismissed them from the federalatére complaint. On March 27, 2007, plaintiffefil an amended derivative complaint
setting forth all of the same allegations from dhigjinal complaint and adding allegations regardimg Company's stock option granting
practices. Basically, plaintiffs allege that then@any "backdated" or "springloaded" employee stumtion grants so that the options were
granted at less than fair market value. The amendawlaint names all of the original defendantsl(iding those dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction) as well as nine new defendants. Qg 2u2007, the nc-California resident defendants moved to dismisscibmplaint for lack of
personal jurisdiction. On October 17, 2007, the €taok the motion under submission without orgluanent. On February 26, 2008, the Ct
again ruled that it lacked personal jurisdictioreofive of the six non-California defendants anshtissed them from the amended federal
derivative complaint. Plaintiffs subsequently movied Court for certification and entry of final gishent of the Court's order dismissing the
non-residents for lack of personal jurisdictiortisat the plaintiffs may seek immediate appellatéeng of the matter. On July 10, 2008, the
court granted plaintiffs' motion for certificatiowhich was not opposed by defendants. On Augus2@@8, Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal of
the personal jurisdictional order. Neither a brigfschedule nor a hearing date on the matter septly set. The parties have conferred and
discussed the Court's personal jurisdictional oesher notice of appeal and have stipulated to dibgischedule for any remaining motions to
dismiss that the Company, along with the individieflendants subject to the court's jurisdictiony tmdng in an effort to dismiss the comple
as to them. Pursuant to the parties' stipulatiooh snotions must be brought on or before Marci2B69. The Company believes that the
allegations lack merit and intends to vigorouslfedd all claims asserted. It is impossible at timee to assess whether or not the outcome of
these proceedings will have a material adversetedie the Company.

In April 2007, another derivative complaimas filed in the United States District Court foe Southern District of California, Hameed v.
Tayebi, Case 07-CV-0680 BTM(RBB) (the "Hameed Actjp against several of the Company's current anahér officers and directors. The
allegations in this derivative complaint mirroré@ tamended allegations in the 2004 federal devigatttion. Pursuant to a Court order and
agreement of the parties, the defendants' respémsles complaint in the Hameed Action were stayetil the Court ruled on the motion to
dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction in theD20derivative litigation. As noted above, on Feloyu26, 2008, the Court ruled that it lacked
personal jurisdiction over five of the non-Calif@mefendants named in the 2004 derivative actimhiding three that were also named in the
Hameed Action. In August 2008, and before deferglhat responded to the complaint, Plaintiff voludtytalismissed the Hameed Action
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41Tap Company believes that the allegations lacket irved intended to vigorously defend all
claims asserted.
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In August and September 2004, two virtuadgntical derivative lawsuits were filed in Califida Superior Court for San Diego County
against certain of the Company's current and fowffezers and directors. These actions containuizicallegations similar to those of the
federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these caagsert claims for violations of California’s insidrading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse
of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corp@sdets and unjust enrichment. The plaintiffs @séhactions seek unspecified damages,
equitable and/or injunctive relief and disgorgemarall profits, benefits and other compensatiotaoted by defendants. These lawsuits have
been consolidated into one actiom+e Wireless Facilities, Inc. Derivative Litigati, California Superior Court, San Diego Countyadl€ase
GIC 834253. The plaintiffs filed a Consolidated &eolder Derivative Complaint on October 14, 20Ddis action has been stayed pending a
decision in federal court on a motion to dismissféderal derivative lawsuit. In October 2008, plagties notified the Court of the status of the
federal action and the court continued the stayafoadditional six months. The Court also ordeheddarties to file an updated status report in
April 2009. The Company believes that the allegatitack merit and intends to vigorously defenctkims asserted. It is impossible at this
time to assess whether or not the outcome of thesredings will have a material adverse effedhenCompany.

The Company has recorded an accrual fonéngent liability associated with the legal predigs related to the derivative actions of
$0.7 million based on the Company's estimate optitential amount it would have to pay in relatiorthese lawsuits.

2007 Securities Litigation

In March and April 2007, there were threddral class actions filed in the United StatedrBtsCourt for the Southern District of
California against the Company and several oflitsant and former officers and directors. Thessshkction lawsuits followed the Company's
March 12, 2007 public announcement that it was gotidg a voluntary internal review of its stock igpt granting processes. These actions
were consolidated into a single action, In re WisslFacilities, Inc. Securities Litigation I, MasFile 07-CV-0482-BTM-NLS. The
consolidated class action complaint was filed owédnber 19, 2007. In March 2008, following a voluptmediation of the matter, the parties
reached a tentative agreement to settle the atdismaln May 2008, the parties executed a Memanandf Understanding documenting the
essential terms of the proposed settlement andugugt 8, 2008, the parties filed their joint mosidar preliminary approval of the proposed
settlement with the Court. The Court granted prilary approval of the proposed settlement on Seipéerd, 2008. On December 19, 2008,
following a motion by the parties, the Court grahtimal approval of the proposed settlement teissjed its final judgment on the matter, and
entered an order dismissing the case with prejudice

Pursuant to the settlement agreement aadldrder of the Court, plaintiffs and the classwissed all claims, with prejudice, in exchange
for a cash payment in the amount of $4.5 milliohe TTompany's directors' and officers' liabilityurers paid the settlement amount, less the
applicable retention or co-insurance obligationd eontributions that were paid directly by the Camp. In July 2008, the Company paid
$1.8 million related to the settlement of thisg#tion. Despite the settlement reached in thimacthe Company believes that the allegations
lacked merit.

Other Litigation and Government Investigations

In January 2005, a former independent eaidr of the Company filed a lawsuit in Brazil agsdithe Company's subsidiary, WFI de
Brazil, to which he had been assigned for a pesfdime. He sought to be designated an employ&¥ifde Brazil and entitled to severance
and related compensation pursuant to Brazilianrl&we. The individual sought back wages, vacatiay, gtock option compensation and
related benefits in excess of $0.5 million. Thidterawas argued before the appropriate labor aouttily 2005 and in July, 2006, the labor
court awarded the individual the
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Brazilian currency equivalent of approximately $hdlion for his back wages, vacation pay and dartdher benefits. The Company filed an
appeal in the matter on July 20, 2006 and is chgiley the basis for the award on several theofiee.Company has accrued approximately
$0.4 million as of December 28, 2008 related ts thatter. On August 22, 2007, the appeals coutiafigrupheld the Company's appeal,
although it upheld the individual's designatioraasemployee. The court is reviewing possible dancadmulations before publishing a final
decision. The Company's counsel is preparing aandr clarification of the judgment due to omissdn the decision.

On March 28, 2007, three plaintiffs, on &i¢lof a purported class of similarly situated eaygles and contractors, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the Superior Court of the Stateaif@nia, Alameda County. The suit alleges varigigdations of the California Labor Code
and seeks payments for allegedly unpaid straighe ind overtime, meal period pay and associateatpen The Company and the plaintiffs
agreed to venue for the suit in San Diego Countthogh the Company believes that the allegatiank merit, it has agreed with the plaint|
to settle their claims for an aggregate amounénrange of $0.3 million to $0.5 million, to inckiéhdividual and incentive awards, attorneys'
fees and administrative costs, subject to court@a@b. The actual amount paid by the Company vépehd upon the number of responses
received from members of the purported class dhfites. The Company has recorded an accrual foorgtingent liability associated with this
legal proceeding in the amount of $0.3 million.

On May 3, 2007, Kratos announced thatd &diled a lawsuit against a former employee wievipusly served as its stock option
administrator and left Kratos in mid-2004, andd$psuse. The lawsuit sought to recover damagedgiresfdom the theft by a former employee
of Kratos stock options and common stock valueeikicess of $6.3 million. The thefts, which appeandve taken place during 2002 and 2003,
were discovered through the Kratos review of itst paactices related to the granting and pricingraployee stock options with the assistance
of its outside counsel and forensic computer cdasts. The complaint also alleged that the fornnepleyee attempted to cover up the scheme
by, among other things, deleting entries from #words of Kratos.

Kratos promptly reported to the SEC theal®ry of the theft. The SEC initiated an inquindaommenced an enforcement action agi
the former employee. The U.S. Attorney's Officeodlsrwarded a grand jury subpoena to Kratos sealdngrds related to the former employee
and Kratos' historical option granting practicese SEC filed a federal lawsuit and obtained a taamyaestraining order and asset freeze
against the former employee and his spouse. TheAft&ney's Office indicted him for the theft ahd pled guilty to federal criminal charges
and has been sentenced to 46 months in prisonuarehtly is incarcerated. On April 1, 2008, the Sklified Kratos that it had completed its
investigation and that it did not intend to recormeh@ny enforcement action by the SEC against thepgaoy. Kratos has cooperated with, and
continues to cooperate with the U.S. Attorney'sdefbn this matter and otherwise. The former emgéognd his wife entered into a settlement
agreement with Kratos on October 5, 2007, turnivey substantially all of their assets to Kratoséttlement of the damages incurred in the
theft. On February 15, 2008, the SEC approvedehtitement. On February 19, 2008, the court entarfitial judgment approving the
settlement. Kratos has obtained the assets, whigtegate approximately $3.4 million and recovered $nillion from its insurance carrier
related to the theft of options, and is in the psscof liquidating the remaining assets which agprate $0.1 million in value. Kratos' directc
and officers' liability insurers have agreed tomeurse it for $4.1 million related to fees previguscurred on the ongoing investigation by the
U.S. Attorney's Office as well as fees previousigurred on the SEC investigation. As a result,reebiefor this amount has been recorded in
the recovery of unauthorized issuance of stockoogtand stock option investigation and related fieestem in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In addition to the foregoing matters, frime to time, the Company may become involved inous claims, lawsuits and legal
proceedings that arise in the ordinary course sirtass. However,
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litigation is subject to inherent uncertaintiesgam adverse result in these or other matters migg from time to time that may harm the
Company's business. The Company is currently nat@wf any such legal proceedings or claims thHaglieves will have, individually or in
the aggregate, a material adverse affect on oundss financial condition, operating results asiclows.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

On December 22, 2008 we held a speciakbtiders' meeting at which our stockholders appddhe issuance of 32,900,534 shares of
our common stock pursuant to the Agreement and ¢fldferger, dated as of November 21, 2008, by andrey Kratos Defense & Security
Solutions, Inc., Dakota Merger Sub, Inc., and Rigiusion, Inc. The vote on the matter was as \fglo

For Against Abstain
72,398,41¢ 591,664 82,288
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbolder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities

Market Information

Our Common Stock is listed on the NASDAQI&I Select Market and has traded under the syniadDS" since September 17, 2007.
Our common stock traded under the symbol "WFIItrfrNovember 5, 1999 through September 14, 2007.

The following table sets forth the high dog sales prices for our Common Stock for theqmisiindicated, as reported by NASDAQ. S
guotation represents inter-dealer prices withotailrenarkup, markdown or commission and may notsearily represent actual transactions.

High Low

Year Ended December 28, 20!

Fourth Quarte $2.0¢ $1.11

Third Quartel $2.1¢ $1.51

Second Quarte $2.0¢ $1.61

First Quarte $2.35 $1.54
Year Ended December 31, 20t

Fourth Quarte $3.0¢ $1.91

Third Quartel $2.75  $1.7%

Second Quarte $1.7¢ $1.07

First Quarte $2.858 $1.24

On March 6, 2009 the last sale price of@ammon Stock as reported by NASDAQ was $0.65 pares On March 6, 2009, there were
509 shareholders of record of our Common Stock.

We have not declared any cash dividend=edi@coming a public company. We currently intencetain any future earnings to finance
growth and development of the business and, thexeflm not anticipate paying any cash dividendténforeseeable future. In addition, our
credit facility restricts our ability to pay dividds. Any future determination to pay cash dividewdsbe at the discretion of our Board and \
be dependent upon the future financial conditiesults of operations, capital requirements, gerirsiness conditions and other relevant
factors as determined by our Board.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information about our equity compensatitanp as of December 28, 2008 is as follows (sharé®usands):

Number of
Securities to Weighted
be Issued Average
Upon Exercise Number of
Exercise of Price of Securities
Outstanding Outstanding Remaining
Options, Options, Available for

Warrants and ~ Warrants and
Future

Plan Category Rights Rights Issuance

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Shareholdle 7280 $ 4.17 11,47¢

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Sharedrs(@ 11,20: $ 1.57 2,22
Total 18,48: 13,70¢

(1) Includes 1997 Stock Option Plan, 1999 and 2005t dncentive Plan and 1999 Employee Stock PurcRése

(2) Includes 2000 Nc-Statutory Stock Option Ple
For more detailed information regarding equity compensation plans, see Note 11 to ourdiinlaged financial statements.
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph is a congaar of the five year cumulative stockholder retamour common stock against the
cumulative total return of the NASDAQ Composite émgdthe NASDAQ Telecommunications Index and a geeup composed of the Russell
2000 Stock Index and SYS Technologies, NCI, Inapky, Inc., Sl International, Inc., MTC Technalegy Inc., and Dynamic Research
Corporation for the period commencing December2BD3 and ending December 28, 2008. SYS, S| Intemalt Inc. and MTC
Technologies, Inc. were included for the periodermo the time they were acquired. We consideffibeal year ended December 28, 2008 to
be the last year in the transformation of the Camgfeom a provider of services to the Wireless Camivations Industry to a company
primarily engaged in defense contracting. As suwehhave continued to include performance data ag#ie NASDAQ Composite Index and
the NASDAQ Telecommunication Index. In subsequearg, we will discontinue those two comparisong pérformance graph assumes an
initial investment of $100 in our common stock ameéach of the indices and peer group. The compaiddso assumes that all dividends are
reinvested and all returns are markap weighted. The historical information set fdstow is not necessarily indicative of future penfance

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.

5160 -

5140 -
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5100
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S60 -
540
$20 —-
.
50 : : - : !
12/03 12/04 12/05 12/06 1207 12/08
—8B— Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc — A — NASDAQ Composite
- - O - - Russell 2000 —¥— NASDAQ Telecommunications
—— Peer Group

*$100 invested on 12/31/03 in stock or index, imidhg reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2009 S&P, a division of The McGraw-Hbmpanies Inc. All rights reserved.

The performance graph above and relatedatexbeing furnished solely to accompany this AghiiReport on Form 10-K pursuant to
Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K, and are not beitggffor purposes of Section 18 of the Securitieshaxge Act of 1934, as amended, and are
not to be incorporated by reference into any fileigurs, whether made before or after the datedferegardless of any general incorporation
language in such filing.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The selected consolidated financial databieen restated as a result of the discontinueddsses. The following selected consolidated
financial data should be read in conjunction witin consolidated financial statements and relatédsiiereto and with "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations" which are incorporated@mlf7 or included elsewhere in this
Report on Form 10-K. Our historical results are metessarily indicative of operating results teekpected in the future.

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
(All amounts except per share data in millions

Consolidated Statements of Operations FinanciahI

Revenue! $116.¢ $152.2 $153.1 $193.€ $297.C

Gross profit 29.C 36.¢€ 28.¢ 31.¢ 59.t

Operating income (los! (13.§) 32 (315 (24.9 (94.¢)

Provision (benefit) for income tax (8.4 0.1 13.¢ 1.3 (0.7)

Income (loss) from continuing operatic (8.2 3.€ (46.2) (28.2 (105.¢

Income (loss) from discontinued operatic 23.2 (2.0)0 (119 (12.¢ (5.5)

Net income (loss $15.C $ 1.€ $(57.9 $(40.6) $(111.7)
Income (loss) from continuing operations per comrsiogre

Basic $(0.12) $ 0.0t $(0.6%9 $(0.39) $ (1.19

Diluted $(0.12) $ 0.0t $(0.69) $(0.3)) $ (1.19
Income (loss) from discontinued operations per comshar

Basic $ 0.3¢ $(0.059) $(0.1€) $(0.17) $ (0.0¢)

Diluted $ 0.3¢2 $(0.03) $(0.1€) $(0.17) $ (0.0€)
Net income (loss) per common sh

Basic $ 022 $00z $(0.79 $(0.55) $ (1.20

Diluted $ 022 $ 0.0z $(0.79 $(0.55) $ (1.20
Weighted average shar¢

Basic 67.7 74.C 73.t 74.C 92.€

Diluted 67.7 75.C 73.t 74.C 92.€

As of December 31
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
(All amounts in millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dz

Cash and cash equivale $504 $ 77 $ 54 $ 8€ $ 3.2
Shor-term investment 7.6 — — — —
Working capital 98.€ 67.4 (3.9 23.2 35.C
Total asset 330.7 342.C 337.7 335.% 312.
Shor-term debt 1.9 0.7 51.¢ 2.7 5.¢
Long-term debt — — — 74.C 76.C
Total stockholders' equit $219.€ $229.7 $187.1 $167.. $146.¢

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations ("MD&A")

This report contains forward-looking states. These statements relate to future eventsrduture financial performance. In some
cases, you can identify forward-looking statemémts
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terminology such as "may," "will," "should," "exggc"plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," rgudict," "potential” or "continue," the
negative of such terms or other comparable terragyolThese statements are only predictions. Aauahts or results may differ materially.
Factors that may cause our results to differ ingJumit are not limited to: changes in the scopénting of our projects; changes or cutbacks in
spending by the U.S. Department of Defense whichdcoause delays or cancellations of key governroentracts; the timing, rescheduling or
cancellation of significant customer contracts agteements, or consolidation by or the loss ofdiestomers; failure to successfully
consummate acquisitions or integrate acquired tipes failure to establish and maintain importaiationships with government entities and
agencies and other government contractors coultidian ability to bid successfully for new businpaad competition in the marketplace wt
could reduce revenues and profit margins.

Although we believe that the expectations reflettdtle forward-looking statements are reasonahle cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievementsrdduer, neither we, nor any other person, assurspamsibility for the accuracy and
completeness of the forward-looking statementsai&@nder no obligation to update any of the forddwoking statements after the filing of
our Annual Report on Form 10-K to conform suchestatnts to actual results or to changes in our egtiens.

Certain of the information set forth herein, inclugl costs and expenses that exclude the impatbdf sompensation expense,
amortization expense of purchased intangibles @f¥&2 2007 and 2008, and the stock option investigatnd related costs in 2007 and
recovery of a portion of these costs in 2008, magdnsidered non-GAAP financial measures. We leetldg information is useful to investors
because it provides a basis for measuring the dpeggerformance of our business and our cash flexejuding the effect of stock
compensation expense that would normally be includ¢he most directly comparable measures caledland presented in accordance with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. Our maragnt uses these non-GAAP financial measures alithdhe most directly comparable
GAAP financial measures in evaluating our operatiegformance, capital resources and cash flow. I@#AP financial measures should not
be considered in isolation from, or as a substifote financial information presented in complianegh GAAP, and nofinancial measures v
report may not be comparable to similarly titted@mts reported by other companies.

The following discussion should be read in conjiamctvith our audited consolidated financial statertseand the related notes and other
financial information appearing elsewhere in thisg®rt and other reports and filings made with tiee8ities and Exchange Commissi
Readers are also urged to carefully review and mershe various disclosures made by us which giteémadvise interested parties of 1
factors which affect our business, including withiimitation the disclosures made under the captiglanagement's Discussion and Analy
of Financial Condition and Results of Operatioraqtl tem 1A—Risk Factors.

Overview

We are an innovative provider of missioitical engineering, information technology (IT) giees and warfighter solutions. We work
primarily for the U.S. government and federal goweent agencies, but we also perform work for statélocal agencies and commercial
customers. Our principal services are relateddbabe not limited to, Command, Control, Commuriarad, Computing, Intelligence,
Surveillance and Reconnaissance (C4ISR), weapatersy lifecycle support and sustainment; militagapon range operations and technical
services; missile, rocket and weapons system mesegaluation; missile and rocket mission launcirises; public safety, security and
surveillance systems; modeling and simulation; ummed aerial vehicle (UAV) products and technolaggyanced network engineering and
information technology services; and advanced m#dion technology services. We offer our custorsetstions and expertise to support their
mission-critical needs by leveraging our skillsassr our core service areas.
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We derive a substantial portion of our rexefrom contracts performed for federal governnagmncies, including the U.S. Departmer
Defense (DOD), with the majority of our revenuereutly generated from the delivery of mission-catiwarfighter solutions, advanced
engineering services, system integration and systestainment services to defense and other non-B@Ixivilian government agencies. We
believe our diversified and stable client basarsgrclient relationships, broad array of contragticles, considerable employee base posse
government security clearances, extensive listst performance qualifications, and significant agment and operational capabilities
position us for continued growth.

Historically, the majority of our businesas concentrated in the area of wireless netwankcss, and our business operated in three
reportable segments: Wireless Network Servicesg@owuent Network Services, and Enterprise Networki€es. In 2006, we were an
independent provider of outsourced engineeringreatdbork deployment services, security systems emging and integration services and
other technical services for the wireless commuitoa industry, the U.S. government, and enterprisgtomers.

In 2006 and 2007, we undertook a transftionatrategy whereby we divested our wirelessteeldusinesses and chose to pursue
business with the federal government, primarilyth8. Department of Defense (DOD), through strategiquisitions and organic growth. We
divested assets in our Wireless Network Servicgmsat and renamed our Enterprise Network Serviegment "Public Safety and Security".
Today, under the new corporate name of Kratos Def@Security Solutions, Inc., we are organized tmo primary operating segments:
Kratos Government Solutions (KGS) and Public SafeSecurity (PSS).

The financial statements in this Annual &¢pre presented in a manner consistent with ewr aperating structure. For additional
information regarding our operating segments, sete 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemdfrom a customer and solutions
perspective, we view our business as an integrakede, leveraging skills and assets wherever ptessib

Kratos Government Solutions Segment (KGS)

Our Kratos Government Solutions segmentiges engineering, information technology and técdirservices to federal, state, and local
government agencies, but primarily the DOD. Ourknacludes weapon systems lifecycle support andresion; C4ISR; military range
operations and technical services; missile, rockad, weapon systems test and evaluation; missiorchaservices; public safety and security
services; advanced network engineering and infdomaéchnology services; and public safety, seguanitd surveillance systems integration.
Our KGS segment also focuses on the homeland sgowairket with products and services aimed at stpypfirst responders.

Public Safety and Security Segment (PSS)

Our Public Safety and Security segment igies/system design, deployment, integration, manigoand support services for public saf
security and surveillance networks for state amdllgovernments and commercial customers. Pulfitysand security networks have been
traditionally segregated into systems such as volia&, access control, video surveillance, angpésature control and fire and life safety. We
provide services that combine such systems and iotiegrated solutions on an Ethernet-based platfo¥e also offer solutions that combine
voice, data, electronic security and building audtion systems with fixed or wireless connectivibjusions. Our target markets are retail,
healthcare, education, sports and entertainmentjaipal government, correctional facilities andestipublic facilities. Our commitments to
these markets and our ability to provide featuchsrcosteffective solutions have allowed us to become drthenlarger independent integrat
for these types of systems. We maintain regiorfédefocations, comprised of Kratos Mid-Atlanticrd€os Southeast, and Kratos Southwest.
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Divestiture of Wireless Network Business

On December 28, 2006, our Board approveldmto divest portions of our business whereaaitmass had not been achieved. This plan
involved the divestiture of our EMEA operations and remaining South American operations. The EMip&rations were sold to LCC
International, Inc. (LCC) on March 9, 2007 for $4nillion in cash, $3.3 million of which was receien that date. We also received
approximately $1.8 million from our EMEA operatiopgor and subsequent to the closing date as palyameoutstanding intercompany debt.
The balance of the $0.7 million sales price wasietd as security for the satisfaction of certafeimnification obligations and was payabl
March 31, 2008. Based upon our review of the mesemtly available financial statements of the bugerof December 31, 2007, we had
concern about their ability to pay this holdbadke do their available liquidity. We recorded a reseof $0.7 million for this receivable. In Mi
2008, we reached an agreement with LCC for the paymf the $0.7 million holdback amount, under vahi«CC agreed to pay the outstand
balance in $0.1 million increments each month conuimg June 30, 2008. We have not yet received agynpnts due according to the
agreement. While we intend to vigorously pursudectibn of the amounts, there is a substantialilibed that we will not receive payment of
the amount due, in light of LCC's apparent avaddigjuidity amounts.

On April 20, 2007, we entered into an Egtirchase Agreement to sell our wholly-owned slibsy WFI de Brazil Techlogia en
Telecommunications LTDA to Strategic Project Seegid_LC (SPS). The consideration included the aptiom of substantially all outstandi
liabilities of WFI Brazil, nominal cash considerat, and additional earodt consideration based on 25% of net receivaldbsated subseque
to the closing date. With respect to the additiaraah-out consideration, we have not received andlod anticipate receiving any payments.

On May 29, 2007, we entered into an Assetiitase Agreement with LCC International, Inc.tfoe sale of all of the assets used in the
conduct of the operation of our engineering ses/lmasiness of our Wireless Network Services segthanprovided engineering services to
the non-government wireless communications industtiie United States, for aggregate consideraifdd6 million. LCC delivered a
subordinated promissory note for the principal antai $21.6 million (the "Subordinated Promissorgt&l'), paid $17 million at closing and
paid final working capital adjustments of $2.4 ioitl through an amendment to the Subordinated PeamyjisNote. We retained an estimated
$5.0 million in net working capital. The transactiwas completed on June 4, 2007. On July 5, 2086%o0Md the $21.6 million Subordinated
Promissory Note to Silver Point Capital, L.P. (V@i Point") in a transaction arranged by KeyBanpit@hMarkets ("KeyBanc"). We received
approximately $19.6 million in net cash proceedflecting a discount from par value of less thae fbercent and aggregate transaction fees of
approximately $1 million, which includes a $0.73lion fee to KeyBanc, an affiliate of our lendemQanuary 30, 2008, we received net
proceeds of approximately $2.3 million on the wogkcapital adjustment from Silver Point, net ofdal$million discount from par value. We
did not provide any guaranty for LCC's paymentgddiions under the note.

On July 7, 2007, we entered into a defiritigreement with an affiliate of Platinum Equitystll our deployment services business of our
Wireless Network Services segment for total comrsitiien payable of $24 million, including $18 million cash at closing (subject to typical
post closing working capital adjustments) and agregate $6 million in a three-year earn-out arramga. We also agreed to provide certain
transition services for a period of six months. Bksets sold to Platinum Equity included all of wireless deployment business and the
Wireless Facilities name. The transaction closedwy 24, 2007. As a result of these engineerirdydaployment services divestitures in 2007,
the Wireless Network Services segment has beesiftdsas a discontinued operation in this Annuap&t and all prior year results presented
herein have been reclassified to reflect thesenkegses as discontinued operations in accordanbeSKAS 144, 'Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Lor-Lived Assets.

39




Table of Contents

On September 25, 2007, we provided the imgrkapital calculation to Platinum Equity, whicidicated a working capital adjustment was
due to Platinum Equity primarily due to cash cakeon accounts receivables by us prior to theeobdshe transaction that exceeded our
previous estimate of working capital to be delivkete Platinum Equity. On July 16, 2008, we camartagreement with Platinum Equity on a
working capital adjustment of $5.0 million. In caation with that agreement, the earn-out arrangémas terminated. The adjustment was to
be paid in installments. We made payments of $1lldmin August and September 2008 and an addifigayment of $0.5 million in
December 2008. As of December 28, 2008, the balaf$2.5 million plus accrued interest has beelecédd in other current liabilities.

Recent Acquisitions

On October 2, 2006 we acquired Huntsvlllebama based Madison Research Corporation ("MR&"$69 million in cash. MRC offers
broad range of technical, engineering and IT soh#j and has developed core competencies in weapsten lifecycle support, integrated
logistics, test and evaluation, commercial-off-gelf software and hardware selection and impleatiem, software development and systems
lifecycle maintenance. We have one holdback paymenaining related to this acquisition of approxieila$2.5 million which we expect to
pay in the first half of 2009.

On December 31, 2007, we completed ouriaitegun of Indianapolis, Indiana headquartered Hatiek Consulting, Inc. ("Haverstick") as
part of our KGS segment. Haverstick provides roeket missile test and evaluation, weapons systapyost, and professional services to the
U.S. Army, U.S. Air Force, U.S. Navy, NASA, and ettiederal, state and local agencies. Through #heets$tick acquisition, we expanded our
customer relationship within the DOD and enhana@dpoesence with the U.S. Air Force, a key growtador Haverstick.

The total purchase price for the Haverséicquisition was $92.0 million, including transaaticosts incurred by us of $0.8 million. The
purchase price paid to Haverstick of $91.2 millweas paid in a combination of $70.3 million of castd common stock valued at $19.4 mill
based on 7.48 million shares at a price of $2.6Gpare, the average closing price of Kratos shafreemmon stock for the two days prior to,
including, and the two days subsequent to the pasinouncement of the acquisition on November 8728nd a working capital adjustmen
$1.5 million. We held back $8.6 million, $1.2 milii in cash and $7.4 million in stock, to secure aegative working capital adjustments
required by the merger agreement and our indemigitys. The holdback consideration, which accrmésrest in accordance with the terms of
the agreement until paid, was to be released oh2ffemonth and 28 month after the date of the acquisition As a ftesiuh claims notice we
filed in relation to an indemnity claim which coudatceed the amount of the holdback consideratigalga due to Haverstick, we did not me
the December 2008 holdback payment. Haversticispguting the claims notice. In addition to the indety holdback, the agreement also calls
for a post closing working capital adjustment. BbFuary 2008, we and Haverstick agreed on the wgr&apital calculation called for in the
agreement. The calculation resulted in a workingjtahadjustment due to Haverstick in an amourihb million. The working capital
adjustment was paid in April 2008 with 697,315 sisasf common stock valued at $1.3 million and azs$0.2 million. To fund the
acquisition, we secured a new credit facility ob$Bmillion arranged by KeyBanc Capital MarketseTdnedit facility, which includes a
$25.0 million line of credit and $60.0 million irrm notes, replaced our previous credit facilithjoh had an outstanding principal balance of
$6.0 million on December 31, 2007. Until the datenich the shares of stock issued to Haverstidabmee salable interest accrued on the \
of the closing stock at a floating rate of one-noniBOR plus four percent (4%) per annum. The shaerame saleable on June 30, 2008 and
167,692 additional shares were issued in satisiadi the accrued interest.

On June 28, 2008, we completed our merdr8¥ S, a San Diego-based company. The mergemerkaur position as a premier mid-
tier federal, state and local government contraicttine
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United States in the areas of C4ISR, IT servicespblic safety and homeland security solutions frferger creates a broad, complementary
set of business offerings, and positions the compawdeliver capabilities to a wider spectrum o$toumers.

We issued 25.3 million shares to SYS shadshs in the merger, for a total purchase pric#5%.9 million including direct transaction
costs of $2.4 million. Each share of SYS commoglsteas converted into the right to receive 1.2582ss of Kratos common stock. The
value of the Kratos common stock issued in the erengs derived from the number of shares of Kratmemon stock issued, or 25.3 million,
at a price of $2.022 per share, the average clgsicg of Kratos shares of common stock for the éhags prior to, including, and the two days
subsequent to the public announcement of the merg€ebruary 21, 2008. Since signing the definitherger agreement in February 2008,
senior management of Kratos and SYS have beenajsrgla plan to restructure and/or exit certainrmess activities of SYS. The plan
includes a comprehensive assessment of persoetaation of personnel, facility consolidation andt strategies for certain lines of business.
As of December 28, 2008, the plan tentatively estérs approximately $2.0 million of restructuringtsoassociated with personnel, and
additional costs of $0.5 million for facilities ceslidation. Personnel, facilities consolidation @xi costs are still being developed therefore,
the estimated restructuring liabilities are subjeathange as plans become finalized. The Compgpgcts to finalize the restructuring plan as
soon as possible, but no later than June 28, 2009.

We identified three business units of SK& were not core to our business strategy an@doe been dilutive to profitability. The
divestiture of these businesses will slightly rezleevenues going forward, and will immediately @ase profitability and cash flow. We have
recently completed the sale of two of these buse®m the first quarter of 2009 for an aggregashconsideration of approximately
$0.3 million, and expect the sale of the other hess by the end of the first half of 2009. Thesarmsses have been classified as discontinued
operations in our Consolidated Financial Statemastsf December 28, 2008 and we have recorded @airiment charge of $4.5 million,
resulting from allocated goodwill, purchased intiates and other assets associated with these lssgiseand incurred net operating losses of
$1.4 million since the acquisition of SYS.

On December 24, 2008 we acquired Hunts\Allabama based Digital Fusion Inc. (DFI). DFI pides C4ISR and technical engineering
services, Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) products aechnology and has significant engineering, exethsor and modeling and simulation
capabilities. The acquisition of DFI provides ushaiew customers and an expanded contract vehictfolio, in addition to expanding the
range of service offerings to our existing custanerincipal customers of DFI include the Army Aiga and Missile Research, Development
and Engineering Center (AMRDEC), Army Space andsiésDefense Command/Army Forces Strategic Commd8TRAT), NASA
Marshall Space Flight Center, and certain classifigstomers.

The total stock for stock transaction wakied at approximately $37.0 million, including kas transaction costs of $0.9 million. We
issued 22.9 million shares to DFI shareholdersassdimed outstanding DFI options, which resultatiénssuance of options to acquire
approximately 10.0 million Kratos shares. The valfithe purchase price related to the common sgstled was derived from the number of
shares of Kratos common stock issued of 22.9 millased on 12.8 million shares of DFI common stagktanding and the exchange ratio of
1.7933 for each DFI share, at a price of $1.27spare, the average closing price of Kratos shdresromon stock for the two days prior to,
including, and the two days subsequent to the pasinouncement of the merger on November 24, 28 fair value of the options issued
allocated to goodwill based upon the Black-Schplsing model was $7.0 million. The fair value ofuested options which are related to
future service will be expensed as the serviceifopmed.
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Key Financial Statement Concep
As of December 28, 2008, we consider thieviong factors to be important in understanding fimancial statements.

Kratos Government Solutions' business #ithU.S. government and prime contractors is gégererformed under cost reimbursable,
fixed-price or time and materials contracts. Ceghbursable contracts for the government providedonbursement of costs plus the payment
of a fee. Some cost reimbursable contracts indluckntive fees that are awarded based on perforenam¢he contract. Under fixed-price
contracts, we agree to perform certain work faxed price. Under time and materials contractsaveereimbursed for labor hours at negoti
hourly billing rates and reimbursed for travel atlder direct expenses at actual costs plus apgéedral and administrative expenses. Our
Public Security and Safety contracts are primdidgd-price contracts whereby revenue is recognirmedg the percentage-of-completion
method of accounting under the provisions of Stetgnof Position (SOP) 81; "Accounting for Performance of Construction Tygrel Certair
Production Type Contracts." For contracts offerachdime and material basis, we recognize reveasiagrvices are performed.

Cost of revenues includes direct compeosaliving, travel and benefit expenses for projedated personnel, payments to third-party
subcontractors, cost of materials, project-reléedntive compensation based upon the successifigvament of certain project performance
goals, allocation of overhead costs and other tpesject-related expenses. Selling, general andirgddtrative expenses include compensation
and benefits for corporate service employees andasicosts for billable employees whose time axgkeases cannot be assigned to a project
(underutilization costs), expendable computer safénand equipment, facilities expenses and otheratipng expenses not directly related
and/or allocated to projects. General and admatistr costs include all corporate and administeafisnctions that support existing operations
and provide infrastructure to facilitate our futgm@wth. Additionally, our sales personnel and senorporate executives have, as part of their
compensation packages, periodic and annual bomagsi@sion incentives based on the attainment ofiipd@erformance goals.

We consider the following factors when deti@ing if collection of a receivable is reasonabsured: comprehensive collection history;
results of our communications with customers; tineent financial position of the customer; and télevant economic conditions in the
customer's country. If we have had no prior expeewith the customer, we review reports from wasioredit organizations to ensure that the
customer has a history of paying its creditors ieleble and effective manner. If the financiahddion of our customers were to deteriorate,
and adversely affect their financial ability to nregkayments, additional allowances would be requi#elditionally, on certain contracts
whereby we perform services for a prime/generatreator, a specified percentage of the invoiceddraccounts receivable may be retained by
the customer until we complete the project. Wequkcially review all retainages for collectibilityd record allowances for doubtful accounts
when deemed appropriate, based on our assessntaetagsociated risks.

We believe that our Kratos Government Sohg segment will build and expand our customeati@hships within the DOD, Department
of Homeland Security and other non-DoD state andllagencies by taking advantage of the signifiogportunities for companies with
substantial expertise in advanced engineering @fiodmation technology. We believe we will experiersontinued growth in revenues and
operating income from this operating segment. Tdra@itions of Haverstick on December 31, 2007, $viSune 28, 2008, and DFI on
December 24, 2008 resulted in the addition of dy@@0 highly skilled technical professionals andieaers with expertise in the areas of
military weapons and target range support as vedihegets and missile operations and maintenance.
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Results of Operations
Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2007 to the Year Ended December 28, 2008

Revenues. Revenues by operating segment for the yearsceDdcember 31, 2007 and December 28, 2008 acdl@sd (in millions):

2007 2008 $ change % change
Public Safety & Security Segme $ 511 $50€ $ (0.5) 1.0%
Kratos Government Solutions Segm 142.5  246.7 104.: 73.1%
Total revenue $193.¢ $297.. $103.7 53.6%

Revenues increased $103.7 million from $a.98illion in 2007 to $297.3 million in 2008, refiéng an increase of $104.2 million in our
Kratos Government Solutions segment, primarily thuthe acquisitions of Haverstick on December @0 72and SYS on June 28, 2008.
Haverstick revenue in 2008 was $85.5 million ancSS¥venue was $33.2 million. This combined incredsk118.7 million from the acquired
companies was partially offset by decreases inmaee in the KGS segment of approximately $14.5onillThis decrease was a result of the
impact of the conversion of our work as prime tbcantractor on one of our target range projectschvivas recompeted earlier in the year and
awarded to a small business as well as the timiingloverables and completion on one of our Fordijlitary Sales programs. The reduction
in revenues in our PSS segment was primarily thelref a reduction in revenue on municipal wirslesograms and the completion of certain
projects.

As described in the section "Critical Acoting Principles and Estimates” and in the noteSdnsolidated Financial Statements, a portion
of our revenue is derived from fixed-price contsaghereby revenue is calculated using the percerahgompletion method based on the .
of total costs incurred to date compared to es@nhédtal costs to complete the contract. Thesmasts are reviewed monthly on a contract-by-
contract basis, and are revised periodically thnowg the life of the contract such that adjustmémisrofit resulting from revisions are made
cumulative to the date of the revision. Significeam@nagement judgments and estimates, includingdtimated costs to complete projects,
which determine the project's percent complete tiesnade and used in connection with the reveacggnized in any accounting period.
Material differences may result in the amount amdrtg of our revenue for any period if managemeakes different judgments or utilizes
different estimates. During the reporting periodatained herein, we did experience revenue andimadjustments of certain projects based
on the aforementioned factors, but the effect shsadjustments, both positive and negative, whatfueted in total were determined to be
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements

Cost of Revenues.Cost of revenues increased $75.8 million oB%6from $162.0 million for the year ended Decenttier2007 to
$237.8 million for the year ended December 28, 2008arily due to the increase in total revenudte crease was primarily attributable to
cost of revenues of approximately $90.6 millioratedl to the Haverstick and SYS acquisitions, prtidfset by decreases in cost of revenues
as a result of the reduced revenues in the tworanog as discussed above. Gross margin during tireeyeled December 28, 2008 of 20.0%
increased from a 2007 gross margin of 16.3%. Thee@se in gross margin primarily resulted from kiglross margins in our KGS segmer
a result of our Haverstick and SYS acquisitions tutne types of program mix as well as classifarabf costs between cost of sales and
selling, general and administrative expenses (SGi&Accordance with government accounting standémdsddition there was improved
operational performance in our PSS segment, fochwhiargins increased from 21.5% to 25.1% for ther ymded December 31, 2007 and
December 28, 2008, respectively.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative expensereased 30.9% from $39.5 million to
$51.7 million for the years ended December 31, 200y
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December 28, 2008, respectively. The increase ®2pillion is primarily due to an increase in costflecting the acquisitions of Haverstick
and SYS, offset by a reduction in corporate expenseluded in the selling, general and administea¢xpenses for 2007 and 2008 are
amortization of purchased intangibles of $2.8 milland $5.0 million, respectively. The increasarnmortization year over year is also a result
of the Haverstick and SYS acquisitions. As a petagm of revenues, selling, general and adminisgatkpenses decreased from 20.4% in .
to 17.4% in 2008. Excluding the impact of the arnzatton of purchased intangibles, SG&A decreasethfl9.0% to 15.7% of revenues for
2007 and 2008, respectively, reflecting the leverag increased revenues.

Stock Option Investigation, Related Feas Racoveries. In 2008, we recovered $4.5 million, throughuirssce reimbursements, of
costs and losses related to the stock option irgag&in in 2007. Our 2007 costs of $10.6 milliogluded $14.0 million in legal, accounting ¢
other professional fees related to our Equity AwReview which was completed in September 2007 hashgoing government inquiries by
the Department of Justice and the now completed iBi#EStigation. This amount was partially offset$8:4 million related to the recovery of
assets from our settlement with our former stodioopadministrator related to damages for the tb&éiur stock options and common stock
which occurred in 2002 and 2003 and was discoveéueithg our internal review of our option grantinggtices. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings
for a further discussion of these items.

Litigation Settlement Charge. In February 2008, following a voluntary mediatiof the 2004 and 2007 securities litigation, iheties
reached a tentative agreement to settle the vaclags action lawsuits. In 2007, we accrued ameséid $4.9 million related to its costs for the
settlement of these matters of which we have paiaximately $4.2 million in settlements in 200&8eStem 3. Legal Proceedings for a furt
discussion of these items.

Impairment and Restructuring Chargesln December 2008, we concluded that the detiiexit three businesses obtained with the
SYS acquisition and included with our KGS reportgagment met the criteria to be classified as fugldale and was a triggering event under
SFAS 142 "Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset§'SFAS 142") that required a review of goodwill anthngibles assets with indefinite lives.
Because the three business units were never itéegireo the KGS reporting unit, and the benefftthe acquired goodwill were never reali:
by the rest of the reporting unit, the goodwilltlké disposed businesses was not adjusted basedhguaiative fair values of the businesses
disposed and businesses retained.

Because of the timing of the disposals meed above, the required impairment test of theSkf@odwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives was included with our required aahimpairment test of goodwill. The annual impadmhtest for goodwill was performed
using a discounted cash flow analysis supportecoiyparative market multiples to determine the ¥alues of our segments versus their book
values. The test as of December 28, 2008, indidatetdthe book values for the KGS segment, excly@fl (which was purchased on
December 24, 2008), exceeded the fair values sttbasinesses and resulted in our recording a asmaharge totaling $105.8 million in our
KGS segment for the impairment of goodwill. The aiyment charge is primarily driven by adverse ggniirket conditions that caused a
decrease in current market multiples and our spoide as of December 28, 2008, compared with tsteperformed as of December 31, 2007.
The charge does not impact our normal businessatipes. Given continued significant decline in sheck market in general and specifically
our stock price in 2009, we believe it is more ljkian not that this could be an indication of iiddal goodwill impairment and could
potentially result in a triggering event under SFA& and an additional goodwill impairment chanmyéhie first quarter of 2009.

The impairment and restructuring chargee aicluded costs of $0.3 million for the year e@&cember 28, 2008 which are primarily a
result of a change in estimate of our excess fadlicrual for obligations under facility leasesl awrite-off of fees related to our withdrawal
of our previously
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filed S-3 and S-4 registration statements, whichmwa longer be able to be used as a result oEttage in regulations.

Other Expense, Net. For the year ended December 28, 2008, net ettpnse was $11.5 million compared to net othpeese of
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2d0ié significant increase in 2008 is primarily driviey interest expense of $9.2 million on
the debt used to finance the acquisition of Haieestn December 31, 2007 and a non-cash mark teehadjustment for financial derivatives
of $1.7 million. The net other expense of $2.3 imillin 2007 was primarily attributable to approxbelg $1.8 million of an impairment charge,
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2007, relatetheocarrying value of investments in unconsolidatitiates to fair value as well as
$1.2 million of interest expense incurred on owviwus credit facility.

Provision (Benefit) for Income TaxesOur effective income tax rate for the year ehBecember 31, 2007 represented a negative 5%
income tax provision compared to a positive 1% imedax benefit for the year ended December 28, .ZDB8 tax provision for the year ended
December 31, 2007 included an increase to the iafuallowance of $9.8 million against the defertad assets. The tax benefit for the year
ended December 28, 2008 included an increase teathation allowance of $2.5 million against théedteed tax assets and reflects a reduced
tax benefit of $32.6 million relating to nondedibi#i goodwill impairment charges.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operationd.oss from discontinued operations decreasad &doss of $12.6 million in 2007 to a loss
of $5.5 million during 2008. In December 2008, wada the decision to exit three of our acquired $¥Sinesses that are not core to our st
strategy and that have been dilutive to our prbiiitx. The businesses to be divested or exitedipinteractive video surveillance and
information analysis products, digital broadcasfimgducts and incident response management sysiémase actions are being taken as pa
our ongoing integration efforts of recently acqdicmpanies and cost reduction initiatives. Inctliiethe loss for 2008 are asset impairments
including goodwill and purchased intangibles arficoassets of approximately $4.5 million and $1ilion of net operating losses. These
losses were partially offset by the favorable resoh of contingencies related to our wireless hesses which were divested in 2007.

In 2007, the $12.6 million loss was prinhadue to the impairment of assets related to thielass deployment business of $13.4 million,
an impairment of goodwill of $7.2 million related this business, a $1.9 million loss from the dssp@f our deployment business and a
$1.1 million excess facility accrual. These changese all partially offset by a gain of $14.8 nolti on the sale of the wireless engineering
services business operations and a gain of $2l®mdn the sale of the EMEA business.

Revenues and net loss before taxes geddrgtthese discontinued businesses in 2008 wem@sppately $2.0 million and $6.8 million,
respectively, compared to $85.7 million and $12ilfian, respectively, in 2007. See Note 3 to thetédoto the Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion of these trarma:t

Results of Operations
Comparison of Results for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2006 to the Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues. Revenues by operating segment for the yearsceDeécember 31, 2006 and 2007 are as follows (lions):

2006 2007 $change % change
Public Safety & Security Segme $55.6 $51.1 $ (4.5 (8.0)%
Kratos Government Solutions Segm 97.E  142F 45.C 46.2%
Total revenue $153.1 $193.€ $ 40.t 26.5%
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Revenues increased $40.5 million from $158illion in 2006 to $193.6 million in 2007, refkny an increase of $45.0 million in our
Kratos Government Solutions segment, primarily ttughe acquisition of MRC in October 2006, whichttduted $70.5 million in revenues
2007 and $17.2 million in 2006. This increase d3.8million was partially offset by decreases dughe reduction of one program with
annualized revenues of nearly $5.7 million that e@ssolidated by one of our Federal Governmenooosts as well as, to a lesser degree,
other program delays and losses resulting in relteeenues of $2.6 million in other businessesiwittur Government Solutions segment.
Reductions in our Public Safety & Security segna@r#4.5 million were primarily related to our ewit the municipal wireless business in the
first quarter of 2007.

As described in the section "Critical Acoting Principles and Estimates” and in the noteSdosolidated Financial Statements, a portion
of our revenue is derived from fixed-price contsaghereby revenue is calculated using the percerahgompletion method based on the .
of total costs incurred to date compared to es@nhédtal costs to complete the contract. Thesmasts are reviewed monthly on a contract-by-
contract basis, and are revised periodically thnoudg the life of the contract such that adjustmémisrofit resulting from revisions are made
cumulative to the date of the revision. Significeam@nagement judgments and estimates, includingdtimated costs to complete projects,
which determine the project's percent complete tieisnade and used in connection with the reveacggnized in any accounting period.
Material differences may result in the amount amdrig of our revenue for any period if managemenkes different judgments or utilizes
different estimates. During the reporting periodatained herein, we did experience revenue andimadjustments of certain projects based
on the aforementioned factors, but the effect shsadjustments, both positive and negative, whatfueted in total were determined to be
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements

Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues increased $37.8 million oA%B0from $124.2 million for the year ended Decentiier2006 to
$162.0 million for the year ended December 31, 20@mnarily due to the increase in total revenudte crease was primarily attributable to
cost of revenues of approximately $14.6 millioratetl to the MRC acquisition, offset by decreaseost of revenues as a result of the reducec
revenues in our PSS segment discussed above. @eogé during the year ended December 31, 2006@% decreased from a 2006 gross
margin of 18.9%. The decrease in gross margin pifyn@sulted from a change in the mix of Governm8arvices revenue versus Public
Safety & Security revenue.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpenseSelling, general and administrative expensesased 2.6% from $38.6 million to
$39.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2062007, respectively. The increase of $1.0 omills primarily due to an increase in cc
reflecting the acquisition of MRC and an increaseternal consulting and professional fees, ssdegal and accounting, partially offset by a
reduction in stock compensation expense of $4.Bamifrom 2006, which decreased from $5.9 millior2006 to $1.0 million in 2007.
Included in the selling, general and administragxpenses (SG&A) for 2006 and 2007 are amortizaifgurchased intangibles of
$2.1 million and $2.8 million, respectively. The&irase in amortization year over year is also alre§the MRC acquisition. As a percentage
of revenues, selling, general and administratiyeeaeses decreased from 25.2% in 2006 to 20.4% iA. 2&luding the impact of the
amortization of purchased intangibles and stockpemsation expense, SG&A decreased from 20.0% &9%4.8f revenues for 2006 and 2007,
respectively.

Stock Option Investigation, Related Feas Racoveries. In the summer of 2006, our current executiveagegment team, which has
been in place since 2004, initiated an investigatibour past stock option granting practices (tbguity Award Review") in reaction to media
reports regarding stock option granting practidgsublic companies. Our 2007 costs of $10.6 milliecluded $14.0 million in legal,
accounting and other professional fees relateditdquity Award Review
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which was completed in September 2007 and the agggdvernment inquiries by the Department of Jesticd the now completed SEC
investigation. This amount was partially offset$8/4 million related to the recovery of assets frmum settlement with our former stock option
administrator related to damages for the theftwfstock options and common stock which occurre20id2 and 2003 and was discovered
during our internal review of our option grantingagtices. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings for adurdiscussion of these items.

Litigation Settlement Charge. In March 2008, following a voluntary mediatioh2004 and 2007 securities litigation, the partesched
a tentative agreement to settle the class actigsuis. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings for a furtliggussion of these items. We accrued an
estimated $4.9 million related to its costs for skeétlement of these matters.

Impairment and Restructuring Chargeslmpairment and restructuring charges decre@26d million from $21.8 million in 2006 to
$1.2 million in 2007. During 2006, we recorded ®fillion in impairment and restructuring chargssaaresult of a change in strategic focus
of our PSS segment and a consolidation of our hemtley facilities, which included $18.3 million fgpodwill impairment related to
acquisitions made in the PSS segment. This wasndpeert to changes in the industry and the stratigius, the impact of recent and future
expected operating performance, as well as opeadtahallenges from significant employee turnoveat ive encountered after the completion
of the earn-out periods in early 2006. The balafdbe charge was related to an asset impairmeapjofoximately $1.8 million, an unused
facility charge of approximately $1.4 million redat to facilities consolidation and severance cass®ciated with restructuring activities of
approximately $0.3 million. The costs in 2007 ofZfhnillion included $0.8 million for an excess fiityi accrual for obligations under facility
leases with unused office space as a result akttent divestitures of our wireless network servisesinesses, $0.2 million related to the
impairment of leasehold improvements for thesdifaas and $0.2 million related to an impairmentiiged assets.

Other Expense, Net. For the year ended December 31, 2006, net ettpanse was $0.9 million compared to net otheeesg of
$2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 200i& other income in 2006 was due to interest incomthe note receivable relating to the
sale of our Mexican subsidiary partially offsetibierest expense for the borrowings on the lineredlit used to fund the acquisition of MRC
October 2006. In 2007, in accordance with EITF 87Aocation of Interest to Discontinued Operatigrigterest expense on the debt of
$2.2 million that was required to be repaid assalteof the sales of our wireless network servimesiness was allocated to discontinued
operations for the periods presented. See Notes@Dtinued Operations. Consequently, in 2007 ttezdst cost for the Line of Credit
borrowings used to fund the MRC acquisition wasnarily allocated to discontinued operations. Theatker expense of $2.3 million in 2007
was primarily attributable to approximately $1.8lion of an impairment charge, recorded in the thwquarter of 2007, related to the carrying
value of investments in unconsolidated affiliae$air value as well as $1.2 million of interesperse incurred on our credit facility.

Provision (Benefit) for Income TaxesOur effective income tax rate for the year ehBecember 31, 2006 represented a negative 43%
income tax provision compared to a negative 5%rmedax provision for the year ended December 3Q7 20he tax provision of $13.8 millit
for the year ended December 31, 2006 included eease to the valuation allowance of $15.9 milkgainst the deferred tax assets. The tax
provision for the year ended December 31, 2007ded an increase to the valuation allowance of 88ll&n against the deferred tax assets.

Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operationd.oss from discontinued operations increasechfadoss of $11.7 million in 2006 to a loss
of $12.6 million during 2007. The increase was priity due to the impairment of assets related éowireless deployment business of
$13.4 million, an impairment of goodwill of $7.2 lifon related to this business, a $1.9 million Iéssn the disposal of our deployment
business and a $1.1 million excess facility accriiakse charges were all partially offset by a gédin
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$14.8 million on the sale of the wireless enginaggervices business operations and a gain ofri#ién on the sale of the EMEA business.
Revenues and net loss before taxes generated $y Ihisinesses in 2006 were approximately $201libmadnd $9.8 million, respectively,
compared to $85.7 million and $12.7 million, respety, in 2007. The decrease year over year wamaoted by the divestitures of the wireless
network services businesses in 2007. See Notéththotes to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentsirther discussion of these
transactions.

Backlog

As of December 28, 2008, our backlog wagagmately $750 million, of which $160 million wésnded. Backlog is our estimate of the
amount of revenue we expect to realize over theairgimg life of awarded contracts and task ordeas We have in hand as of the measurement
date. Our total backlog consists of funded and néal backlog. We define funded backlog as estinfatede revenue under government
contracts and task orders for which funding haslaggpropriated by Congress and authorized for edipge by the applicable agency, plus
estimate of the future revenue we expect to reéilae our commercial contracts that are under fimeers. Our funded backlog does not
include the full potential value of our contradiecause Congress often appropriates funds to loebysan agency for a particular program of a
contract on a yearly of quarterly basis, even thathg contract may call for performance over a nemdd years. As a result, contracts typically
are only partially funded at any point during theirm, and all or some of the work to be perforraeder the contracts may remain unfunded
unless and until Congress makes subsequent apgtioprand the procuring agency allocates fundindpéocontract.

Unfunded backlog reflects our estimateutfife revenue under awarded government contradttsaak orders for which either funding has
not yet been appropriated or expenditure has rtdigen authorized. Our total backlog does not oelestimates of revenue from government-
wide acquisition contracts, or (GWAC) contracts@Gameral Services Administration, or (GSA), schedileyond awarded or funded task
orders, but our unfunded backlog does include egémof revenue beyond awarded or funded taskofdeother types of indefinite delivery,
indefinite quantity, or (ID/1Q), contracts, based @ur experience under such contracts and sinmdlatracts. Unfunded backlog also includes
priced options, which consist of the aggregaterembtrevenues expected to be earned as a resultustomer exercising an option period that
has been specifically defined in the original cactraward.

Contracts undertaken by us may extend betpoe year. Accordingly, portions are carried fadviiom one year to the next as part of
backlog. Because many factors affect the schedolimgojects, no assurance can be given as to whemue will be realized on projects
included in our backlog. Although funded backlogresents only business which is considered torbe fve cannot guarantee that
cancellations or scope adjustments will not ocEhe majority of funded backlog represents contranotier the terms of which cancellation by
the customer would entitle us to all or a portiémor costs incurred and potential fees.

Management believes that year-to-year coisas of backlog are not necessarily indicativéutdire revenues. The actual timing of
receipt of revenues, if any, on projects includedacklog could change because many factors affectcheduling of projects. In addition,
cancellation or adjustments to contracts may odgacklog is typically subject to large variatiomsrfi quarter to quarter as existing contracts
are renewed of new contracts are awarded. Additigradl United States government contracts incllidflebacklog, whether or not funded, n
be terminated at the convenience of the UniteceStgdvernment.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 28, 2008, we had consollatsh and cash equivalents of $3.2 million, cadatéd long-term and short-term debt of
$81.9 million, and consolidated stockholders' gqaft$146.9 million. Our principal sources of ligity are cash flows from operations and
borrowings under our credit facility.

Our operating cash flow is used to finatra€e accounts receivable, fund capital expendifwer ongoing operations, litigation and
government inquiries, service our debt and malaegic acquisitions. Financing trade accounts vabde is necessary because, on average,
our customers do not pay us as quickly as we payendors and employees for their goods and sexvicash from continuing operations is
primarily derived from our customer contracts ingness and associated changes in working capitabopents.

A summary of our net cash used in operadictiyities from continuing operations from our solidated statement of cash flows is as
follows (in millions):

Years Ended
December 31,
2006 2007 2008

Net cash used in operating activities of continuopgrations $(4.9 $(1.2) $(4.7)

Cash used in operating activities from ganhg operations for 2008 increased by $3.6 millilom 2007 primarily due to approximately
$4.8 million that was used to fund the securitiggdtion settlement and approximately $5.5 millibiat was paid in 2008 related to our internal
stock investigation we completed in 2007. Thesewartsowere partially offset by cash receipts of agpnately $4.9 million resulting from our
recovery from the theft of stock options and otle®overies from our various insurance carriers.

Cash used in operating activities of canitig operations for 2007 decreased by $3.8 mififom 2006, primarily due to a decrease in (
sales outstanding from 109 days to 101 days, afteistment for the MRC transaction in 2006 andHheerstick transaction in 2007, partially
offset by payment related to our internal stockapinvestigation, as well as the timing of paynseot our expenses.

Cash used in investing activities from dammhg operations are summarized as follows (iHiomk):

2006 2007 2008

Investing activities

Sale/maturity of sho-term investment $ — $ — ¢03
Cash paid for contingent acquisition considera (8.5) (8.9 —
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acqu (59.1) (63.9 (1.2
Proceeds/(payments) from the disposition of disooed operatior ~ 18.€ 57.2 (0.2
Cash transferred (to) from restricted c (2.0 1.C (0.9
Capital expenditure 1.2 (.9 (0.9

Net cash used in investing activities from contirguoperation: $(50.9) $(15.4) $(2.4)

Cash paid for acquisitions and contingequésition consideration accounted for the mostifigant outlays for investing activities the
years 2006 and 2007 as a result of the implementafi our strategies to diversify our business &fdlcusing on our core competencies. Tt
acquisitions included Haverstick in 2007 and MRQ@®6. In 2008, our acquisitions were primarilyded with the issuance of stock;
consequently the cash paid for acquisitions in 2@0&8es to transaction costs paid for Havers®&kS and DFlI, less cash acquired from DFI
and SYS of $6.3 million.
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Investing activities in 2006 and 2007 areduded proceeds of $18.9 million and $57.3 milli@spectively, directly attributable to our <
of our discontinued operations. In 2008, we rea$2.4 million in final payment of the note relatedhe working capital adjustment for the
sale of our domestic wireless engineering busites€C which was offset by payments to Platinum iBgfor the working capital adjustment
related to the sale of our domestic wireless depkayt business.

Capital expenditures consist primarilymféstment in computer hardware and software andovement of our physical properties in
order to maintain suitable conditions to conductmusiness.

Cash provided by financing activities fraontinuing operations are summarized as followsrilions):

2006 2007 2008

Financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common st $04 & — $—
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under ereplstock purchase pl — — 0.2
Borrowings under credit facilit 85.C 88.t 7.9
Repayments under credit facili (34.00 (64.00 (4.9
Repayment of capital lease obligatic (0.3 (0.4 (0.2
Debt issuance cos (2.2) (3.0) (0.5

Net cash provided by financing activities from doning operation: $49¢ $21.1 $28

In October 2006 we replaced a previoustyotiated credit facility of $15 million with KeyB&rNational Association with a new credit
facility of $85.0 million from KeyBank to fund thecquisition of MRC. During 2007, we entered int@tamendments to our credit facility, ¢
in March and the other in June, which reducedake facility to $35 million as a result of the dititures of our wireless network services
businesses. In December 2007, we successfully iatgda new $85.0 million credit facility with Ké8ank, which was used primarily to fund

the Haverstick acquisition. In 2008, we utilizee December 2007 credit facility to fund acquisitamsts associated with the acquisitions of
SYS and DFI.

Proceeds from the issuance of common sto2R06 are related to the exercise of employeekstptions. In 2008, we reactivated our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) and receiyedxamately $0.2 million as payment for the issumn€ common stock under this plan.

Cash provided by (used in) discontinuedratp@ens are summarized as follows (in millions):

2006 2007 2008

Operating cash flow $74 $0.2 $(1.])
Investing cash flow (6.6) (1.6 —
Financing cash flow 0.1 — —
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equis: 2.7 — —

Net cash flows of discontinued operati $3.6 $1.49 $(1.1

Investing cash flow consists of capital @xgitures incurred by our wireless network servesgment. Financing cash flows is the rest
proceeds received on the exercise of stock opbgriee wireless network services employees.

50




Table of Contents
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no material off-balance sheet gearents as defined in Regulation S-K, Item 303}jéj)4
Contractual Obligations and Commitments

In connection with our business acquisiione have agreed to make additional future paysiergellers based on final purchase price
adjustments and the expiration of certain inderoatfon obligations. Pursuant to the provisionsBAS 141, such amounts are accrued, and
therefore, recorded when the contingency is resiobeyond a reasonable doubt and, hence, the atlitonsideration becomes payable. In
2007, we paid $4.6 million of working capital adjugnts and approximately $4.3 million of the holclbbamounts to the former MRC
shareholders in accordance with the Purchase AgneerAs of December 28, 2008, we have approxim&gly million of cash holdback
amounts that will be released subject to indemmigiyts due for the MRC and Haverstick acquisitiofise MRC holdback of approximately
$2.5 million was originally due in April 2008 ankii$ date has been extended to provide additioma to resolve outstanding indemnification
obligations. We expect to make this payment in 2008n the indemnification obligation has been neswlunless the amount of our claim
exceeds the amount of the holdback. The Haverktitdtback of $1.2 million has scheduled releasediat®ecember 2008 and September
2009. The holdback payment due in December 200&wesade pending the resolution of an outstanglidgmnification claim. The holdba
arrangements accrue interest in accordance wittethes of the purchase agreements.

On December 31, 2007, we entered into ditcfecility of $85.0 million with KeyBanc Capitdflarkets which replaced the October 2,
2006 credit agreement with Key Bank. This creditlfy provides for two term loans consisting ofisst lien term note of $50.0 million and a
second lien term note of $10.0 million, as welbdgst lien $25 million revolving line of credithe $10.0 million term loan has a five and one
half-year term with principal payments of $25,0@quired quarterly beginning on March 31, 2008 tgtoMarch 31, 2013 with the final
balance of $9.5 million due on June 30, 2013. TB@&million term loan has a five year term witinpipal payments of $0.6 million required
quarterly beginning on March 31, 2008, $1.3 millior2009, $2.5 million in 2010, and $4.1 million2011 and 2012. The term loans have a
provision which states that once the full amounthefnote has been borrowed, the notes cannotibelpan and reborrowed again. The
revolving line of credit has a four year term whetpires on December 31, 2011 and contains praadigpical in such arrangements. All lo
under the new credit facility have an interest exjaal to a base rate defined as a fluctuatingpat@annum equal to the higher of (a) the
Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5% and (b) the rateterfdst in effect for such day as publicly annourftenh time to time by KeyBank as its
"prime rate" plus a margin for the term loans &v6.to 7.5% and a margin of 1.0% to 3.25% on thelxéwg line of credit. The applicable
margin at date of borrowing is determined by th@raf our aggregate debt to our EBITDA for thepoeis four fiscal quarters. We used the
credit facility to fund the acquisition of Haverdtiand to retire the outstanding debt from the Get®006 agreement. The credit facility is
collateralized by the assets of the Company.

In March 2008, we entered into a tentatigeeement to settle the 2004 and 2007 securitiss elction litigation actions (described in
Part Il, Item 1 Legal Proceedings), and as a reaetrecorded a $4.9 million charge in the quasteted December 31, 2007 to accrue our ¢
of the settlement amounts, and an estimate fontrgent liability associated with legal proceedinglated to the derivative actions, net of the
amounts to be covered by our insurance carriers. éansequence of recording this legal settlenventlid not meet certain of the financial
covenants in accordance with the credit agreendebrdingly, on March 27, 2008, we obtained an admesnt and waiver from our lenders to
waive the impact of the legal settlement amounteunrfinancial covenants as of December 31, 20@7tlaa affected future periods. The
amendment also amended the credit agreement tadprfor an increase in the LIBOR floor rate to 428nd to require that we set
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aside in a restricted account approximately 50%hefproceeds of the recovery from the theft oflstations by our former stock option
administrator, or approximately $1.7 million, tonflithese settlement amounts. In April 2008, westiemed $1.7 million to a restricted cash
account and in July 2008, we transferred an additi$0.6 million that we received from the insurarriers as settlement on the theft of
stock options to this restricted account. The lemthave also reserved the right to require usiliaeithe entire amount of the $3.4 million in
proceeds received from the theft of stock optiengermanently pay down indebtedness. This rightoesaexercised no earlier than 60 days
from March 27, 2008 and expires upon our compliamitle financial covenants under the credit agreerf@mnthe four consecutive quarters
commencing after January 1, 2008. The cost relat¢tis amendment was recorded as deferred fingrooats.

On June 26, 2008, we entered into a seaomehdment to our credit facility in order to obtalranges necessary to complete the merger
with SYS. The amendment specifically approves agumption of the unsecured subordinated convenibies issued by SYS as subordinated
debt under the credit facility provided that a sulimation agreement is obtained from the note hrsldepresenting no less than 95% of the
aggregate principal amount of all subordinated s\0f&is condition was satisfied in July 2008. Idligidn, the amendment provides for an add-
back for amounts representing actual transactistsdocurred by an acquired entity in the compatatif Consolidated EBITDA, as defined in
the credit agreement, in any acquisition in whi®b% of the purchase price is paid by our equityigges.

As of December 28, 2008, we had outstandonyertible notes payable which were acquiredhasesult of the SYS acquisition totaling
$3.1 million, of which $0.8 million was payablerelated parties. The convertible notes payableiasecured and subordinate to our bank debt
and bear interest at 10% per annum payable quarknihcipal is due February 14, 2009 and the natesonvertible at any time into shares of
common stock at a conversion rate of $2.86 pereshar

In February 2009, in the interest of pres®y our cash due to the current macroeconomicitiond, we provided each note holder with
the option to:

(1) be paid cash in accordance with ttgiral agreement;

(2) extend the note for an additionahd@ths at the existing 10% rate and modify the eosien feature to the lower of the
existing conversion price of $2.86 per share okratos closing share value on February 13, 2009; o

(3) convert the principal balance int@tGs shares at the lower of the existing convergiae of $2.86 or the Kratos closing
share value on February 13, 2009 less a 10% discoun

As of February 28, 2009, $1.8 million oéthotes have been paid, $1.0 million of the note®been extended to August 14, 2010, and
$25,000 have been converted to common shares. idafl@pproximately $0.2 million of the notes haat responded.

On July 16, 2008, we came to an agreeméhtRlatinum Equity on a working capital adjustmeh$5.0 million. The adjustment was to
be paid in installments with the first amount of%illion due on July 31, 2008 and payments o5$8illion monthly thereafter until paid in
full in December 2008. We did not make the scheti§®5 million payment due as of July 31, 2008;megts of $1.0 million were made in
August and September 2008, respectively, and $0lmwas paid in December 2008. As of DecemberZt®8, the balance of $2.5 million,
plus accrued interest on the payments outstantdasgbeen reflected in other current liabilitieshiea accompanying consolidated balance st

Other Liquidity Matters

We intend to fund our cash requirements wésh flows from operating activities, and bormogs under our current credit facilities and
potential future credit facilities. We believe thesources should
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be sufficient to meet our cash needs for at ldeshext 12 months. We expect that the acquirechbases of SYS and DFI, which were not
included in our 2008 cash flows until the date afusition will contribute additional working capitand cash flows. In 2008, we paid
approximately $4.8 million related to the 2004 2887 securities litigation settlements, as disaligséNote 17—Legal Matters to the audited
consolidated financial statements included in Ifésvof Part IV of this Annual Report. This amountsygartially funded by $2.2 million from
the restricted cash account we were required td &sa result of the first amendment to our curcesdit facility. We expect to be reimbursed
for $0.6 million of the payment related to the 2G@¢urities litigation settlement by our insuranaerier by the final settlement date of the
litigation, which is anticipated during the firstlhof 2009. We also funded $5.5 million in 2008 Fegal fees incurred on our internal stock
option investigation which we completed in 2007attdition, if we become subject to significant jodents, settlements, or fines related to the
matters discussed in Note 17 Legal Matters, orahgr matters, or incur legal fees in excess ofcourent expectations, we could be required
to make significant payments that could materiatigl adversely affect our financial condition, pdiegty impacting our ability to access the
capital markets and our compliance with our debtoants.

As discussed in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk feast of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our quegt@nd annual operating results have
fluctuated in the past and may vary in the future tb a variety of factors, many of which are exé¢to our control. If the conditions in our
industry deteriorate or our customers cancel otpgooe projects or if we are unable to sufficientigrease our revenues or further reduce our
expenses, or if there is a real likelihood of comithg resolutions in 2009 for civilian and DOD agies, we may experience, in the future, a
significant longterm negative impact to our financial results aashcflows from operations. In such a situationcaveld fall out of complianc
with our financial and other covenants which, if maived, could limit our liquidity and capital msrces and we could be unable to make a
scheduled debt payment. As of December 28, 2008yave in compliance with all financial covenantslenthe credit agreements.

We currently carry a significant amountlebt and have experienced recurring losses andinegash flows from continuing operations.
Given the highly leveraged liquidity position, atigwn-turn in our operating earnings or cash floasld impair our ability to comply with the
financial covenants of our existing credit faciliur ability to execute on additional businessarpmities may be limited due to existing
borrowing capacity. If we believe a covenant vimatis more than likely to occur in the near futuse would seek relief from our lenders. 1
relief, if available, would have some cost to ud anch relief might not be on terms as favorabléhase in the existing credit agreement. If we
were to actually default due to our failure to mibet financial covenants of our credit agreemedtiaability to obtain a waiver from the
lenders, our credit agreement could require umtoediately repay all amounts then outstanding utidecredit agreement and/or require us to
pay interest at default rates per the credit ages¢m

In the event we were required to repayatm@unt outstanding under the existing credit fggilve would need to obtain alternative sou
of financing to continue our operating activitigeaisting levels. There can be no assurance ttehative financing would be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

The credit agreements contain covenantsiwiipose certain restrictions on our ability tmamg other things, incur additional debt, pay
dividends, make investments or sell assets. Additlg, certain non-recurring cash inflows such excpeds from asset sales, insurance
recoveries, and equity offerings may have to bel tisgay down indebtedness and may not be rebodolweaddition, the credit agreements
contain certain financial covenants which are defiby the terms of the agreements. These finaocoianants include a maximum first lien
leverage ratio, a maximum total leverage ratioimmum liquidity ratio, a minimum fixed charge caage ratio, and a minimum consolidated
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EBITDA at various dates for the $50.0 million telman and the $25.0 million revolver as outlinedhe following table.

Minimum

Maximum Maximum Minimum Consolidated

First Lien Total Minimum Fixed Charge EBITDA
Date Leverage Ratio Leverage Ratio Liquidity Ratio Coverage Ratio (in millions)
2008 3.22t04.76:1.C 3.76t05.68:1.C 1.56t01.33:1.C 1.05t00.50:1.C $16.1 to $19.
2009 2971t02.33:1.C 2.78t03.50:1.C 160t01.58:1.C 1.11t01.02:1.C $19.8to $21.
2010 1.751t02.00:1.C 2.25t02.50:1.C 154t01.49:1.C 1.10to1.06:1.C $21.5to $23.
2011 1.75:1.0 2.25:1.00 1.55t01.53:1.C 1.10:1.00 $24.4 to $26.
2012 1.75:1.0¢ 2.25:1.00 1.421t01.54:1.C 1.10:1.00 $26.7 to $27.

The $10.0 million subordinated term loasogbrovides for similar financial covenants.

As of December 28, 2008, our outstandingrize on the facility was $78.8 million and the gteed average interest rate on the debt
borrowed during 2008 was 10.66%. This includes $8ilBon of interest expense and financing costatszl to the December 31, 2007 facility.
The replacement of the October 2006 facility re=xuin a write-off of $1.0 million in deferred finaimg costs. We have $2.4 million in deferred
financing costs outstanding as of December 28, 2@t8h are related to the new facility and are geamortized over the four, five and five
and one half-year life of the respective underlyioges.

On February 11, 2008, we entered into therévative financial instruments with Key Bankremluce our exposure to its variable interest
rates on its outstanding debt. These instrumeitalip hedged $70 million of its LIBOR-based flag rate debt with the amounts hedged
decreasing over time. The derivatives mature oncM&1d, 2010 and March 31, 2011 and result in ansaeefixed rate of 3.16% for the term
the agreements. Initially, we designated theseunsnts as cash flow hedges. In March 2008, asudt i&f the amendment to our credit
facility, which included a LIBOR floor rate of 4.2 we determined that these instruments were rgelohighly effective as a hedge. The net
loss associated with the derivatives for the twahanths ended December 28, 2008 was $1.7 millioturE gains and losses on these
derivative instruments will continue to be recogmizn our Consolidated Statement of Operations.

The following table summarizes our currgmkisting contractual obligations and other commeihts at December 28, 2008, and the effect
such obligations could have on our liquidity andtcélow in future periods (in millions):

Payments due/forecast by Period

2014 anc
Total 2009 20102011 2012201 _ After

Debt, net of interest(l $81¢ $5¢ $ 461 $ 29¢ $ —
Capital leases(t 2.C 0.4 0.8 0.6 0.2
Estimated interest on debt( 26.1 9.3 13.€ 3.0 0.0
Other liabilities(3) 3.7 3.7 — — —
Purchase orders(: 34.7 31.: 2.3 0.5 0.6
Operating leases( 19.4 8.C 8.4 2.6 0.4
Unrecognized tax benefits, including interest aadgities(6 2.4 0.8 0.8 0.C 0.8
Total commitments and recorded liabilit $170.z $59.4 $ 722 $ 36.€ $ 2.C

(@B The Key Bank Credit Facility. The payments showa @ur present forecast which contemplates that iNg@ay off the Key Banlk
Credit Facility by the due date of June 2013. ¢&tés to Consolidated Financial Statements" Ndte Turther details.
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2) Includes interest payments based on current inteatss for variable rate debt and fixed rate deisied upon our swap arrangements.
See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement$e Mdor further details.

3) Primarily the obligations under the working cap#djustment clause and holdback payments relatdtetacquisition of MRC and
Haverstick. See "Notes to Consolidated Financiatedtents” Note 5 for further details.

(4)  Purchase orders include commitments in which aevripurchase order has been issued to a vendahégbods have not be
received or services have not been performed.

(5) See "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements& Rdor further details.

(6) The FIN 48 obligations shown in the above tableespent certain uncertain tax positions. The yaarsvhich the uncertain tax positic
will reverse have been estimated in schedulingtiiigations in the table above.

As of December 28, 2008 we have $1.5 mmiltid standby letters of credit outstanding. Outelest of credit are related to our prior workers
compensation program, as support for our perform&ond program and for our work overseas. Additiorfarmation regarding our financial
commitments at December 28, 2008 is provided imtites to our consolidated financial statements."Sletes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note 16—Commitments and Contingencies."

Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates

We have identified the following criticad@unting policies that affect our more significardgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statemenhe preparation of our financial statementsoimfarmity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ameagcgiires us to make estimates and judgments tfestt difie reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, stockholders' equity, revenues andemges, and related disclosures of contingent aasdtBabilities. On a periodic basis, as dee
necessary, we evaluate our estimates, includirgethelated to revenue recognition, allowance fabtfol accounts, valuation of long-lived
assets including identifiable intangibles and goiigaccounting for income taxes including the tethvaluation allowance, accruals for partial
self-insurance, contingencies and litigation andtiogent acquisition consideration. We explain éhascounting policies in the notes to the
audited consolidated financial statements andletaat sections in this discussion and analysigs€hestimates are based on the information
that is currently available and on various othauagptions that are believed to be reasonable uhdearircumstances. Actual results could vary
from those estimates under different assumptiort®nditions.

Revenue recognition. We generate almost all of our revenue fromeldiéferent types of contractual arrangements:-past-fee
contracts, time-and-materials contracts, and figede contracts. Revenue on cost-plus-fee contiscexognized to the extent of allowable
costs incurred plus an estimate of the applicad#s Barned. We consider fixed fees under costfpiisentracts to be earned in proportion to
the allowable costs incurred in performance ofdbetract. We recognize the relevant portion ofdkpected fee to be awarded by the custc
at the time such fee can be reasonably estimassedoon factors such as our prior award experiandeeommunications with the customer
regarding performance, including any interim parfance evaluations rendered by the customer. Revemtime-and-material contracts is
recognized to the extent of billable rates timesrbalelivered for services provided, to the extémhaterial cost for products delivered to
customers, and to the extent of expenses incumrdgkbalf of the customers.

We have three basic categories of fixedgpcontracts: fixed unit price, fixed price-levéledfort, and fixed price-completion. Revenue
recognition methods on fixed-price contracts wdty depending on the nature of the work and théraonterms. Revenues on fixed-price
service contracts are
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recorded as work is performed in accordance widff @tccounting Bulletin 104 Revenue Recognitidn(SAB 104). SAB 104 generally
requires revenue to be deferred until all of tHef@ng have occurred: (1) there is a contractlacp, (2) delivery has occurred, (3) the price is
fixed or determinable, and (4) collectibility isasonably assured. Revenues on fixed-price contitzatsequire delivery of specific items may
be recorded based on a price per unit as unitdedieered. Revenue for fixed price contracts inakhive are paid a specific amount to provide
services for a stated period of time is recognizdbly over the service period.

A portion of our fixed price-completion deacts are within the scope of SOP 81-1. For tloesdracts revenue is recognized using the
percentage-of-completion method based on the oétiotal costs incurred to date compared to es@hédtal costs to complete the contract.
Estimates of costs to complete include materiagadilabor, overhead, and allowable general andrasirative expenses for our government
contracts. These cost estimates are reviewed fanegéssary, revised monthly on a contract-by-emttpasis. If, as a result of this review, we
determine that a loss on a contract is probabén the full amount of estimated loss is chargeapkrations in the period it is determined th:
is probable a loss will be realized from the fudrfprmance of the contract. In certain instancesticth it is impractical to estimate the final
outcome of the project margin, but it is certaiattive will not incur a loss on the project, we magord revenue equal to cost incurred, at zero
margin. In the event that our cost incurred to adadg be in excess of our funded contract valuemag defer those costs until the associated
contract value has been funded by the customere @recfinal estimate of the outcome of the profeatgin is determined, we will record
revenue using the percentage-of-completion metti@d@unting based on the ratio of total costsiirezlito date compared to the estimated
total costs to complete the project.

Significant management judgments and es¢ispancluding but not limited to the estimatedtsds complete projects, must be made and
used in connection with the revenue recognizecdhjnaecounting period. A cancellation, schedule ylaia modification of a fixed-price
contract which is accounted for using the percesvafgcompletion method may adversely affect ousgnmargins for the period in which the
contract is modified or cancelled. Under certangwinstances, a cancellation or negative modificatimuld result in us having to reverse
revenue that we recognized in a prior period, #igsificantly reducing the amount of revenues weognize for the period in which the
adjustment is made. Correspondingly, a positiveifitadion may positively affect our gross margifrsaddition, a schedule delay or
modifications can result in an increase in estithatest to complete the project, which would alsuhein an impact to our gross margin.
Material differences may result in the amount amdrig of our revenue for any period if managemeatimdifferent judgments or utilized
different estimates.

It is the our policy to review any arrangarcontaining software or software deliverabled services against the criteria contained in
SOP 97-2)Software Revenue Recognitiarend related technical practice aids. Under tleipions of SOP 97-2 we review the contract value
of software deliverables and services and deteralineations of the contract value based on Veigpmcific Objective Evidence ("VSOE").

All software arrangements requiring significantguotion, modification, or customization of the sadte are accounted for in conformity with
ARB 45, using the relevant guidance in SOP 81-1.

Our contracts may include the provisiomafre than one of our services. In these situatimesapply the guidance of FASB's Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 00-R&venue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverablescordingly, for applicable arrangements, revenue
recognition includes the proper identification eparate units of accounting and the allocatioreeénue across all elements based on relative
fair values, with proper consideration given to ¢lugdance provided by other authoritative literatur
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Under certain of our contractual arrangetsieme may also recognize revenue for out-of-poekpenses in accordance with EITF 01-14
“Income Statement Characterization of ReimbursesnBeteived for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurredgdnding on the contractual
arrangement, these expenses may be reimbursedmitithout a fee.

Under certain of our contracts, we proddeplier procurement services and materials forcagtomers. The Company records revent
these arrangements on a gross or net basis indacom® with EITF 99-19, "Reporting Revenue Gross Bsincipal versus Net as an Agent,”
depending on the specific circumstances of thengament. We consider the following criteria, amottgers, for recording revenue on a gross
or net basis:

(1) Whether we act as a principal intila@saction;

(2) Whether we take title to the products

(3) Whether we assume risks and rewairdsvaership, such as risk of loss for collectioaliery or returns;
(4) Whether we serve as an agent or yekieh compensation on a commission or fee basid;

(5) Whether we assume the credit riskieramount billed to the customer subsequentlteetg.

For our federal contracts, we follow U.8vgrnment procurement and accounting standardssigsaing the allowability and the
allocability of costs to contracts. Due to the gigance of the judgments and estimation processeslikely that materially different amounts
could be recorded if we used different assumptmrnisthe underlying circumstances were to chaWge.closely monitor compliance with, and
the consistent application of, our critical accaugipolicies related to contract accounting. Busineperations personnel conduct periodic
contract status and performance reviews. When gu@rds in estimated contract revenues or costeegrered, any significant changes from
prior estimates are included in earnings in theentrperiod. Also, regular and recurring evaluaiohcontract cost, scheduling and technical
matters are performed by management personnel rehiodependent from the business operations pees@anforming work under the
contract. Costs incurred and allocated to contnaittsthe U.S. government are scrutinized for cdemate with regulatory standards by our
personnel, and are subject to audit by the DCAA.

From time to time, we may proceed with wbdsed on client direction prior to the completo signing of formal contract documents.
We have a formal review process for approving archavork. Revenue associated with such work isgeieged only when it can be reliably
estimated and realization is probable. We basestimates on previous experiences with the cl@mtmunications with the client regarding
funding status, and our knowledge of available fagdor the contract or program.

Allowance for doubtful accounts.We maintain an allowance for doubtful accodatestimated losses resulting from the potential
inability of certain customers to make requiredifatpayments on amounts due to us. Managementrde&s the adequacy of this allowance
by periodically evaluating the aging and past dateire of individual customer accounts receivablardizes and considering the customer's
current financial situation as well as the existimgustry economic conditions and other relevaotdis that would be useful towards assessing
the risk of collectibility. If the future financiaondition of our customers were to deterioratsylteng in their inability to make specific
required payments, additions to the allowance &ardful accounts may be required. In additionhéd financial condition of our customers
improves and collections of amounts outstandingroence or are reasonably assured, then we may egpergiously established allowances
for doubtful accounts. Changes to estimates ofraohvalue are recorded as adjustments to revemlieat as a component
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of the allowance for doubtful accounts. We writéaafcounts receivable when they become uncollectbd payments subsequently received
on such receivables are credited to the allowaocddubtful accounts.

Long-lived and Intangible AssetsWe account for long-lived assets in accordamitle the provisions of SFAS 14Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Lor-Lived Asset§'SFAS 144"). SFAS 144 addresses financial accagrand reporting for the impairment or
disposal of long-lived assets. This Statement reguhat long-lived assets be reviewed for impairtmehenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amousnoisset may not be recoverable. Recoverabilitye@sured by comparing the carrying
amount of an asset to the expected future netftmsh generated by the asset. If it is determired the asset may not be recoverable and
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimategdlue, an impairment charge is recognized ¢oetktent of the difference. SFAS 144
requires companies to separately report discordilmgperations, including components of an entity #ither have been disposed of (by sale,
abandonment or in a distribution to owners) orsiféedd as held for sale. Assets to be disposedeofeported at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.

In accordance with SFAS 144, we assesBrthairment of identifiable intangibles and longdd/assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. Factors we consider importdmttwcould individually or in combinatic
trigger an impairment review include the following:

. significant underperformance relative to expectstbhical or projected future operating resu

. significant changes in the manner of our use ofttgiired assets or the strategy for our overalinass
. significant negative industry or economic trends;

. significant decline in our stock price for a susé period; and

. our market capitalization relative to net book ea

If we determined that the carrying valuéméngibles and long-lived assets may not be rexahle based upon the existence of one or
more of the above indicators of impairment, we waelcord an impairment equal to the excess of éingying amount of the asset over its
estimated fair value.

On a quarterly basis, we assess whethert®wee changes in circumstances have occurregttantially indicate the carrying value of
long-lived assets may not be recoverable.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible AssetsThe purchase price of an acquired businedtoisaged to the underlying tangible and
intangible assets acquired and liabilities assubasegd upon their respective fair market valued thi¢ excess recorded as goodwill. Such fair
market value assessments require judgments amdages that can be affected by contract performandeother factors over time, which may
cause final amounts to differ materially from onigl estimates. For acquisitions completed througbdinber 28, 2008, adjustments to fair
value assessments are recorded to goodwill ovgrutehase price allocation period (typically noteading twelve months). Adjustments
related to income tax uncertainties through DeceriBe2008, were also recorded to goodwiill.

We have established certain accruals imeotion with indemnities and other contingenciesfrour acquisitions. These accruals and
subsequent adjustments have been recorded dugrmutbhase price allocation period for acquisitidrtee accruals were determined based
upon the terms of the purchase or sales agreeraed{sn most cases, involve a significant degrgaagment. Management has recorded tl
accruals in accordance with its interpretationhef terms of the purchase or sale
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agreements, known facts, and an estimation of jleldature events based on management's experience.

We perform impairment tests for goodwillths last day of our fiscal year, or when evideofcpotential impairment exists. When it is
determined that impairment has occurred, a charg@érations is recorded. In order to test for pidéimpairment, the company uses a
discounted cash flow analysis, corroborated by aratpve market multiples where appropriate. Advergpeity market conditions and the
resulting decline in current market multiples ahd tompany's stock price as of December 28, 2G0& ted to a goodwill impairment charge
totaling $105.8 million in our Government Soluticsegment. We will continue to monitor the recovéitgtof the carrying value of its
goodwill and other long-lived assets. Given corgithsignificant decline in the stock market in gahand specifically our stock price in 2009,
we believe it is more likely than not that this twbhe an indication of additional goodwill impairmeand could potentially result in a triggeri
event under SFAS 142 and an additional goodwilldimpent charge in the first quarter of 2009.

The principal factors used in the discodrdash flow analysis requiring judgment are thggmted results of operations, weighted average
cost of capital (WACC), and terminal value assuommi The WACC takes into account the relative wisigii each component of the
company's consolidated capital structure (equity debt) and represents the expected cost of neitatagjusted as appropriate to consider
lower risk profiles associated with longer term traats and barriers to market entry. The termimdll® assumptions are applied to the final
year of the discounted cash flow model. Due tontla@y variables inherent in the estimation of amess's fair value and the relative size of
company's recorded goodwill, differences in assionptmay have a material effect on the resulthefcompany's impairment analysis.

Accounting for income taxes and tax comimges. In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interprera#8, "Accounting for Uncertainty
in Income Taxes" ("Interpretation 48"). Interpré&at48 clarifies the accounting for uncertaintyrinome taxes recognized in an enterprise's
financial statements in accordance with SFAS 188counting for Income Taxedriterpretation 48 prescribes a recognition threslaold
measurement attribute for the financial statemecdgnition and measurement of a tax position takezxpected to be taken in a tax return.
Interpretation 48 also provides guidance on denaitiog, classification, interest and penalties,aoting in interim periods, disclosure and
transition. We adopted the provisions of Interpieta48 effective January 1, 2007.

As part of the process of preparing oursotidated financial statements we are requiredtionate our provision for income taxes in each
of the tax jurisdictions in which we conduct busigeThis process involves estimating our actuakotitax expense in conjunction with the
evaluation and measurement of temporary differeregdting from differing treatment of certain itefior tax and accounting purposes. These
temporary differences result in the establishménieferred tax assets and liabilities, which amrded on a net basis and included in our
consolidated balance sheet. We then assess ofodipédrasis the probability that our net deferrax assets will be recovered and, therefore
realized from future taxable income and to the mixtee believe that recovery is not more likely thmam, a valuation allowance is established to
address such risk resulting in an additional rela®vision for income taxes during the period.

Significant management judgment is requiredetermining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, tax
contingencies, unrecognized tax benefits, and aqyired valuation allowance, including taking istmsideration the probability of the tax
contingencies being incurred. Management assesisgarobability based upon information provideditoby our tax advisors, our legal
advisors and similar tax cases. If at a later meassessment of the probability of these taxiegancies changes, our accrual for such tax
uncertainties may increase or decrease.

We have a valuation allowance at DecemBefQ08, due to management's overall assessmerksfand uncertainties related to our
future ability to realize and, hence, utilize cartdeferred tax
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assets, primarily consisting of net operating lessarry forward temporary differences and futasedeductions resulting from certain types of
stock option exercises, before they expire.

The 2008 effective tax rate at Decembe2P®8 for annual and interim reporting periods ddeg impacted if uncertain tax positions that
are not recognized at December 28, 2008 are seittled amount which differs from our estimate. Fjnauring 2009, if we are impacted by a
change in the valuation allowance as of Decembg2@@8 resulting from a change in judgment regaydie realizability of deferred tax ass
beyond December 28, 2008, such effect will be razagl in the interim period in which the changewsc

Accrual for partial self-insurance. We maintain an accrual for our health and wark®mpensation partial self-insurance, which is a
component of total accrued expenses in the coraelicbalance sheets. Management determines theaaegf these accruals based on a
monthly evaluation of our historical experience &mehds related to both medical and workers comgt@nsclaims and payments, information
provided to us by our insurance broker, industnyezience and average lag period in which claimgaig. If such information indicates that
our accruals require adjustment, we will, correslogly, revise the assumptions utilized in our noellogies and reduce or provide for
additional accruals as deemed appropriate. Wecalsy stop-loss insurance that provides coveragititig our total exposure related to each
medical and workers compensation claim incurrediedimed in the applicable insurance policies. friealical and workers compensation lin
per claim are $50,000 and $250,000, respectively.

Contingencies and litigation. We are currently involved in certain legal predings. We estimate a range of liability relategending
litigation where the amount and range of loss aaediimated. We record our estimate of a loss whefoss is considered probable and
estimable. Where a liability is probable and thisra range of estimated loss and no amount inathger is more likely than any other number in
the range, we record the minimum estimated ligbitdated to the claim in accordance with SFASAgcounting for ContingenciesAs
additional information becomes available, we astiesgotential liability related to our pendingddtion and revise our estimates. Revisions in
our estimates of potential liability could matelyampact our results of operations. See Paremi3 "Legal Proceedings" for additional
information.

Share-Based PaymentsWe account for share-based compensation amagngs in accordance with the provisions of Statéroén
Financial Accounting Standards 123R ("SFAS 123BNare-Based Paymentsyhich requires the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based paymemtiawo employees and directors based on estirfaitedalues..

The valuation provisions of SFAS 123R applyew awards and to awards that are outstandinpeeffective date and subsequently
modified or cancelled. We use the Black-Schole®aptaluation model to estimate the fair value of stock options at the grant date. The
Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed feringstimating the fair value of traded optionsolithave no vesting restrictions ¢
are fully transferable. Our employee stock optiaresgenerally subject to vesting restrictions anedg@nerally not transferable.

Option pricing models require the inpubajhly subjective assumptions including the expgst®ck price volatility over the term of the
award, the expected life of an option and the nurobawards ultimately expected to vest. Changdbése assumptions can materially affect
the fair value estimates of an option. Furthermtire estimated fair value of an option does noeasarily represent the value that will
ultimately be realized by an employee. We usedlitsil data to estimate the expected forfeiture, ratrinsic and historical data to estimate
the expected price volatility, and a weighted-ageraxpected life formula to estimate the expecfgbo life. The risk-free rate is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegadnt for the estimated life of the option.
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Estimates of share-based compensation sgpere significant to our consolidated finandialesnents, but these expenses are based on
option valuation models and will never result ie layment of cash by us. For this reason, and bea&e do not view share-based
compensation as related to our operational perfoceave exclude estimated share-based compensxpemse when evaluating the business
performance of our operating segments.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS "Fair Value Measurements(SFAS 157) which is effective for fiscal years beghg
after November 15, 2007 and for interim periodshimithose years. This statement defines fair vadagblishes a framework for measuring
fair value and expands the related disclosure reménts. This statement applies under other acicguptonouncements that require or permit
fair value measurements. The statement indicatesng other things, that a fair value measuremesurass that the transaction to sell an asset
or transfer a liability occurs in the principal rkef for the asset or liability or, in the absenta principal market, the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. SFAS 157 defifeds value based upon an exit price model. RedattivSFAS 157, the FASB issued FASB
Staff Positions (FSP) 157-1, 157-2, and 157-3. ESR1 amends SFAS 157 to exclude SFAS 13 andléteckinterpretive accounting
pronouncements that address leasing transactidmilg, RSP 157-2 delays the effective date of SFABfbS all nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities, except those that areogatized or disclosed at fair value in the finansiatements on a recurring basis. FSP 157-3
clarifies the principles in SFAS 157 on the faitbeameasurement of assets when the market foaisat is not active. The Company adopted
SFAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, with the exceptfdhe application of the statement to non-recgrnienfinancial assets and nonfinancial
liabilities. Refer to Note 10 to the Consolidatdéddncial Statements for additional discussion anvalue measurements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 1b8e Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and &itial Liabilities—Including an
amendment of FASB Statement 11SFAS 159) which is effective for fiscal years bredng after November 15, 2007. This statement psrmi
entities to choose to measure many financial insénts and certain other items at fair value. Ttatesnent also establishes presentation and
disclosure requirements designed to facilitate canspns between entities that choose different nreasent attributes for similar types of
assets and liabilities. Unrealized gains and lossdgems for which the fair value option is eletteould be reported in earnings. The Comg
has adopted SFAS 159 as of January 1, 2008 aneldéited not to measure any additional financidtimsents or other items at fair value.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 18LlRiness Combinationr SFAS 141R. SFAS 141R establishes principlels an
requirements for how the acquirer of a businessgeizes and measures in its financial statementgitmtifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in theliaeq. The statement also provides guidance fargrizing and measuring the goodwill
acquired in the business combination and determvitneg information to disclose to enable usersmdiicial statements to evaluate the nature
and financial effects of the business combinat®FAS 141R is effective for financial statementsiéskfor fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. Accordingly, any business coatlzins we engaged in were recorded and disclosamtding to SFAS 141Business
Combinations until December 29, 2008. We expect SFAS 141Rhgille an impact on our consolidated financial siatgs, but the nature
and magnitude of the specific effects will depepdmuthe nature, terms and size of the acquisitiensonsummate after the effective date of
December 29, 2008.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS M@dcontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&htements—an amendment of
Accounting Research Bulletin |, or SFAS 160. SFAS 160 addresses the accountohgeporting standards for ownership interests in
subsidiaries held by parties other than the patkatamount of consolidated net income attributédlibie parent and to the noncontrolling
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interest, changes in a parent's ownership intesestthe valuation of retained noncontrolling egiivestments when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. SFAS 160 also establishes disdasguirements that clearly identify and distinguigtween the interests of the parent and
the interests of the noncontrolling owners. SFAS isteffective for fiscal years beginning after Petber 15, 2008. We are currently
evaluating the impact of SFAS 160, but do not ekfiez adoption to have a material impact on ousobidated financial statements.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP 14D8termination of the Useful Life of Intangible Alsseor FSP 142-3, which amends the factors
that should be considered in developing renewaktension assumptions used to determine the uffefof a recognized intangible asset ur
SFAS 142. This pronouncement requires enhancetbdiges concerning a company's treatment of costsried to renew or extend the term
of a recognized intangible asset. FSP 142-3 ictffefor financial statements issued for fiscahrgebeginning after December 15, 2008. We
are currently evaluating the impact of FSP 142u8,do not expect the adoption to have a materipbithon our consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 1Be Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Biptes,or SFAS 162. SFAS 162 identifies
the sources of accounting principles to be usebéampreparation of financial statements of hongowental entities that are presented in
conformity with generally accepted accounting pipfes, or GAAP, in the U.S. SFAS 162 is effectiviedays following the SEC approval of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amegts to AU Section 41The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity withr@eally
Accepted Accounting PrincipleWe currently adhere to the hierarchy of GAAP asented in SFAS 162, and adoption is not expectbde
a material impact on our consolidated financiaestents.

In December 2007, the FASB ratified EITBus 07-1Accounting for Collaborative Arrangementer EITF 07-1. EITF 07-1 focuses on
defining a collaborative arrangement as well asatteounting for transactions between participants ¢ollaborative arrangement and between
the participants in the arrangement and third earfThe EITF concluded that both types of transastshould be reported in each participant's
respective income statement. EITF 07-1 is effedtivdinancial statements issued for fiscal yeagibning after December 15, 2008, and
interim periods within those fiscal years and sddwe applied retrospectively to all prior periodsgented for all collaborative arrangements
existing as of the effective date. We are curreaetigiuating the impact of EITF 07-1, but do notestithe adoption to have a material impact
on our consolidated financial statements.

Related Party Transactions
For detailed information regarding relapadity transactions, see Note 15 of our consolidfiteahcial statements.
Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk

We are exposed to market risk in conneatith changes in interest rates, primarily in cactian with three outstanding interest rate
swaps which do not qualify for cash flow hedge aetimg and balances under our credit facility wkayBank National Association. Based on
our average outstanding balances during the yesrdeDecember 28, 2008 a 1% change in the LIBORwatéd impact our financial position
and results of operations by approximately $0.8ionilover the next year.

Cash and cash equivalents as of Decemh&028 were $3.2 million and are primarily investednoney market interest bearing
accounts. A hypothetical 10% adverse change iateeage interest rate on our money market casistiments and short-term investments
would have had no material effect on net incometieryear ended December 28, 2008.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this Item islided in Part IV Item 15(a)(1) and (2) of this Arah Report on Form 10-K.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcégnting and Financial Disclosure

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procesluas defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15¢hplgated under the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ("Exchange Ad¢€9igned to ensure that information required tdibelosed in our reports filed under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarizedegaited within the time periods specified in 8eturities and Exchange Commission's
rules and forms, and that such information is aadated and communicated to our management, inajualim Principal Executive Officer and
Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, taalltimely decisions regarding required disclostmedesigning and evaluating the disclosure
controls and procedures, management recognizeanlyatontrols and procedures, no matter how weligshed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desiredataijectives, and management necessarily wasnestjto apply its judgment in evaluating
the cost benefit relationship of possible conteoid procedures.

As required by Rule 13a-15(e) promulgatedar the Exchange Act, we carried out an evaluatioder the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Bipal Executive Officer and Principal Financial ©#fr, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procesias of the end of the period covered by thienteBased on the foregoing, our Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officesncluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere effective at the reasonable
assurance level as of December 28, 2008.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over FiriahReporting

Our management is responsible for estahlishnd maintaining adequate internal control diremcial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Urtte supervision and with the participation of cnanagement, including our Principal
Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officare conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessuointernal control over financial
reporting based on the frameworklinernal Control—Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe
Treadway Commission (COSO Framework). Based oretratuation, our management concluded that ourriateontrol over financial
reporting is effective as of December 28, 2008.

Because of its inherent limitations, inedroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeqaate because of changes in conditions or
that the degree of compliance with the policies pratedures may deteriorate.

Management's assessment over our inteométat over financial reporting has been auditedasgnt Thornton LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtreport appearing below, which expresses an difgaghopinion on management's assessr
and on the effectiveness of our internal contr@rdinancial reporting as of December 28, 2008.

On June 28, 2008, we completed the acgunsitf SYS Technologies (SYS) and, as permitte@B{ guidance, we excluded from our
assessment of the effectiveness of our interndtaloover financial reporting as of December 28)the internal control over financial
reporting of this entity. Total assets related ¥53f $69.9 million and $33.2 million of revenuasé the date of acquisition
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are included in our consolidated financial statetm@s of and for the year ended December 28, 20@%lan to integrate SYS's historical
internal control over financial reporting into cown internal control over financial reporting inGB Accordingly, certain changes will be m
to our internal control over financial reportingtilsuch time as this integration is complete.

On December 24, 2008 we completed the aitopni of Digital Fusion, Inc. (DFI) and, as pertai by SEC guidance, we excluded from
our assessment of the effectiveness of our intewrarol over financial reporting as of Decembey 2808, the internal control over financial
reporting of this entity. Total assets related &l Bf $46.9 million and no revenues are includedun consolidated financial statements as of
and for the year ended December 28, 2008. We plantegrate DFI's historical internal control o¥i@ancial reporting into our own internal
control over financial reporting in 2009. Accordingcertain changes will be made to our internailtoal over financial reporting until such
time as this integration is complete.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogtin

There were no changes in our internal abaiver financial accounting and reporting (as iledi in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the
Exchange Act) during the fourth quarter of thedisgear ended December 28, 2008 that have mayeaifiicted, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over fingalcreporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.

We have audited Kratos Defense & Securitjgt®ns, Inc. (a Delaware Corporation) and sulasids' (the "Company") internal control
over financial reporting as of December 28, 20@&eu on criteria establishedliriernal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission (COSO). The Company's managemeesnsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efnial control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanying Management's Report on Int€patrol Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipils to express an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reportbased on our audit. Our audit of, and opiniontba,Company's internal control over
financial reporting does not include internal cohtiver financial reporting of two wholly owned sithiaries, SYS Technologies and Digital
Fusion, Inc., whose financial statements reflet@ltassets and revenues constituting 37 and 1kpemespectively, of the related consolidated
financial statement amounts as of and for the gaded December 28, 2008. As indicated in ManagésReport on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, SYS Technologies and Digitasibn, Inc. were acquired during 2008 and therefmaagement's assertion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal controlrdivencial reporting excluded internal control ofi@ancial reporting of SYS Technologies
and Digital Fusion, Inc.

We conducted our audit in accordance wWithdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Qgetr8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amidbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfenternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®@tsr audit included obtaining an understanding tdrimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness et@st#ig and evaluating the design and operatifegtdfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancesdlieve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide reddersssurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordantegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures that€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatggaparation of financial statements in accor@éawith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabturance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could hawaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventletect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periodssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policiepracedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Kratos Defense & SecuritlBions, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, imalterial respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 28, 20@&eul on criteria establishedliiernal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by COSO.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Kratos Defense &rdgSolutions, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decengdi, 2007 and December 28, 2008, and
the related consolidated statements of operatgioskholders' equity and cash flows for each otttinee years in the period ended
December 28, 2008 and our report dated March 9 2@pressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sSIGRANT THORNTON LLP

San Diego, CA
March 9, 2009
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Iltem 9B. Other Information

On March 6, 2009, the Board of Directorpraped a new form of Indemnification Agreement (thedemnification Agreement”) to be
available for current and future officers and dioes. The Indemnification Agreement provides, amotiger things, that subject to the
procedures set forth in the Indemnification Agreatné) the Company will indemnify the Indemnitees(defined in the Indemnification
Agreement) to the fullest extent permitted by lamthie event Indemnitee was, is or becomes a pady Wwitness or other participant in, or is
threatened to be made a party to or witness or @dugicipant in, a Proceeding (as defined in tigemnification Agreement) by reason of (or
arising in part out of) an Indemnifiable Event ¢efined in the Indemnification Agreement); (iixéquested by Indemnitee, and subject to
certain exceptions, the Company will advance Exggifas defined in the Indemnification AgreementhsIndemnitee; (iii) if there is a
Change of Control (as defined in the Indemnificathgreement), the Company will seek the advicendépendent legal counsel with respe
all matters thereafter arising concerning the ggiftindemnitee to indemnity payments and advaoodsr the Indemnification Agreement or
any provision of the Company's charter or bylawsg;the rights of the Indemnitee under the Indencation Agreement are in addition to any
other rights the Indemnitee may have under the Gmyip charter or bylaws or the Delaware Generagb@ations Law or otherwise; and (v)
the extent the Company maintains an insuranceypotipolicies providing directors' and officersibility insurance, the Indemnitee will be
covered to the maximum extent of the coverage abglfor any Company director or officer. In adufiti the Indemnification Agreement
establishes guidelines as to the defense andreetiteof claims by the parties and the period oftéitions.

The foregoing summary of the Indemnificatidgreement is qualified in its entirety by refecerto the full text of the Indemnification
Agreement attached as Exhibit 10.6 hereto and purated by reference herein.
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PART Il
Iltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item isanporated by reference of the Registrant's PraateSient or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2208.

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBent or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2@08.

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aibBnagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's Praate®ient or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2@08.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBent or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2208.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item isanporated by reference to the Registrant's PraateBent or Form 10-K/A, which we will file
with the SEC within 120 days after the end of fis2@08.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Stateme®thedules
(1) Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, @tDecember 28, 2008
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the YEaded December 31, 2006 and 2007 and Decemb&0Q@8,
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' EquityiferYears Ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 aneniies 28, 2008
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the YEaded December 31, 2006 and 2007 and Decemb&0Q@8,
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

All schedules for which provision is madelie applicable accounting regulations of the SECnot required under the related instruct
or are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted

(2)  Exhibits
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Incorporated by

Reference
Filing Filed-
Exhibit Date/Period Furnished
Number  Exhibit Description Form End Date Herewith
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of NoverabeP008, by and among Kratos Defens 8-K  11/24/0¢
Security Solutions, Inc., Dakota Merger Sub, Ind ®igital Fusion, Inc. Certain exhibits and
schedules referenced in the Agreement and Planco® have been omitted in accordance with
Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of the d¢tmil exhibits and schedules will be furnished
supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Casion upon reques
2.2 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated February 17,200and between Sakoki LLC and the 8-K  02/23/0¢
Registrant
2.3 Addendum and Waiver Related to the Equity Purelfegreement, dated June 26, 2006, by and 10-  06/30/0t
between Sakoki LLC and the Registre Q
2.4 Merger Agreement, dated August 8, 2006, by and antlom Registrant, WFI Governme 8-K  08/14/0t
Services, Inc., MRC Merger Registrant, Inc. and Mdad Research Corporatic
25 Agreement dated as of March 9, 2007 by and betWw€ Wireless Engineering Services Limited 10-  12/31/0¢
and the Registran K
2.6 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated April 20, 2@§7and between the Registrant and Strategic 10-  12/31/0¢
Project Services, LLC K
2.7 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated May 29, 2007, thyetween the Registrant and Lt 8-K  05/30/0°
International, Inc
2.8 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated July 7, 2007, thpetween the Registrant and Burgui 8-K  07/12/0°
Acquisition Corporation
2.9 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated Novembeb@72by and among the Registrant, Kratos 8-K  11/07/0°
Government Solutions, Inc., Haverstick Acquisitidarporation and Haverstick Consulting, |
2.10 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganizatiated February 20, 2008 by and among the  8-K  02/21/0¢
Registrant, White Shadow, Inc. and S
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporat 1C-  09/30/0:
Q
3.2 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Kratos Desfei& Security Solutions, Inc. into Wirele 8-K  09/12/0°
Facilities, Inc.
3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. 10-  04/29/0¢
K/A
3.4 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and RighSeries A Preferred Stock. 10-  09/30/0:
Q
3.5 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righ&eries B Preferred Stoc 8-  06/05/0:
K/A
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Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Filing Date/Period  Filed-Furnished
Number Exhibit Description Form End Date Herewith
3.6 Certificate of Designation of Series C Preferreoc&t 8-K 12/17/0¢
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificat S-1 08/18/9¢
4.2 Rights Agreement, dated as of December 16, 20€yeen the Registrant and Wells 8-K 12/17/0¢
Fargo, N.A.
10.1# 1997 Stock Option Plai S-1 08/18/9¢
10.2# Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to th@718tock Option Plan and related terms  S- 09/10/9¢
and conditions 1/A
10.3# 1999 Equity Incentive Plai S-1 08/18/9¢
10.4# Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 128@ity Incentive Plar S- 09/10/9¢
1/A
10.5# 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and relatedraffdocuments S-1 08/18/9¢
10.6# Form of Indemnity Agreement by and between the eayit and certain officers al *
directors of the Registrar
10.7# 2000 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan. 10- 09/30/0(
Q
10.8# Form of Stock Option Agreement and Grant Notiseduin connection with the 2000 10- 09/30/0(
Nonstatutory Stock Option Pla Q
10.9# Amended and Restated Severance and Change of Cagteement dated March 28, 20 1C- 12/31/0¢
between the Registrant and Deanna Lt K
10.10# Amended and Restated Severance and Change of Cagteement dated March 28, 20 10C- 12/31/0¢
between the Registrant and James Edwi K
10.11# Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Pl 10- 12/31/0¢
K
10.12# 2005 Equity Incentive Pla S-8 08/01/0¢
10.13#  Form of Stock Option Agreement pursuant to the 2BQ&ity Incentive Plar S-8 08/01/0¢
10.14#  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement and Formlofice of Grant under tr 8-K 01/17/0°
Registrant's 2005 Equity Incentive Pl
10.15 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 16, 2005y among the Registrant, KeyBank 10- 12/31/0¢
National Association and KeyBanc Capital Mark K
10.16 Credit Agreement, dated October 2, 2006, by andrg the Registrant, KeyBank National 8-K 08/14/0¢
Association and KeyBanc Capital Markets as leadrayer and sole book runner, dated
October 2, 200¢
10.17#  Severance and Change of Control Agreement datedl duly 12, 2007 between the 10- 09/11/0°
Registrant and Laura L. Sieg K
10.18 Form of Subordinated Promissory Note issued by l@€rnational, Inc. to the Registra 8-K 05/30/0°
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Incorporated by

Reference

Filing Filed-
Exhibit Date/Period Furnished

Number  Exhibit Description Form End Date Herewith

10.19 Form of Subordination Agreement executed by LC@rimtional, Inc., the Registrant and B:  8-K 05/30/0°
of America, N.A.

10.20 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated agraf 1, 2007, by and among the Regist 8K 06/01/0°
the lenders party thereto and KeyBank National Aisdion.

10.21 Note Sale Agreement, dated July 3, 2007, by anddst SPCP Group, LLC International, Ii 8-K 07/10/0°
and the Registran

10.22  Assignment Agreement, dated July 3, 2007, by andngnthe Registrant, SPCP Group Ll 8-K 07/10/0°
LCC International, Inc. and Bank of America, N

10.23 Form of Earnout Agreement executed by the Registmad Burgundy Acquisition Corporatic 8-K 07/12/0°

10.24 Facility Letter, dated October 24, 2007, by andMeen the Registrant and KeyBanc Cay 8-K 11/07/0°
Markets.

10.25 First Lien Credit Agreement among Kratos Defefisgecurity Solutions, Inc., KeyBank 8-K 01/07/0¢
National Association, as Administrative Agent areher and the other financial institutic
parties thereto and KeyBanc Capital Markets as éeehger and book runner, dated as of
December 31, 200°

10.26 Second Lien Credit Agreement among Kratos Defen&=é&urity Solutions, Inc., KeyBar 8-K 01/07/0¢
National Association, as Administrative Agent arghter, the other financial institutions par!
thereto and KeyBanc Capital Markets as lead arraauge book runner, dated as of
December 31, 200°

10.27 Form of Voting Agreement, dated February 20, 2@38and among the Registrant and the 8-K 02/21/0¢
shareholders of SY!

10.28 Form of Voting Agreement, dated February 20, 2@3§8and among SYS and the stockholde  8-K 02/21/0¢
the Registrant

10.29 Amendment and Waiver of First Lien Credit Agreemelated as of March 27, 2008, by ¢ 8-K 04/02/0¢
among the Registrant, Keybank National Associasisdministrative Agent and the Lenders
party thereto

10.30 Amendment and Waiver of Second Lien Credit Agreetmdgited as of March 27, 2008, by ¢ 8-K 04/02/0¢
among the Registrant, KeyBank National Associasisdministrative Agent and the Lenders
party thereto

10.31 Second Amendment to First Lien Credit Agreeméated as of June 26, 2008, among the 8-K 06/28/0¢

Registrant, KeyBank National Association, as Adstirdtive Agent and Lender and the other
financial institutions parties thereto and KeyB&uapital Markets as lead arranger and book
runner.
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Incorporated by

Reference
Filed-
Exhibit Filing Date/Period Furnished
Number  Exhibit Description Form End Date Herewith
10.32 Second Amendment to Second Lien Credit Agreemexé¢ddas of June 26, 2008, among 8-K 06/28/0¢
Registrant, KeyBank National Association, as Adstirdtive Agent and Lender, the other
financial institutions parties thereto and KeyB&wapital Markets as lead arranger and book
runner.
10.33# Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreerdated as of August 4, 2008, by ¢  1C- 06/29/0¢
between the Registrant and Eric DeMal Q
10.34# Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreerdated as of August 4, 2008, by ¢  1C- 06/29/0¢
between the Registrant and Deanna Lt Q
10.35# Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agragrdated as of August 4, 2008, by and 10- 06/29/0¢
between the Registrant and Laura Sie Q
211 List of Subsidiaries S-4 11/24/200:t
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.
311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant$ection 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Ac
2002.
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant $ection 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Ac *
2002.
32.1 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the *
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 for Eric M. DeMarct
32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the *
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002 for Deanna Lun
# Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangement required to be filed as an extaltitis form.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: March 10, 2009
KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, IN

By: /s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

Eric M. DeMarco
President and Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenesidgrelow by the following persons on behalf
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#ite indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCO

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 10, 200
Eric M. DeMarca

/s/ DEANNA H. LUND

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (feipal Financial Officer March 10, 200
Deanna H. Lunt

/sl LAURA L. SIEGAL

VP and Corporate Controller Officer (Principal Acexting Officer) March 10, 200
Laura L. Siega
/s/ SCOTT ANDERSON
Director March 10, 200
Scott Andersot
/s BANDEL CARANO
Director March 10, 200
Bandel Carani
/s/ SCOT JARVIS
Director March 10, 200
Scot Jarvis
/s SAM LIBERATORE
Director March 10, 200
Sam Liberatort
/s/ WILLIAM HOGLUND
Director March 10, 200

William Hoglund
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying cons@itbtlance sheets of Kratos Defense & Securityti®aky Inc. (a Delaware corporation) and
subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 3172061 December 28, 2008, and the related consetidaatements of operations,
stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each eftliree years in the period ended December 28, 20@Re financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Oysaesibility is to express an opinion on these fiahstatements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igbt Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digids in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managemeniglhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the financial position of K&
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. and subsidiagi€®f December 31, 2007 and December 28, 200&han@sults of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years inpgiiéod ended December 28, 2008 in conformity &itbounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidéiteahcial statements, on January 1, 2007, the Cagnpdopted Financial Accounting Standards
Board Interpretation No. 48ccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An fiptetation of FASB Statement No. 109"

We also have audited, in accordance wighstandards of the Public Company Accounting OgbtdBoard (United States), Kratos
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.'s internal cohtiver financial reporting as of December 28, 20&&ed on criteria establishediernal
Control—Integrated Framewotiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadriie Treadway Commission (COS@nd our report
dated March 9, 2009 expressed an unqualified opitiiereon.

/sSIGRANT THORNTON LLP

San Diego, CA
March 9, 2009
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007 and December 28, 2008

(in millions, except par value and number of sharés

2007 2008
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 86 $ 32
Restricted cas — 04
Accounts receivable, n 77.C 100.f
Income taxes receivab 1. 0.7
Prepaid expenst¢ 7.4 3.€
Notes receivabl 2.6 —
Other current asse 8.7 6.¢
Current assets of discontinued operati 1.6 0.8
Total current asse 106.¢ 116.2
Property and equipment, r 6.9 7.2
Goodwill 194.5 152.2
Other intangibles, n¢ 19.¢ 32.2
Investments in unconsolidated affiliar 0.3 —
Other asset 6.7 4.2
Non current assets of discontinued operat 0.1 0.2
Total asset $335.2 $312¢
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 227 $ 184
Accrued expense 145 13.t
Accrued compensatic 9.9 145
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on uncetepl contract 10.€ 9.7
Accrual for contingent acquisition considerat 2.9 3.7
Income taxes payab 0.2 —
Accrual for unused office spa 1.0 1.2
Other current liabilitie: 134 8.8
Current portion of lon-term debt 2.6 59
Current portion of capital lea: 0.1 0.2
Current liabilities of discontinued operatic 5.3 5.8
Total current liabilities 83.t 8l.z
Long-term debt, net of current portic 72.¢ 76.C
Accrual for unused office space, net of currentipar 1.4 0.5
Capital least 11 0.¢
Deferred tax liabilitie: 2.0 —
Other liabilities 45 510
Non current liabilities of discontinued operatic 2.7 1.¢
Total liabilities 168.1 165.t
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, 5,000,000 shares authorized SBri@snvertible Preferred Stock, $.001 par valued@0 shares outstanding at December 31, 2007 aceniieer 28
2008 (liquidation preference $5.0 million at DecemnB8, 2008 — —
Common stock, $.001 par value, 195,000,000 shaitherzed; 78,998,922 and 128,169,634 shares issnedutstanding at December 31, 2007 and Deced&er
2008, respectivel — —
Additional paic-in capital 4125 503.t
Accumulated defici (245.5) (356.6)
Total stockholders' equit 167.2 146.¢
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $335.8 $312.

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITIES SOLUTIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 and Decemb@r 2008

(in millions, except per share amounts)

2006 2007 2008
Revenue! $153.1 $193.¢ $297.:
Cost of revenue 124.2 162.( 237.¢
Gross profit 28.¢ 31.€ 59.k
Selling, general and administrative exper 38.€ 39.5 51.%
Research and development exper — — 1.C
Recovery of unauthorized issuance of stock optaomsstock option investigation and related — 10.€ (4.5
Litigation settlement charc — 4.9 —
Impairment and restructuring char¢ 21.¢ 1.2 106.1
Operating loss from continuing operatic (315 (24.9 (94.9)
Other expense
Interest expense, n (0.7) (2.2 (20.0
Impairment of investments in unconsolidated affél& — (1.8 —
Other income (expenses), i (0.2 0.7 (1.5
Total other expense, n (0.9 (2.3 (11.5)
Loss from continuing operations before income te (32.49) (26.9 (106.9)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes from contirglimperation: 13.¢ 1.3 (0.7)
Loss from continuing operatiol (46.2 (28.2) (105.¢
Loss from discontinued operatio (11.7 (12.¢ (5.5
Net loss $(57.9 $(40.¢) $(111.)
Basic loss per common sha
Loss from continuing operatiol $(0.69) $(0.3¢) $ (1.19
Loss from discontinued operatio (0.1¢) (0.17) (0.0¢)
Net loss per common sha $(0.79 $(0.55 $ (1.20
Diluted loss per common sha
Loss from continuing operatiol $(0.69) $(0.3¢) $ (1.19
Loss from discontinued operatio (0.1¢) (0.19) (0.06)
Net loss per common sha $(0.79) $(0.55) $ (1.20
Weighted average common shares outstant
Basic 73.E 74.C 92.€
Diluted 73.5 74.C 92.¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 and Decemb@r 2008

(in millions)

Convertible

Preferred Stock Common Stock Additional

Accumulated

Other

Total

Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders

Paid-In
Shares Amount Shares Amount _Capital Deficit Loss Equity
Balance, December 31, 2005 — $ — 722 % — $ 379% % (146.7) $ 29 $ 229.7
Conversion of Series B convertible preferred st — — 1t — — — —
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog — — 0.2 — 0.5 — 0.5
Stock based compensati — — — — 11.¢€ — 11.¢€
Components of comprehensive incor
Net loss — — — — — (57.9) — (57.9
Foreign currency translation gain, net of incomesaof $0.3 millior — — — — — 1.t 1.5
Reclassification adjustme—foreign currency translation gain, included in lost — — — — — 14 1.4
Total comprehensive lo: (55.0
Balance, December 31, 2006 — $ — 73¢ $ — $ 3917 $ (204.¢) $ — % 187.1
Issuance of common stock for exercise of stockoog — — 0.1 — — — — —
Common stock issued for acquisitic — — 4.€ — 12.C — 12.C
Paic-in capital for contingent considerati — — — — 7.4 — — 7.4
Cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption of FB\ — — — — — (0.7) — (0.3
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 0.4 — 1.€ — — 1.6
Net loss and total comprehensive | — — — — (40.¢) — (40.¢)
Balance, December 31, 2007 - $ — 79.C $ — $ 4120 % (2455 $ — $ 167.2
Stock issued for Employee Stock Purchase — — 0.2 — 0.2 — — 0.2
Common stock issued for acquisitic — — 48.1 — 80.2 — 80.2
Stock options issued for acquisitic — — — — 7.C — 7.0
Paid in capital for contingent considerat — — 0.8 — 2.3 — 2.3
Stock based compensati — — — — 11 — — 1.1
Net loss and total comprehensive | — — — — — (111.7) — (111.3)
Balance, December 28, 20C — $ — 1282 $ — $ 503t $ (356.6) $ — $ 146.¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 and Decemb@r 2008

(in millions)
2006 2007 _ 2008
Operating activities
Net loss $(57.9%$(40.8)$(111.7)
Less: Loss from discontinued operatic (11.7) (12.6) (5.5
Loss from continuing operatiol (46.2) (28.2) (105.¢)

Adjustments to reconcile loss from continuing ogieres to
net cash used in operating activities from contigui

operations
Depreciation and amortizatic 47 4.3 7.5
Deferred income taxe 13.€ 0.6 (2.0
Accrual for settlement of securities litigati — 49 —
Goodwill impairment charge 18.3 — 105.¢
Asset impairment chargt 1.8 25 0.2
Disposal of property and equipme 0.1 — 0.4
Provision for doubtful accoun 0.2 0.8 11
Stoclk-based compensatic 6. 0.9 1.1
Mark to market on sway — — 1.7
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquoissti
Accounts receivabl (8.4 5.C (1.2
Prepaid expenst 0.2 (0.1 4.2
Other asset 1.9 4.9 5.6
Accounts payabl 5.C (0.8 (10.9)
Accrued expense (6.3 1.8 (2.0
Accrued compensatic 1.2 (15 (29
Billings in excess of costs and earnings on unceteql
contracts 1.2 04 (2.2
Accrual for contingent acquisition considerat 01 14 0.8
Income tax receivable and paya 3C 1€ 0.5
Accrual for unused office spa 0.¢ (0.)) (0.7
Other liabilities (0.2) 10.z (6.8
Net cash used in operating activities from contigt
operations 4.9 (@11 @97

Investing activities

Sale/maturity of shc-term investment — — 0.3
Cash paid for contingent acquisition considera (8.5) (8.9 —
Cash paid for acquisitions, net of cash acqu (59.1) (63.9 (1.2
Proceeds/(payments) from the disposition of disooed
operations 18.¢ 57. (0.2
Cash transferred (to) from restricted c (2.0 1.c¢ (0.9
Capital expenditure (1.2) (0.9 (0.9
Net cash used in investing activities from contig.
operations (50.9) (15.9 (2.9

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@ssients.
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)

Years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 and Decemb@r 2008

(in millions)
2006 2007 2008

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of common si 0.4 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under eraploy

stock purchase ple — — 0.2
Borrowings under credit facilit 85.C 88.t 7.9
Repayments under credit facili (34.0 (64.00 (4.6
Repayment of capital lease obligatic 0.3 (0.9 (0.2
Debt issuance cos 1.2 (3.0 (0.5

Net cash provided by financing activities from douaing

operations 49.¢ 21.1 2.8

Net cash flows of continuing operatia (k.9 4€ @43
Cash flows of discontinued operatic
Operating cash flow 7.4 0.2 (1.3
Investing cash flow (6.6) (1.6 —
Financing cash flow 0.1 — —
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equis: 2.7 — —

Net cash flows of discontinued operatic 36 (149 (@11
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 2.3 32 (49
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 7.7 5.4 8.6
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 54% 8€%$ 3.2
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year for inter $(0.29% 28% 87

Net cash (received) paid during the year for inceaxes $0.7% (1.9% 1.3
Noncash investing and financing activiti

Common stock and stock options issued for acqois $ —$12.0% 87.2
Paid in capital for contingent considerat $ —% 74% 23
Liability for contingent cash considerati $ —$ 123 —

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investingfiaaticing
transactions

Fair value of assets acquired in acquisiti $80.1$111.1$116.¢
Fixed assets finance $ —$ 123 —
Liabilities assumed in acquisitiol $ 6.3% 20.¢$ 23.¢€

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 28, 2008
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
(a) Description of Business

Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Id&ratos" or "the Company") was initially incorpoeat in the state of New York on
December 19, 1994, commenced operations in Maréh &a8d was reincorporated in Delaware in 1998.d&raistorically conducted business
in three segments: Wireless Network Services, Gouent Network Services and Enterprise Network $es/iThe Company was an
independent, global provider of outsourced commativas and security systems engineering and irtiegraervices for the wireless
communications industry through its Wireless Netw®ervices division ("WNS"), the U.S. governmenbtigh its Government Network
Services division ("GNS"), now referred to as thatds Government Solutions ("KGS") segment, andrgnise customers through its
Enterprise Network Services division ("ENS"), nasfierred to as the Public Safety & Security ("PS®gment.

In 2006 and 2007, the Company undertoakrestormation strategy that culminated in the die® in 2007 of its remaining wireless-
related businesses and has aggressively pursugtbsisvith the federal government, primarily th&UDepartment of Defense, through
strategic acquisition. The Company's divestituréoEuropean wireless engineering services busimaich was discontinued and held for ¢
in December 2006 was completed in March 2007. titeh, the Company's divestiture of its domesticetess engineering services business
was completed in June 2007 and the divestituresafireless deployment services business was caeapie July 2007. Accordingly, the
accompanying financial statements reflect the dittes of the domestic wireless engineering sewimed wireless network deployment
business and the results of operations througddbe of divestiture as discontinued operationtignccompanying statements of operations.

As a result of the divestment of the Conymwireless related assets and businesses in #8Tompany changed its name from
Wireless Facilities, Inc. to Kratos Defense & Ségusolutions, Inc. on September 12, 2007. The nauag changed to reflect the Company's
revised focus as a defense contractor and se@ystgms integrator for the federal government andthte and local agencies and reflects the
Company's business going forward. All previousiiitial statements prior to September 12, 2007 vesged under the Company's previous
name, Wireless Facilities, Inc.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Kratos and its wholly-owned &lidses for which all inter-company
transactions have been eliminated in consolidaoatos and its subsidiaries are collectively nefdrto herein as the "Company."

Investments in unconsolidated affiliates accounted for using the cost method as the Coynpans less than 20% and has no signifit
influence over the affiliates.

(c) Fiscal Year

The Company's year end was on the lasbiithe year, December 31 with interim fiscal periods ending on the last ddihe calendar
month of each quarter for fiscal years 2006 and’2002008, the Company's year end was the last&uof the year, December 28, with
interim fiscal periods ending on the last Sundatheflast month of each calendar quarter. Thelfisgars ended December 31, 2006 and 2007
and December 28, 2008 all contained 52 calendaksvee
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KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
December 28, 2008
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies (Continued)
(d) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America
(US GAAP) requires management to make estimatesssuimptions that affect the reported amountsstasand liabilities, the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date efitancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Such estimates include revenue recognisiboyvance for doubtful accounts, valuation of ldivgd assets including identifiable
intangibles and goodwill, accounting for incomedsuincluding the related valuation allowance ondéierred tax asset and uncertain tax
positions, accruals for partial self-insurance,tocaencies and litigation and contingent acquisitt@nsideration. In the future, the Company
may realize actual results that differ from therent reported estimates and if the estimates tkatave used change in the future, such che
could have a material impact on the Company's dimtaed financial position, results of operatiomsl &ash flows.

(e) Revenue Recognition

The Company generates almost all of itemere from three different types of contractual mgeaments: cost-plus-fee contracts, time-and-
materials contracts, and fixed-price contracts.gRee on cost-plus-fee contracts is recognizeda@iitent of allowable costs incurred plus an
estimate of the applicable fees earned. The Compangiders fixed fees under cost-plus-fee conttadie earned in proportion to the
allowable costs incurred in performance of the @oitand recognizes the relevant portion of theeetqul fee to be awarded by the customer at
the time such fee can be reasonably estimatedd lmestactors such as our prior award experiencecantmunications with the customer
regarding performance, including any interim parfance evaluations rendered by the customer. Revantime-and-material contracts is
recognized to the extent of billable rates timesrbalelivered for services provided, to the extémhaterial cost for products delivered to
customers, and to the extent of expenses incumrdgkbalf of the customers.

The Company has three basic categorieiged price contracts: fixed unit price, fixed prilevel of effort, and fixed price-completion.
Revenue recognition methods on fixed-price corgradll vary depending on the nature of the work #melcontract terms. Revenues on fixed-
price service contracts are recorded as work i®peed in accordance with Staff Accounting Bullelidd"Revenue RecognitioifSAB 104).
SAB 104 generally requires revenue to be deferreii all of the following have occurred: (1) thaeea contract in place, (2) delivery has
occurred, (3) the price is fixed or determinabled &) collectibility is reasonably assured. Revenan fixed-price contracts that require
delivery of specific items may be recorded based price per unit as units are delivered. Revenuéxed price contracts in which the
Company is paid a specific amount to provide sewvior a stated period of time is recognized rgtabér the service period.

A portion of our fixed price-completion deacts are within the scope of Statement of Pas8ib-1"Accounting for Performance of
Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Caats" (SOP 81-1). For these contracts, revenue is rezednising the percentage-of-
completion method based on the ratio of total ciogtsrred to date compared to estimated total dostemplete the contract. Estimates of ¢
to complete include material, direct labor, overheand allowable general and administrative expefteour government contracts. These
estimates are reviewed and, if
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necessary, revised monthly on a contract-by-conbasis. If, as a result of this review, the Compdetermines that a loss on a contract is
probable, then the full amount of estimated lossh&rged to operations in the period it is deteedithat it is probable a loss will be realized
from the full performance of the contract. In cartimstances in which it is impractical to estimé#te final outcome of the project margin, but it
is certain that the Company will not incur a losstlee project, the Company may record revenue dquaist incurred, at zero margin. In the
event that the cost incurred to date may be inexoéour funded contract value, the Company mégrdkose costs until the associated
contract value has been funded by the customere @wcfinal estimate of the outcome of the projeatgin is determined, the Company will
record revenue using the percentage-of-completiethod of accounting based on the ratio of totat<msurred to date compared to the
estimated total costs to complete the project.

Significant management judgments and es¢ispancluding but not limited to the estimatedtsds complete projects, must be made and
used in connection with the revenue recognizedjnaecounting period. A cancellation, schedule yleda modification of a fixed-price
contract which is accounted for using the percesvafgcompletion method may adversely affect ousgnmargins for the period in which the
contract is modified or cancelled. Under certanswinstances, a cancellation or negative modificatiould result in the Company having to
reverse revenue that was recognized in a prioo@gtius significantly reducing the amount of rexemrecognized for the period in which the
adjustment is made. Correspondingly, a positiveifitadion may positively affect gross margins. ldition, a schedule delay or modificatic
can result in an increase in estimated cost to tetethe project, which would also result in an &ojpto gross margins. Material differences
may result in the amount and timing of our revefareany period if management made different judgrmen utilized different estimates.

It is the Company's policy to review anyaaigement containing software or software deliviesabnd services against the criteria
contained in SOP 97-2Software Revenue Recognitigrénd related technical practice aids. Under tlgipions of SOP 97-2, the Company
reviews the contract value of software deliverabled services and determines allocations of th&acivalue based on Vendor Specific
Objective Evidence ("VSOE") or fair value for eaufithe elements. All software arrangements reqgisignificant production, modification,
or customization of the software are accountednf@onformity with Accounting Research Bulletin 45ng-Term Construction-Type
Contracts"(ARB 45), using the relevant guidance in SOP 81-1.

The Company's contracts may include theipian of more than one of its services. In thaseaions, the Company applies the guidance
of FASB's Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issu@D,"Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverablestcordingly, for applicable
arrangements, revenue recognition includes thegpridentification of separate units of accounting ¢he allocation of revenue across all
elements based on relative fair values, with prapessideration given to the guidance provided epauthoritative literature.

Under certain of the Company's contractuedngements, the Company may also recognize reenout-of-pocket expenses in
accordance with EITF 01-14lticome Statement Characterization of ReimburseniReteived for Out-of-Pocket Expenses Incurted.
Depending on the contractual arrangement, thesensgs may be reimbursed with or without a fee.
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Under certain of its contracts, the Compprgvides supplier procurement services and maseoaits customers. The Company records
revenue on these arrangements on a gross or riglilascordance with EITF 99-19Reporting Revenue Gross as a Principal versus blet a
an Agent" depending on the specific circumstances of thengement. The Company considers the followingedd, among others, for
recording revenue on a gross or net basis:

(1) Whether the Company acts as a praiéipthe transaction;

(2) Whether the Company takes title ® phoducts;

(3) Whether the Company assumes riskgandrds of ownership, such as risk of loss foleation, delivery or returns;
(4) Whether the Company serves as antagdsroker, with compensation on a commissioreerbfasis; and

(5) Whether the Company assumes thetatisllifor the amount billed to the customer sulosa to delivery.

For federal contracts, the Company foll&WS. government procurement and accounting staedarassessing the allowability and the
allocability of costs to contracts. Due to the gigance of the judgments and estimation processeslikely that materially different amounts
could be recorded if different assumptions werelusdf the underlying circumstances were to chafige Company closely monitors
compliance with, and the consistent applicatioritefcritical accounting policies related to costraccounting. Business operations personnel
conduct periodic contract status and performangews. When adjustments in estimated contract neegior costs are required, any signifir
changes from prior estimates are included in egmin the current period. Also, regular and recigrévaluations of contract cost, scheduling
and technical matters are performed by managensesbpnel who are independent from the businessatipes personnel performing work
under the contract. Costs incurred and allocateditdracts with the U.S. government are scrutinfbedompliance with regulatory standards
by the Company's personnel, and are subject ta bydhe DCAA.

From time to time, the Company may proceét work based on client direction prior to thengaetion and signing of formal contract
documents. The Company has a formal review prdoesgpproving any such work. Revenue associatel svith work is recognized only
when it can be reliably estimated and realizatsoprbbable. The Company bases its estimates oiopsegxperiences with the client,
communications with the client regarding fundingtss, and its knowledge of available funding fa tontract or program. As of
December 31, 2007 and December 28, 2008, approadyrts®.4 million and $0.9 million, respectively, e Company's unbilled accounts
receivable balance were under an authorizatiomdoged or work order from its customers where m&dmpurchase order had not yet been
received.

(f) Derivative Instruments

In managing interest rate risk exposure,Gompany entered into interest rate swap agresm&ntinterest rate swap is a contractual
exchange of interest payments between two pafistandard interest rate swap involves the payrokatfixed rate time a notational amount
by one party in
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exchange for a floating rate times the same natatiamount from another party. As interest ratesge, the difference to be paid or received
is accrued and recognized as interest expensea@mm over the life of the agreement. These instnisnare not entered into for trading
purposes. Counterparties to the Company's inteagsswap agreements are major financial institgtion accordance with SFAS 133, "
Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Certaiadding Activities", as amended by SFAS 137 anc, the Company recognizes interest
rate swap agreements on the consolidated balaee¢ ahfair value. The interest rate swap agreesrametmarked to market with changes in
fair value recognized in either other comprehensigceme (loss) or in the carrying value of the hetigortions of fixed rate debt, as applicable
(hedge accounting).

Hedge accounting is discontinued when dteitermined that a derivative instrument is nohhjigffective as a hedge. Hedge accounting is
also discontinued when: (1) the derivative instrotrexpires; is sold, terminated or exercised; aroidonger designated as a hedge instrument
because it is unlikely that a forecasted transaatil occur; (2) a hedged firm commitment no longeeets the definition of a firm
commitment; or (3) management determines that datimn of the derivative as a hedging instrumemiisonger appropriate.

When hedge accounting is discontinueddtrésative instrument will be either terminatedntioue to be carried on the balance sheet at
fair value, or redesignated as the hedging instntrimeeither a cash flow or fair value hedge, & tielationship meets all applicable hedging
criteria. Any asset or liability that was previopsécorded as a result of recognizing the value faifm commitment will be removed from the
balance sheet and recognized as a gain or lossri@nt period earnings. Any gains or losses thaewecumulated in other comprehensive
income from hedging a forecasted transaction veiltdcognized immediately in current period earniifgsis probable that the forecasted
transaction will not occur.

(g) Research and Development
Costs incurred in research and developmaetitities are expensed as incurred.
(h) Income Taxes

The Company records deferred tax assetéiatitities for the future tax consequences attéble to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assetsiabdifies and their respective tax bases and dpgr#éoss and tax credit carryforwards.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measurid) ehacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabtame in the years in which those tempo
differences are expected to be realized. The effiecteferred tax assets and liabilities of a changax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

The Company maintains a valuation allowamtéhe deferred tax assets for which it is mdeelyi than not that the Company will not
realize the benefits of these tax assets in fuaxgeriods. The valuation allowance is based timages of future taxable income by tax
jurisdiction in which the Company operates, the hanof years over which the deferred tax assets@itecoverable, and scheduled rever
of deferred tax liabilities.

In accordance with the recognition stangastablished by Financial Accounting Standardg@@@ASB) Interpretation. (FIN) 48—
"Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—aniiptetation of
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FASB Statement 10, the Company makes a comprehensive review obit$gdio of uncertain tax positions regularly. Inig regard, an
uncertain tax position represents the Company'scgg treatment of a tax position taken in a fteedreturn, or planned to be taken in a future
tax return or claim, which has not been reflectetheasuring income tax expense for financial répgrurposes. Until these positions are
sustained by the taxing authorities, the comparsyntwd recognized the tax benefits resulting frochgoositions and reports the tax effects as a
liability for uncertain tax positions in its consdted statements of financial position.

(i) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based cosgiEm in accordance with Statement of Financiaodating Standards (SFAS) 123R—
Share-Based Paymenall of the Company's stock compensation planscareidered equity plans under SFAS 123R, and cosgtien
expense recognized is net of estimated forfeitaves the vesting period. The Company issues stptikms, and stock awards under its exis
plans. The fair value of stock options is estimaiedhe date of grant using a Black-Scholes oppiacing model and is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period of the optiansich is generally four years. The fair value afcit awards is determined based on the closing
market price of the Company's common stock on thatglate and is adjusted at each reporting datedoan the amount of shares ultimately
expected to vest. Compensation expense for stoakdsws expensed over the vesting period, usueallytb ten years. The Company has no
awards with market or performance conditions. Campdon expense for stock issued under our emplstpes purchase plan is estimated on
the beginning date of the offering period usinglacB-Scholes option-pricing model and is expenged straight-line basis over the period of
the offering, which is generally 6 months.

For the years ended December 31, 2006,Deee31, 2007 and December 28, 2008, there wasanemental tax benefit from stock
options exercised in the period due to expectedosses for the year. The Company recorded caglivextfrom the exercise of stock options
of $0.5 million and $0.0 million in 2006 and 200&spectively. No stock options were exercised 08T he following table shows the
amounts recognized in the consolidated financétkstents for 2006, 2007 and 2008
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for share-based compensation expense relateddio gjtions, stock awards and to stock options effamder our employee stock purchase
plan (in millions).

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 2€

2006 2007 2008
Cost of revenue $ 1.C $ 0C $ 0.C
Selling, general and administrative exper 5.9 0.9 1.1
Total cost of employee shi-based compensation included in operating loss frontinuing
operations, before income t 6.9 0.9 1.1
Amount charged to loss from discontinued operat 5.C 0.7 0.C
Total charged against operatic $ 11¢ $ 1€ $ 1.1
Impact on net loss per common sh:
Basic $ (01¢ $ (002 $ (0.0
Diluted $ (0.1¢) $ (0.09 $ (0.00

(i) NetIncome (Loss) per Common Share

The Company calculates net income (loss¥pare in accordance with SFAS 12Barnings Per Share'Under SFAS 128, basic net
income (loss) per common share is calculated biglidig net income (loss) by the weighted-average bemof common shares outstanding
during the reporting period. Diluted net incomes@pper common share reflects the effects of pialgntlilutive securities (in millions).

2006 2007 2008

Anti-dilutive weighted shares from stock optionglkexied from
calculation 12z 82 18«
Anti-dilutive weighted shares from preferred stock edetlifrom calculatic 1.4 1.C 1.C

(k) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for dioliaccounts for estimated losses resulting frobminability of its customers to make
required payments, which results in bad debt ex@dvianagement periodically determines the adeqohttyis allowance by evaluating the
comprehensive risk profiles of all individual custer receivable balances including, but not limtiedhe customer's financial condition, credit
agency reports, financial statements and overatbatieconomic conditions. Additionally, on certaintracts whereby the Company performs
services for a prime/general contractor, a spetifiercentage of the invoiced trade accounts rebksvaay be retained by the customer until
the project is completed. The Company periodicadiysiews all retainages for collectibility and redsmallowances for doubtful accounts when
deemed appropriate, based on its assessment a$dbeiated credit risks. Total retainages includdilled accounts receivable were
$0.2 million and $1.2 million at December 31, 2@0W December 28, 2008, respectively. Changesitoagsss of contract value are recorde
adjustments to revenue and not as a componeng @llihwance for doubtful accounts.
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The following table outlines the balanceh® Company's Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 2806, 2007 and 2008. It identifies the
additional provisions each year as well as theeagfts that utilized the allowance (in millions).

Balance at
Beginning of Write -offs/
Balance at
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Year Provisions  Recoverie:  End of Year
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 0E $ 02 $ (049 % 0.3
Year ended December 31, 2C $ 02 $ 08 $ (03 3 0.8
Year ended December 28, 2C $ 08 $ 11 $ (0.7 $ 1.2

() Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

The Company's cash equivalents consigsdfighly liquid investments with an original matyrof three months or less when purchased
by the Company. The Company has evaluated its imegs in accordance with the provisions of StatgroéFinancial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) 115,'Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and iBg8ecurities.'Based on such evaluation, the Company's managdrasnt
determined that all of its investment securities @operly classified as available-for-sale. Basetdhe Company's intent and board-approved
investment policy and its ability to liquidate delsicurities maturing after one year, the Compaagsifies such shotérm investment securiti
within current assets. Available-for-sale secusitiee carried at fair value, with unrealized gaind losses reported as a separate component o
Stockholders' Equity within the caption "Accumutatether Comprehensive Income (Loss)." The amortted basis of debt securities is
periodically adjusted for amortization of premiuarsd accretion of discounts to maturity. Such armatitbn is included as a component of
interest income (expense), net. The amortizedlwasis of securities sold is based on the spedéntification method and all such realized

gains and losses are recorded as a component withén income (expense). Interest and dividendseonrities classified as available-for-sale
are included in interest income.

The Company has restricted cash accourdgpmoximately $0.4 million which are required tllateralize a credit card program and a
deposit relating to the run out of a now terminatextkers compensation program.

(m) Inventory

Inventories which are comprised primarifysopplies including parts and materials are statetie lower of cost or market. The Company
regularly reviews inventory quantities on handufatpurchase commitments with its suppliers, amdeitimated utility of its inventory. If the
Company review indicates a reduction in utilitydselcarrying value, it reduces its inventory to avremst basis. As of December 31, 2007 and

December 28, 2008, the Company had $2.1 milliomegntories which were reflected in other curresgeds of continuing operations on the
consolidated balance sheets.

(n) Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consists primarfilgamputer equipment, software, leasehold improwémand office-related equipment and is
recorded at cost. Equipment acquired under cdp#aks is recorded at the present value of theefuinimum lease payments. Depreciation is
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calculated using the straight-line method overast@mated useful life of each asset, which is ontitee years for computer equipment, five
years for furniture and office equipment, and fiwgen years for software for the Company's enisgmystems. Equipment and facilit
acquired under capital leases are amortized oeestbrter of the lease term or the estimated ufidf the asset. Improvements, which
significantly improve and extend the useful lifeaof asset, are capitalized over the shorter diethee period or the estimated useful life.
Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are chdwgeperations as incurred.

In accordance with Statement of Positiorl98Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Dmped or Obtained for Internal
Use"("SOP 98-1"), the Company expenses all internalsagevare costs incurred in the preliminary progeige and capitalizes certain direct
costs associated with the development and puraifdegernaluse software within property and equipment. Caigitdl costs are amortized o
straight-line basis over the estimated useful livkthe software.

(0) Leases

The Company uses its incremental borrowdatg in the assessment of lease classificatiompitat or operating and defines the initial
lease term to include renewal options determindzbteeasonably assured. The Company conducts mper@rimarily under operating leases.

Most lease agreements contain incentiveteftant improvements, rent holidays, or rent edimal clauses. For incentives for tenant
improvements, the Company records a deferred iadritity and amortizes the deferred rent over #rentof the lease as a reduction to rent
expense. For rent holidays and rent escalatiorsekaduring the lease term, the Company recordsmainirental expenses on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. For purposescafgnizing lease incentives, the Company usesdateed initial possession as the
commencement date, which is generally when the Gomfs given the right of access to the space agihb to make improvements in
preparation of intended use.

(p) Acquisitions

Acquisitions are accounted for using thechase method and the results of acquired busis@ssdncluded in the financial statements
from the dates of acquisition. Under the purchasthod of accounting, the cost, including transactiosts, are allocated to the underlying net
tangible and identifiable intangible assets, basetheir respective estimated fair values. The xoé the purchase price over the estimated
fair values of the net assets acquired is recoadegbodwill.

(q) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, Net

In accordance with the provisions of SFAR 1Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetéSFAS 142), the Company performs impairment
tests for goodwill as of the last day of each fisear, or when evidence of potential impairmerisex When it is determined that impairment
has occurred, a charge to operations is recordeddill and other purchased intangible asset basace included in the identifiable assets of
the business segment to which they have been assigmy goodwill impairment, as well as the amatian of other purchased intangible
assets, is charged against the respective busingsgents' operating income.
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In accordance with SFAS 142, the Compaagdifies intangible assets into three categorigsanfangible assets with finite lives subjec
amortization, (2) intangible assets with indefidites not subject to amortization, and (3) gootiwihe Company tests intangible assets with
finite lives for impairment if conditions exist thimdicate the carrying value may not be recovera$lich conditions may include an economic
downturn in a geographic market or a change iraisessment of future operations. The Company reesrimpairment charge when the
carrying value of the finite lived intangible asgehot recoverable by the cash flows generated tie use of the asset.

The Company determines the useful livegi@ftifiable intangible assets after considering specific facts and circumstances related to
each intangible asset. Factors considered whemdeieg useful lives include the contractual terfrany agreement, the history of the asset,
the Company's long-term strategy for the use ofs®t, any laws or other local regulations whimhlatimpact the useful life of the asset, and
other economic factors, including competition apdcific market conditions. Intangible assets thatdeemed to have finite lives are
amortized, generally on a straight-line basis, dleir useful lives, ranging from 1 to 12 years.

() Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of

Long-lived assets and certain identifightangibles are reviewed for impairment in accomawith SFAS 144Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Lor-Lived Assetswhenever events or changes in circumstancesatelthat the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets tbdde and used is measured by a comparison of tingroga amount of the assets to future net
cash flows (undiscounted and without interest) etgubto be generated by the asset. If such assetoasidered to be impaired, the
impairment to be recognized is measured by the afmmuwhich the carrying amount of the assets edediee fair value of the assets. Asse
be disposed of are reported at the lower of theyitey amount or fair value less costs to sell.

(s) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

SFAS 107,Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instrunts," requires that fair values be disclosed for the Camgfs financial
instruments. The carrying amounts of cash and egalvalents, accounts receivable, accounts payabbeyed expenses, billings in excess of
costs and earnings on uncompleted contracts appadeifair value due to the short-term nature ofehastruments. The fair value of the
Company's long-term debt and capital lease obbgatis estimated based on the quoted market gocéise same or similar issues or on the
current rates offered to the Company for debt efghme remaining maturities.

(t) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS 130;Reporting Comprehensive Incomestablishes rules for the reporting of comprehengicome (loss) and its components.
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incfass) and other gains and losses affecting shitetsdinvestment that, under accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Stafesmerica are excluded from net income (loss).
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(u) Foreign Currency Translation

In accordance with SFAS Horeign Currency Translationthe financial statements of the Company's foreigrssliaries where the
functional currency has been determined to bedbal lcurrency are translated into United Stateldolusing year-end rates of exchange for
assets and liabilities and rates of exchange fhaioaimate the rates in effect at the transactiate for revenues, expenses, gains and losses. Ii
2007 and 2008, all foreign subsidiaries are ac@alifdr as discontinued operations in the accompanfimancial statements.

(v) Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash balances atwsfinancial institutions and such balances comynexceed the $100,000 insured
(temporarily increased to $250,000 through Deceritte2009) amount by the Federal Deposit Insur&uarporation. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts and maeagibelieves that the Company is not exposed tasamjficant credit risk with respect to
such cash and cash equivalents.

Financial instruments, which subject therpany to potential concentrations of credit riskagist principally of the Company's billed and
unbilled accounts receivable. The Company's aceawaeivable result from sales to customers witenfederal government, state and local
agencies and with commercial customers in varindastries. The Company performs ongoing credituatains of its commercial customers.
Credit is extended based on evaluation of the austs financial condition. Collateral is not reqar The accounts receivable are recorded at
invoiced amount and do not bear interest. See Mdfier a discussion of our significant customers.

(w) Debt Issuance Costs

Fees paid to obtain debt financing or ammeents under such debt financing are treated asisll#nce costs and are capitalized and
amortized over the expected term of the related. détese payments are shown as a financing activitiye consolidated statements of cash
flows.

(x) Liquidity

The Company currently carries a significamount of debt and has experienced recurring $osseé negative cash flows from continuing
operations. Given the Company's highly leveraggaidiity position, any down-turn in its operatingmiags or cash flows could impair its
ability to comply with the financial covenants g existing credit facility. Its ability to execuba additional business opportunities may be
limited due to its existing borrowing capacitytlie Company believed a covenant violation is mbaatikely to occur in the near future, it
would seek relief from its lenders. This reliefaifailable, would have some cost to the Companysaet relief might not be on terms as
favorable as those in its existing Credit AgreemHrihe Company were to actually default due $ofétilure to meet the financial covenants of
its Credit Agreement and inability to obtain a waifrom the lenders, the Company's Credit Agreeroeuld require the Company to
immediately repay all amounts then outstanding vttt Credit Agreement and/or require the Compamyaly interest at default rates per the
Credit Agreement. In the event the Company wasireduo repay the amount outstanding under theiagisredit facility, it would need to
obtain alternative sources of financing to
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continue its operating activities at existing levéhere can be no assurance that alternativedimgmvould be available on acceptable terms or
at all.

(y) Recent Accounting Pronouncements
New Accounting Standards Adopted

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS "Fair Value Measurements(SFAS 157) which is effective for fiscal years bedng
after November 15, 2007 and for interim periodshimithose years. This statement defines fair vadagblishes a framework for measuring
fair value and expands the related disclosure reménts. This statement applies under other acicmuptonouncements that require or permit
fair value measurements. The statement indicatesng other things, that a fair value measuremesurass that the transaction to sell an asset
or transfer a liability occurs in the principal rkat for the asset or liability or, in the absen€a grincipal market, the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. SFAS 157 defifeds value based upon an exit price model. Re¢ettivSFAS 157, the FASB issued FASB
Staff Positions (FSP) 157-1, 157-2, and 157-3. ESR1 amends SFAS 157 to exclude SFAS 13 andléteckinterpretive accounting
pronouncements that address leasing transactidmile, RSP 157-2 delays the effective date of SFAB DS all nonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities, except those that areogatized or disclosed at fair value in the finansiatements on a recurring basis. FSP 157-3
clarifies the principles in SFAS 157 on the faitbeameasurement of assets when the market foaisat is not active. The Company adopted
SFAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, with the excemfdhe application of the statement to non-recgrnonfinancial assets and nonfinancial
liabilities. Refer to Note 10 to the Consolidatdédancial Statements for additional discussion anvalue measurements.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS I58e Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and &iial Liabilities—Including an
amendment of FASB Statement 1I1SFAS 159) which is effective for fiscal years bredng after November 15, 2007. This statement psrmi
entities to choose to measure many financial insnts and certain other items at fair value. Ttagesent also establishes presentation and
disclosure requirements designed to facilitate amispns between entities that choose different areasent attributes for similar types of
assets and liabilities. Unrealized gains and lossdgems for which the fair value option is eletteould be reported in earnings. The Comg
has adopted SFAS 159 as of January 1, 2008 aneldwed not to measure any additional financiatimsents or other items at fair value.

Future Adoption of Accounting Standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 14BBsiness Combinations'or SFAS 141R. SFAS 141R establishes principlés an
requirements for how the acquirer of a businessgeizes and measures in its financial statementgitmtifiable assets acquired, the liabilities
assumed, and any noncontrolling interest in theiaeq. The statement also provides guidance fargrizing and measuring the goodwiill
acquired in the business combination and determvitneg information to disclose to enable usersmdiicial statements to evaluate the nature
and financial effects of the business combinat®FAS 141R is effective for financial statementsiéskfor fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. Accordingly, any business coatliins we engaged in were previously recorded &uloded according to SFAS 141,
Business Combinatiot, until December 29, 2008. We
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expect SFAS 141R will have an impact on our codstdid financial statements, but the nature and iaof the effects will depend upon
the nature, terms and size of the acquisitionsemsemmate after the effective date of DecembeR@98.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 1é0ncontrolling Interests in Consolidated FinancBiatements—an amendment of
Accounting Research Bulletin. ," or SFAS 160. SFAS 160 addresses the accountidgeporting standards for ownership interests in
subsidiaries held by parties other than the patkatamount of consolidated net income attributédliie parent and to the noncontrolling
interest, changes in a parent's ownership intesestthe valuation of retained noncontrolling egiivestments when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. SFAS 160 also establishes disdasguirements that clearly identify and distinguigtween the interests of the parent and
the interests of the noncontrolling owners. SFAS isteffective for fiscal years beginning after BPetber 15, 2008. We are currently
evaluating the impact of SFAS 160, but do not ekfiez adoption to have a material impact on ousobidated financial statements.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP 14D8termination of the Useful Life of Intangible Alsseor FSP 142-3, which amends the factors
that should be considered in developing renewaktension assumptions used to determine the uffefof a recognized intangible asset ur
SFAS 142. This pronouncement requires enhancetbdiges concerning a company's treatment of costsried to renew or extend the term
of a recognized intangible asset. FSP 142-3 ictffefor financial statements issued for fiscahrgebeginning after December 15, 2008. We
are currently evaluating the impact of FSP 142u8,do not expect the adoption to have a materiphithon our consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS 1Be Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Biptes,or SFAS 162. SFAS 162 identifies
the sources of accounting principles to be usetéampreparation of financial statements of hongowental entities that are presented in
conformity with generally accepted accounting pipfes, or GAAP, in the U.S. SFAS 162 is effectiviedays following the SEC approval of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board amegts to AU Section 41The Meaning of Present Fairly in Conformity withr@eally
Accepted Accounting PrincipleWe currently adhere to the hierarchy of GAAP asented in SFAS 162, and adoption is not expectbde
a material impact on our consolidated financiatesteents.

In December 2007, the FASB ratified EITBus 07-1Accounting for Collaborative Arrangementer EITF 07-1. EITF 07-1 focuses on
defining a collaborative arrangement as well asatteounting for transactions between participants ¢ollaborative arrangement and between
the participants in the arrangement and third earfThe EITF concluded that both types of transastshould be reported in each participant's
respective income statement. EITF 07-1 is effediivdinancial statements issued for fiscal yeagibning after December 15, 2008, and
interim periods within those fiscal years and sddwe applied retrospectively to all prior periodsgented for all collaborative arrangements
existing as of the effective date. We are curreaetigiuating the impact of EITF 07-1, but do notestithe adoption to have a material impact
on our consolidated financial statements.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS I®isclosures about Derivative Instruments and Haedghctivities, an amendment of FASB
Statement. 133SFAS 161). This statement is intended to improaedparency in financial reporting by requiring @n¢ed disclosures of an
entity's derivative instruments and hedging adésitind their effects on the entity's financialifios, financial
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performance, and cash flows. SFAS 161 appliesl eaivative instruments within the scope of SFAS I’ Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activitie(SFAS 133) as well as related hedged items, bifadcderivatives, and nonderivative instruments #nat
designated and qualify as hedging instrumentstiEativith instruments subject to SFAS 161 must g®wnore robust qualitative disclosures
and expanded quantitative disclosures. SFAS 16ffastive prospectively for financial statementsuisd for fiscal years and interim periods
beginning after November 15, 2008, with early aggiion permitted. The Company is currently evahgthe disclosure implications of this
statement and anticipates that the statement atilhave a significant impact on the Company's Clisiested Financial Statements.

In June 2008, the Financial Accounting 8tads Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position (FBRerging Issues Task Force (EITF) 03-
6-1, "Determining Whether Instruments Granted iar8hBased Payment Transactions Are Participaticgr8is.” Under the FSP, unvested
share-based payment awards that contain rightsctive nonforfeitable dividends (whether paid gpaid) are participating securities, and
should be included in the two-class method of caimguEPS. The FSP is effective for fiscal yearsibeigg after December 15, 2008, and
interim periods within those years, and is not expe to have a significant impact on the Compa@g'ssolidated Financial Statements.

Note 2. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill

The Company performs its annual impairntest for goodwill in accordance with SFAS 14Zoodwill and Other Intangible Assetas
of the last day of the fiscal year or when evideofcpotential impairment exists. The Company'singsapproach utilizes a discounted cash
flow analysis corroborated by comparative markeltiples to determine the fair value of its busiressfor comparison to their corresponding
book values. If the book value exceeds the estiiatie value for a business, a potential impairmgitdicated and SFAS 142 prescribes the
approach for determining the impairment amourdni.

In 2006, changes in the industry and tretegic focus of the Company, as well as operatiomalenges from employee turnover that the
Company encountered after the completion of the-eat period, led to a goodwill impairment chard&b8.3 million in the Public Safety and
Security segment. The Company had no tax baskdgrgbodwill and there was no tax benefit deriveahf the impairment charge.

In December 2008, the Company concludetittigadecision to exit three businesses acquirdu tive SYS merger and included in the
KGS reporting segment met the criteria to be clssas held for sale. The Company also conclutlisdwas a triggering event under
SFAS 142 that required a review of the Company&igdll and intangibles assets with indefinite livBgcause the three business units were
never integrated into the KGS reporting unit, aadach, the benefits of the acquired goodwill wexreer realized by the rest of the reporting
unit, the goodwill of the disposed businesses vaasadjusted based upon the relative fair valugb@businesses disposed and businesses
retained. An impairment charge of $3.3 million tethto the separately assigned goodwill of thesinlegsses was recorded as part of the loss
from discontinued operations (see Note 3).
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Because of the timing of the disposals meet] above, the required impairment test of theSkf@odwill and intangible assets with
indefinite lives was included with the Company'guieed annual impairment test of goodwill. The amrimpairment test for goodwill was
performed using a discounted cash flow analysipsrtpd by comparative market multiples to deterntiveefair values of the Company's
segments versus their book values. The test agoémber 28, 2008, indicated that the book valueth®KGS segment, excluding Digital
Fusion (DFI), which was purchased on December Q@82exceeded the fair values of these businesseseaulted in the Company recordir
charge totaling $105.8 million in its KGS segmentthe impairment of goodwill. The impairment chaiig primarily driven by adverse equity
market conditions that caused a decrease in cumaritet multiples and the Company's stock pricef&ecember 28, 2008, compared with
test performed as of December 31, 2007.

Given continued significant decline in gteck market in general and specifically our stpdke in 2009, we believe it is more likely than
not that this could be an indication of additiogabdwill impairment and could potentially resultartriggering event under SFAS 142 and an
additional goodwill impairment charge in the figgtarter of 2009.

The Company had tax basis in a portiorhefgoodwill impaired in 2008. The Company had presly recorded a deferred tax liability
the tax amortization of this goodwill. The deferted liability was considered to have an indefirite, and as such, the liability was not
considered as support for deferred tax assets. \Miegeimpairment to goodwill was taken, book basithe goodwill was now less than tax
basis, resulting in a deferred tax asset and quoreing increase to the valuation allowance. Them@any has claimed a tax benefit on its
financial statements of approximately $2.0 millitee amount of the deferred tax liability prioritopairment.

Prior to recording the goodwill impairmetite company tested the purchased intangible assdtether long-lived assets at these
businesses as required by SFAS 144¢counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lomgetl Assets' and the carrying value of these assets
were determined not to be impaired.

The changes in the carrying amounts of gdlbdy operating segment for the years ended Déxm81, 2006, December 31, 2007 and
December 28, 2008, are as follows (in millions):

Public
Safety & Government
Security Solutions Total
Balance as of December 31, 2( $18: $ 761 $ 944
Acquisitions — 53.¢ 53.¢
Impairments (18.9) — (18.9)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ 129.¢ $129.¢
Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustn — 64.€ 64.€
Balance as of December 31, 2( $ — $ 194°f $194.t
Acquisitions and purchase accounting adjustn — 63.5 63.5
Impairments — (105.§ (105.9)
Balance as of December 28, 2( $ — $ 1527 $152.C
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Purchased Intangible Assets
The following tables set forth informatitor finite-lived intangible assets subject to anmation (in millions):

As of December 31, 2007 As of December 28, 2008
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Net Gross Net
Value  Amortization Value Value  Amortization Value

Acquired finite-lived intangible asse

Customer relationshif $15.1 $ (2.6) $12.£ $23.C $ (5.0) $18.C
Contracts and backic 11.€ (4.2 74 17.1 (6.6) 10.t
Developed technolog — — — 3.1 (0.2 2.9
Non-compete agreemer 1.3 1.3 0.C 1.3 1.3 0.C
Trade name 0.4 (0.9 0.C 1.2 (0.9 0.8

Total $28.4 $ (8.5 $19.¢ $457 $ (135 $32.2

The aggregate amortization expense forefilived intangible assets was $2.1 million, $2i8iom and $5.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2007, and December 28, 28§&:ctively.

The increase in finite-lived intangibles2iB08 is related to the acquisitions of SYS Tecbgigs (SYS) on June 28, 2008 and DFI on
December 24, 2008. Refer to the schedule below@hbte 5 of the Consolidated Financial Stateméntmillions, except amortization
period).

As of December 28, 2008
Weighted
Gross  Accumulated Average
Net Amortization
Value Amortization  Value Period (years

SYS
Acquired Intangible Asse
Customer relationshif $10 $ (0.1) $0.¢ 1C
Contracts and backlc 3.0 0.3 2.7 7.1
Developed technolog 3.1 (0.1) 3.C 1C
Trade name 0.9 (0.2) 0.8 10
Total SYS $8.0 ¢ (0.6) $7.4 8.¢
DFI
Acquired Intangible Asse
Customer relationshig $4.2 % — $4.2 9.¢
Contracts and backlc 5.1 — 51 5.2
Total DFI $9.3 % — $9.: 7.3

There is no amortization for DFI since asvacquired on December 24, 2008.
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Information about estimated amortizatiopense for intangible assets subject to amortizdtiothe five years succeeding December 28,
2008, is as follows (in millions):

Amortization
Expense

2009 $ 5.7
2010 5.C
2011 4.7
2012 3.4
2013 3.4
Thereaftel 10.C
$ 32.2

Note 3. Discontinued Operations

On February 17, 2006, the Company entereda definitive agreement to divest all of its @i®ns in Mexico for total approximate cash
consideration of $18.0 million, which approximateé net book value of the operations, including.318illion of liabilities associated with a
loss contingency. The transaction closed on Maf;i2006. The transaction was structured as a $&thee Company's subsidiaries in Mexico,
and the purchase price consisted of $1.5 milliocaish paid on February 17, 2006, plus a securedigsory note payable in installments
through December 31, 2006. The note was securgdeldges of assets and a personal guaranty.

The final closing balance sheet as of Fafyrd7, 2006 resulted in net asset adjustmenteggtjng to a total approximate $18.9 million
consideration, $1.5 million which was paid on Felyul7, 2006, with the remaining $17.4 million phlgaby means of the promissory note in
installments through December 31, 2006 with arr@#terate of 7.5% per annum. The remaining noteivable balance was paid in December
2006. No amounts remain outstanding on the notivable.

On December 28, 2006, the Board of Dirextdrthe Company approved a plan to divest portadritee Company's business where critical
mass had not been achieved. This plan involveditrestiture of the Company's EMEA (Europe, MiddisEand Asia) operations and its
remaining South American operations. The Compamgrdened that these operations met the critertzetolassified as held for sale.
Accordingly, these operations were reflected asattiSnued in accordance with SFAS 144¢counting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assetslh the accompanying consolidated financial statameommencing as of and for the year ended DeceB1h&t006.

The EMEA operations were sold to LCC In&ional, Inc. (LCC) on March 9, 2007 for $4.0 nahiin cash, $3.3 million of which was
received on that date. We also received approxisn&tie8 million from our EMEA operations, prior asdbsequent to the closing date as
payment on outstanding intercompany debt. The belafithe $0.7 million sales price was withheldeasurity for the satisfaction of certain
indemnification obligations and was payable ont daat is the earlier of March 31, 2008 or theedhtt the buyer files its 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2007. The sale of EMEArg&ata gain on disposition of $3.3 million. In flearth quarter of 2007, the Compa
recorded a reserve of $0.7 million on the remairsialgs price holdback based on the
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Company's assessment of LCC's available liquidity ability to pay following the Company's reviewldEC's most recently file financial
statements, thereby reducing the net estimatedagethis transaction to $2.6 million.

On April 20, 2007, the Company entered emicEquity Purchase Agreement to sell all of tlseésl and outstanding equity of its interests
of its wholly owned subsidiary WFI Brazil Techloga Telecomunicaciones LTDA, to Strategic Projemtiges, LLC (SPS). The
consideration included the assumption of substiyntidl outstanding liabilities of WFI Brazil, nomal cash consideration, and additional earn-
out consideration based on 25 percent of net rabksg collected subsequent to the closing date Coimepany recorded an impairment charge
of approximately $5.2 million as of December 310@@o reduce the current carrying value of the Bigzerations to their estimated fair value
based upon current indications of interest. Instbeond quarter of 2007, when this business was a@din on disposition of $0.2 million was
recorded primarily due to lower than expected sgliosts.

On May 29, 2007, the Company entered intdsset Purchase Agreement with LCC pursuant tehvttie Company agreed to sell to L
all of the assets used in the conduct of the ojperaff the Company's Wireless Network Servicesiess segment that provides engineering
services to the non-government wireless commuiigatindustry in the United States.

The transaction was completed on June @7.2Dhe aggregate consideration paid by LCC in eotion with the Acquisition was
$46 million. LCC delivered a subordinated promigsoote for the principal amount of $21.6 milliohét" Subordinated Promissory Notg
paid $17 million at closing and paid final workingpital adjustments of $2.4 million through an admant to the Subordinated Promissory
Note, and the Company retained an estimated $5li@min net working capital of the busine:

On July 5, 2007, the Company announcedittaid sold the $21.6 million Subordinated PromigsNote in a transaction arranged by
KeyBanc Capital Markets ("KeyBanc"). The Compangeieed approximately $19.6 million in net cash mds, reflecting a discount from |
value of less than five percent and aggregateddion fees of approximately $1 million, which indes a $0.75 million fee to KeyBanc, an
affiliate of the Company's lender. The note wasuaegl by a fund affiliated with Silver Point Capjtha.P. ("Silver Point"). The Company did
not provide any guaranty for LCC's payment obligrasi Post closing adjustments were also coveregbebgote.

On August 10, 2007, in accordance withtémms of the acquisition agreement, the Companyiged the closing balance sheet working
capital calculation, which indicated a $2.6 millimarking capital adjustment was due to the Comm@ngn increase to the balance of the
Subordinated Promissory Note. LCC had thirty daysetiew the calculation and notify the Companyoy dispute. The Company and LCC
agreed to a final working capital calculation of4shillion. The Company collected $2.3 million ianuiary 2008, net of a $0.1 million discount
from Silver Point in accordance with the termsha hote agreement. This amount is presented asfpaotes receivable in the consolidated
balance sheet as of December 31, 2007.

On July 7, 2007, the Company entered irdefaitive agreement with an affiliate of Platindbquity to sell the Company's wireless
deployment business. Platinum Equity is a Los Aegélased private equity firm whose portfolio inedadervice and distribution businesses in
a number of equity
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sectors. The total consideration for the acquisitias $24 million including $18 million in cashabsing, subject to post closing working
capital adjustments, and an aggregate $6 milliamtinree-year earn-out arrangement through 201®1trainsaction included a Transition
Services Agreement for the transition of certaivises for a period of nine months. The assets to#h affiliate of Platinum Equity include
of the Company's wireless deployment businesstlamtVireless Facilities name. The transaction daseJuly 24, 2007.

On September 25, 2007, in accordance Wwétratquisition agreement, the Company providedadtking capital calculation to Platinum
Equity. On July 16, 2008, the Company came to aaeagent with Platinum Equity on a working capitdjustment of $5.0 million. In
connection with that resolution, the earn-out ageament was terminated. The adjustment was to lkipanstallments with the first amount of
$2.5 million due on July 31, 2008 and payments@5$nillion monthly thereafter until paid in fulhiDecember 2008. The Company did not
make the scheduled $2.5 million payment due aslgf3ll, 2008. Payments of $1.0 million were madAugust and September of 2008, with
an additional $0.5 million paid in December 2008.a& December 28, 2008, the balance of $2.5 mifilus accrued interest on the outstan
balance has been reflected in other current lizsli

The Company determined that the U.S. emging and U.S. deployment operations met the @iterbe classified as held for sale in the
first quarter of 2007. Accordingly, the Company heffected these operations as discontinued arebssd these assets for impairment in
accordance with SFAS 144 Atcounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Longdd Assets. The Company determined that the assets ¢
U.S. deployment operations were impaired and regbedh impairment charge of approximately $13.4iomilin the first quarter of 2007. The
fair value of the assets was determined by utijzlre sale price less estimated costs to selldbabss. The Company recorded a gain in
discontinued operations from the sale of the Un§ireering operations of $14.8 million in the setguarter of 2007. Upon the divestiture of
the deployment business on July 24, 2007, the Caynperorded a loss from disposal of $1.9 millieflacting the closing working capital
adjustment and final closing balance sheet. Intamdithe Company recorded a charge in the thiattgu of 2007 for an excess facility accrual
of approximately $1.1 million related to certairifily leases of Deployment field offices that werat assumed by Platinum.

The determination that the U.S. engineebinginess and U.S. deployment operations met ttegiarto be classified as held for sale in the
first quarter of 2007 was also a triggering everder SFAS 142 Goodwill and Other Intangible Assét§'SFAS 142") that resulted in an
accelerated review of the Company's goodwill anargibles assets with indefinite lives. In accomawith SFAS 142, the Company allocated
the goodwill for the WNS reporting unit based upbe fair value of the engineering business andldmoyment business. The fair values used
were based upon market information obtained asultref the sale of the businesses. This resuftethiimpairment charge of approximately
$7.2 million related to goodwill for this reportinmit which was recorded in the first quarter 0020

During the due diligence process relatetthéoacquisition of SYS Technologies (SYS), whickwred on June 28, 2008, senior
management identified three business units of S¥iBware non-core to Kratos' base national secarity public security businesses. These
businesses provide video surveillance and infolwnaginalysis products, digital broadcasting prodaot$incident
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response management systems. In December of 20®8ew@aluating these businesses further, a decigsas made to dispose of and sell all
three business units. In accordance with SFAS théée business units are classified as held ferasal reported in discontinued operations as
of and for the year ended December 28, 2008, réspc The Company recorded a $4.5 million impamhcharge in the fourth quarter of
2008 primarily related to the impairment of goodwihd intangibles allocated to these businessdselmuary 2009, two of the businesses were
sold for an aggregate cash consideration of apprately $0.3 million. The Company currently expeotsell the third remaining business in
the first half of 2009.

In addition, in accordance with EITF 87-2dlpcation of Interest to Discontinued OperatidiBITF 87-24"), interest expense incurred on
the debt that was required to be repaid as a refthie sales of our discontinued businesses viasad¢d to discontinued operations for the
periods presented. During the years ended DeceBih@006 and 2007, and December 28, 2008, intergEinse allocated to discontinued
operations was approximately $0.0 million, $2.2lioil and $0.0 million, respectively. The followitable presents the results of discontinued
operations (in millions):

Year ended Year ended Year ended
December 31 December 31 December 2€

2006 2007 2008
Revenue $ 2017 $ 857 $ 2.0
Loss before taxe (9.8 (12.%) (6.8
Provision (benefit) for income tax: 1.9 (0.9 2.3
Net loss $ (1179 $ (126 $ (5.5)

Following is a summary of the assets aaldilities of discontinued operations as of Decen#ier2007 and December 28, 2008 (in
millions) for each of the operations:

December 31, 20C December 28, 20C

Cash $ 03 $ 0.1
Accounts receivable, n 0.8 0.4
Other current asse 0.5 0.4
Current assets of discontinued operati $ 1€ % 0.¢
Non-current assets of discontinued operati $ 01 $ 0.2
Accounts payabl $ — 0.1
Accrued expense 3.7 4.1
Unrecognized tax benefi 1.2 0.8
Other current liabilitie: 0.4 0.3
Current liabilities of discontinued operatic $ 53 $ 5.2
Non-current unrecognized tax benet $ 2C % 11
Other nor-current liabilities 0.7 0.8
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operatic  $ 27 % 1.
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Tactical Survey Group, Inc. ("TSG")

In February 2004, the Company paid $1.0ionilin cash to bring its total stock ownership ifios in Tactical Survey Group, Inc. (TSG)
privately-held company that provides expertiseémedoping, deploying and integrating tactical syrsgstems for use in government and
commercial applications, to 11%. Pursuant to tleigions of APB Opinion 18, "The Equity Method o€@ounting for Investments in
Common Stock”, this investment was accounted faeuthe equity method of accounting due to thegres of significant influence deemed
to exist based on the significant number of sulremtd that the Company has entered into with TSf5tlaa presence of a Kratos employee on
TSG's board of directors.

During the third quarter of 2006, TSG wadaonger considered a significant subcontractaghéoCompany. This factor, combined with
lack of current representation on TSG's board i@ators resulted in the Company concluding effecBeptember 29, 2006 that significant
influence no longer existed. Accordingly, the invesnt in TSG no longer met the conditions for tBe af the equity method of accounting
has been accounted for under the cost method Sigmber 29, 2006. There were no equity earnglgted to this investment during the
period this investment was accounted for undeethéty method of accounting. The balance of the Gamy's investment in TSG at
December 31, 2006 totaled $1.2 million. The Compawsluates the realizability of its investment Q@ according to the provisions of APB
Opinion 18 and FAS 115-1 and FAS 124-1. The Compamiodically obtains and reviews the financiatest@ents of TSG. Based on this
review, and recent indicators of fair value, ana@nment charge of $0.9 million was recorded in 2@9reduce the carrying value of this
investment as of December 31, 2007 to $0.3 million.

During the second quarter of 2008, the Camypsold its remaining interest in TSG for $0.3limil recognizing no gain or loss on the sale.
CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

The Company has an investment in CommV8ggations, Inc., a privately-held wireless netwpténning and deployment company. The
balance of the Company's investment in CommVerdeti®as, Inc. at December 31, 2006 totaled $0.%anil Management periodically
obtains and reviews the most recent financial perémce and financial forecasts available from Coreng¥ which may include information
regarding project status and current progresseobtisiness. Based on this review, an impairmengehaf $0.9 million was recorded to reduce
the carrying value of this investment as of Decen®ie 2007 to $0.0 million. This investment is asoted for under the cost method and has
been classified on the consolidated balance smeletruhe caption "Investments in unconsolidatetiatts." One of the Company's directors is
also a director of CommVerge Solutions, Inc.

Note 5. Acquisitions
Digital Fusion Inc.

On December 24, 2008, the Company acqtiradsville, Alabama based Digital Fusion Inc. (DF)a stock for stock transaction for
approximately $37.0 million. DFI provides Commafbntrol, Communications, Computing, Intelligencenillance, and Reconnaissance
(C4ISR) and technical engineering services, Unmamerial Vehicle (UAV) products and technology amabs
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significant engineering, modeling and simulatiopafalities. The acquisition of DFI provides Kratwgh new customers and an expanded
contract vehicle portfolio, in addition to expanglithe range of service offerings to existing Kratastomers. Principal customers of DFI
include the Army Aviation and Missile Research, Biepment and Engineering Center (AMRDEC), Army $pand Missile Defense
Command/Army Forces Strategic Command ARSTRAT), NAfarshall Space Flight Center, and certain cléagi€ustomers. The
aforementioned factors are the primary reasontf@rcquisition and the amount subsequently assigngdodwill.

The purchase price of $37.0 million incladkrect transaction costs of $0.9 million. The @amy issued 22.9 million shares to DFI
shareholders and assumed DFI options, which rekintthe issuance of replacement options to acqypeoximately 10.0 million shares of
Kratos common stock. The value of the purchasespgtated to the common stock issued was derived the number of shares of Kratos
common stock issued of 22.9 million, based on 1&lBon shares of DFI common stock outstanding #relexchange ratio of 1.7933 for each
DFI share, at a price of $1.27 per share, the geethosing price of Kratos shares of common stotkhe announcement date and for the two
days prior to and two days subsequent to the pablimuncement of the merger on November 24, 2008 Company issued replacement
options to DFI option holders at the same termthefoptions realized at closing subject only togkehange ratio of 1.7933 for each DFI
option. The fair value of the options issued thaswllocated to goodwill based upon the Black-Sehpticing model was $7r@illion. The faii
value of unvested options which are related toruservice will be expensed as the service is paeéd over the weighted average vesting
period of 1.2 years. No results of operations of & included in the accompanying consolidatedrfaial statements.

Since signing the definitive merger agreenie November 2008, senior management of Krataslzifl have been developing a plan to
restructure certain business activities of DFI. Ppla includes a comprehensive assessment of persaalocation of personnel, and facility
consolidation in Huntsville. Personnel and fa@hticonsolidation costs are still being developeelefore, the estimated restructuring liabilities
are subject to change as plans become finalizegl Cimpany expects to finalize the restructuring) pla soon as possible, but no later than
December 28, 2009.

The following summarizes the preliminaripahtion of the purchase price, including transactosts of $0.9 million, to the fair value of
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed atdtesof acquisition (in millions):

Cash $ 2.3
Accounts receivable, n 10.C
Other current assetl 0.1
Property, plant, and equipme 1.C
Intangible assel 9.3
Goodwill 23.¢
Other asset 04
Total asset 46.€
Current liabilities (9.0
Other liabilities (0.9
Net assets acquire $37.C
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The goodwill recorded in this transactiemot tax deductible with the exception of appraadaty $3.6 million which was tax deductable
to DFI.

SYS Technologies

On June 28, 2008, the Company acquiredZ3ago-based SYS Technologies ("SYS"). SYS provalesnge of Command, Control,
Communications, Computing, Intelligence, Surveiti@nand Reconnaissance (C4ISR) and net-centriiemduto federal, state, local and other
customers. The combination of SYS and Kratos cseateroad, complementary set of offerings, andtiposi the organization to deliver prov
capabilities to a wider spectrum of customers eatreas of highly-specialized engineering and llitems and services, specifically in the
areas of weapon systems life cycle support anchseixie, military range operations, missile and weagystem testing, and C4ISR. The amc
of goodwill assigned in the allocation of purchasiee is primarily attributable to the aforemengodnadvantages of this acquisition.

The purchase price of $55.9 million incladkrect transaction costs of $2.4 million andreated restructuring costs to be paid by Kratos.
The value of the purchase price related to the comstock issued was derived from the number ofeshaf Kratos common stock issued of
25.3 million, based on 20.1 million shares of SYSfhmon stock outstanding and the exchange ratio2&8P for each SYS share, at a price of
$2.022 per share, the average closing price ofoérahares of common stock on the announcemenaddtfor the two days prior to and two
days subsequent to the public announcement of érganon February 21, 2008. Since signing the dizénmerger agreement in February
2008, senior management of Kratos and SYS have deeioping a plan to restructure and/or exit detbaisiness activities of SYS. The plan
includes a comprehensive assessment of persoeteation of personnel, facility consolidation andt strategies for certain lines of business.
As of December 28, 2008, the plan tentatively estés approximately $2.0 million of restructuringtsoassociated with personnel, and
additional costs of $0.5 million for facilities ceslidation. Personnel, facilities consolidation @xi costs are still being developed therefore,
the estimated restructuring liabilities are subjeathange as plans become finalized. The Compgpgcts to finalize the restructuring plan as
soon as possible, but no later than June 28, 2009.

In addition, the Company identified threesimess units of SYS that are not core to our lessirstrategy and/or have been dilutive to
profitability. The divestiture of these businesséi§ slightly reduce revenues going forward, and ompany believes will immediately
increase profitability and cash flow. The salewad f these businesses were recently completedegqubst to year end for an aggregate cash
consideration of approximately $0.3 million, andsiexpected that the sale of the other busine$sedur during the first half of 2009. These
businesses have been classified as discontinuedtmpes in the Company's Consolidated FinancialeBtants as of December 28, 2008 ani
Company has recorded an impairment charge of $alism primarily resulting from allocated goodwgind purchased intangibles associated
with these businesses which is included in lossifdiscontinued operations in the Consolidated State of Operations.

The Consolidated Statement of Operationghf® year ended December 28, 2008 includes thétsesf SYS's operations from the date of
acquisition, June 28, 2008.
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The following summarizes the allocatiortted purchase price, including transaction cos®204 million, to the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the date ofiiaiepn (in millions):

Cash $ 4C
Accounts receivable, n 13.€
Other current asse 1.7
Property, plant, and equipme 14
Intangible assel 8.¢
Goodwill 40.1
Other asset 0.2
Total asset 69.¢
Current liabilities (13.2)
Other liabilities (0.9)
Net assets acquire $55.¢

The goodwill recorded in this transactiemot tax deductible with the exception of appraadiety $6.7 million which was tax deductible
SYS.

Haverstick Consulting, Inc

On December 31, 2007, the Company acqui@idnapolis, Indiana headquartered Haverstick Giting, Inc. ("Haverstick") as part of
the Kratos Government Solutions segment. Haverstiokides rocket and missile test and evaluatiGgpons systems support, and
professional services to the U.S. Army, U.S. Airdey U.S. Navy, NASA, and other federal, state lacdl agencies. Through the Haverstick
acquisition, the Company expanded its customepfadtwithin the Department of Defense (DOD), amth&nced its presence with the U.S.
Force, a key growth area for Kratos. The aforenoesetl factors are the primary reason for the adiurisand the amount subsequently assit
to goodwill.

The total purchase price of $92.0 milliapludes transaction costs incurred by the Comp&®p.®& million. The purchase price paid to
Haverstick was $91.2 million comprised of $70.3limil in cash and the issuance of 7.48 million sharfethe Company's common stock val
at $2.60 per share, or an aggregate stock consmed $19.4 million based on 7.48 million shaats price of $2.60 per share, and a working
capital adjustment of $1.5 million. The value of $hares issued was determined by averaging tHeetaice of the stock on the
announcement date and for the two days prior toh@nddays subsequent to the public announcemethiecdicquisition, which occurred on
November 5, 2007

The Company held back $8.6 million (the dtbzlck Consideration) to secure any negative workapjtal adjustments required by the
merger agreement and the Company's indemnity rights Holdback Consideration is comprised of bashcand Kratos stock in the amounts
of $1.2 million and $7.4 million, respectively, aadcrues interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 4% y#itl. The indemnity rights component of
Holdback Consideration is scheduled to be releas88% increments on the 12 month and 2# month of the anniversary date of the
acquisition. The holdback payment due in
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December 2008 was not made pending the resolufian outstanding indemnification claim which istgidisputed by Haverstick.

In addition to the indemnity holdback, tigreement also called for a post closing workingtahadjustment. In February 2008, the
Company and Haverstick agreed on the working clagatiaulation called for in the agreement. The gkition resulted in a working capital
adjustment due to Haverstick in an amount of $lilbom. The working capital adjustment was paidiwg97,315 shares of Company stock on
June 30, 2008, valued at $1.3 million, and cas$0a? million in April 2008.

To fund the acquisition, the Company sed@a@ew credit facility of $85.0 million arranged KeyBanc Capital Markets. The credit
facility, which includes a $25.0 million line ofexdit and $60.0 million in term notes, replaced@wnpany's previous credit facility which had
an outstanding principal balance of $6.0 milliontbe date of closing.

Until the date on which the shares of stoekame salable, interest accrued on the valugeaflbsing stock at a floating rate of one-month
LIBOR plus four percent (4%) per annum. The shheemame saleable on June 30, 2008 and 167,692amdighares were issued in
satisfaction of the accrued interest.

The Consolidated Statements of Operationthie year ended December 28, 2008 includes thdtseof Haverstick's operations for the
entire year. The results of Haverstick's operatanesnot included in the accompanying Consolid8tedement of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.

The purchase price which includes traneaatosts of $0.8 million was accounted for as fefidin millions):

Cash $ 3.€
Accounts receivable, n 23.t
Other current asse 5.3
Property, plant, and equipme 2.1
Intangible assel 9.3
Goodwill 66.£
Other asset 2.4
Total asset 112.¢
Current liabilities (16.9
Other liabilities (3.7
Net assets acquire $ 92.C

The goodwill recorded in this transactiemot tax deductible.
Madison Research Corporatic

On October 2, 2006, the Company acquirentsiille, Alabama based Madison Research CorpardtldRC") as part of the Company's
KGS segment. MRC offers a broad range of techn&aljneering and IT solutions, and has developeel competencies in weapons system
lifecycle
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support, integrated logistics, test and evaluattommercial-off-the-shelf software and hardwarea@n and implementation, software
development and systems lifecycle maintenance afdrementioned factors are the primary reasonhf@rcquisition and the amount
subsequently assigned to goodwiill.

The purchase price was approximately $@8lion, including a working capital adjustment$®4.6 million and transaction costs of
$0.2 million, and is subject to certain additiopakt-closing adjustments. The Company paid $62lliomat closing, the working capital
adjustment of $4.6 million was paid in April 200@dathe remaining $6.9 million, which has been sgbsetly adjusted for legal costs and a
reduction in contingent cash consideration, wad haktk to secure the Company's indemnity rightsveifidbe released, subject to indemnity
rights, in installments following 6, 12, and 18 rtfumfrom the date of close. In April 2007, $1.5lioil of the hold-back was released and paid
to the former shareholders of MRC. In October 2@03econd scheduled holdback payment of $2.8 milias made. The remaining hold back
balance of approximately $2.5 million, includingcaged interest, as of December 28, 2008, subjetigtoesolution of certain indemnification
matters, is expected to be paid in the first ooedajuarter of 2009. The results of operations BfQvhave been included in the Company's
consolidated statement of operations for the perfomin the acquisition date of October 2, 2006.

The purchase price, including transactiost€ of $0.2 million, was accounted for as follimsmillions):

Current assel $17.€
Property, plant, and equipme 0.4
Intangible assel 8.1
Goodwill 53.¢
Total asset 80.1
Current liabilities (6.3
Net assets acquire $73.€

The goodwill recorded in this transactismot tax deductible.
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following tables summarize the suppletakstatement of operations information on an ditad pro forma basis as if the acquisiti
of DFI, SYS, Haverstick and Madison had occurredanuary 1, 2007, and includes adjustments that diezctly attributable to the
transactions or were not expected to have a cangrimpact on the Company. The pro forma resuksfar illustrative purposes only for the
applicable period and do not purport to be indieatf the actual results which would have occutrad the transaction been completed as of
the beginning of the period, nor are
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they indicative of results of operations which noagur in the future (all amounts, except per slaneunts are in millions):

SYS DFI
Haverstick Pro forma Pro forma Pro forma
Adjustments  Adjustments
Adjustments 2007
2007 As Reporte! (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)  Pro forma
Pro forma revenue $ 193.¢ $ 94z $ 79.C $ 47E $ 414:
Pro forma net los $ (40.9) % 5) $ @08 $ (06 $ @479
Shares outstanding or issued for acquisi 74.C 5.8 255 22.¢ 127.%
Basic and diluted pro forma net loss pers $ (0.55) $ (0.37)
SYs DFI
Pro forma Pro forma
Adjustments  Adjustments
2008 2008
As Reportec  (unaudited) (unaudited)  Pro forma
Pro forma revenue $ 297 $ 36 $ 61C 394.¢
Pro forma net los $ (111.) $ (©.1) $ (1.5 $(112.9)
Shares outstanding or issued for acquisi 92.€ 12.C 22.¢ 127.t
Basic and diluted pro forma netloss pers $ (1.20) $ (0.8¢)

Contingent Acquisition Consideration

In connection with certain business acdjoiss, the Company may agree to make additionakéupayments to sellers contingent upon
achievement of specific performance-based milestbyehe acquired entities. Pursuant to the pronsbf SFAS 141, such amounts are
accrued, and therefore, recorded by the Company wWieecontingency is resolved beyond a reasonahlbtdand the additional consideration
becomes payable. The other current liabilitieshenaccompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet asadrbeer 28, 2008 include $2.5 million
for Madison Research Corporation ("MRC") and $1ilion for Haverstick. In conjunction with the Hanstick acquisition contingent common

stock consideration of $8.4 million is reflectedaaklitional paid in capital for contingent consetérn in the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The MRC holdback of approximately $2.5 roill was originally due in April 2008 and this d&izs been extended to provide additional
time to resolve outstanding indemnification obligas. The Company expects to make this paymen®@®2The remaining amounts for
Haverstick of $1.2 million in cash and $8.8 millisncommon stock are due in equal payments in Deeer®008 and September 2009. The

December payment to Haverstick was not made perbgesolution of an indemnification claim. Thddimack arrangements accrue interest
in accordance with the terms of the purchase ageatan
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A summary of the contingent acquisition sideration as of December 31, 2007 and Decemb&(®® is summarized in the following
table (in millions):

Haverstick MRC Total

Balance as of December 31, 2( $ 8.6 %23 $10.¢
Post acquisition adjustments and interest acc 14 0.2 1.6
Balance as of December 28, 2( $ 10.C $2&5 %12t

Note 6. Balance Sheet Details
Cash and cash equivalents

The Company's cash equivalents consistvefright cash sweep accounts that are investeddailyabasis. As of December 28, 2008, the

company had no other short-term investments. The aad cash equivalents at December 31, 2007 acehfeer 28, 2008 were as follows (in
millions):

December 31, 200 December 28, 200:
Amortized Amortized
Fair Value Fair Value
Cost Cost

Basis Basis Basis Basis
Cash $ 36 $ 36 $ 2¢ $ 2¢
Money marke 5.C 5.C 0.3 0.3
Cash and cash equivale $ 8¢ $ 8€6 $ 32 $ 3.2

Net unrealized gains and realized gainerdsxl during the year ended December 31, 2007 acdrbber 28, 2008 were immaterial.
The breakdown of certain assets in the @ateted balance sheets consists of the followingexember 31, 2007 and 2008 (in millions):

Accounts receivable, n

2007 2008
Billed, current $43.c $ 61.F
Unbilled, current 34.F 40.2
Total current accounts receival 77.€ 101.%
Allowance for doubtful accoun (0.8 (1.2
Total current accounts receivable, 77.C 100.F
Unbilled, long term (included in other long ternsets) 0.6 0.3
Total accounts receivable, r $77.€ $100.¢
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Retainages receivable are $1.5 million $@ million as of December 31, 2007 and DecemBeRQ08, respectively.

Property and equipment, n

Computer equipmet $49 $ 71
Software 3.3 15
Furniture and office equipme 4.3 5.7
Facility under capital leas 1.2 0.9
Leasehold improvemen 1.8 2.4

Property and equipme 15.t 17.€
Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (8.6) (10.9

Total property and equipment, r $69 $ 7.2

Depreciation expense was $2.6 million, $hillion and $2.5 million for the years ended Det®m31, 2006 and 2007 and December 28,
2008, respectively.

Investments in unconsolidated affilia

CommVerge, Inc. $— $—
Tactical Survey Group, Inc 0.2 —
Total investments in unconsolidated affilia $0.2 $—

Note 7. Debt
(a) Credit Agreement

On December 31, 2007, the Company entertedai credit facility of $85.0 million with KeyBart€apital Markets. This credit facility
provides for two term loans consisting of a fifshlterm note of $50.0 million and a second liemteote of $10.0 million, as well as a first |
$25 million revolving line of credit. The $10.0 fidin term loan has a five and one half-year terrhwrincipal payments of $25,000 required
quarterly beginning on March 31, 2008 through Ma&h2013 with the final balance of $9.5 millionedon June 30, 2013. The $50.0 million
term loan has a five year term with principal paptseof $0.6 million required quarterly beginning Miarch 31, 2008, $1.3 million in 2009,
$2.5 million in 2010, and $4.1 million in 2011 aR@d12. The term loans have a provision which stitasonce the full amount of the note has
been borrowed, the notes cannot be paid down dutr@ved again. The revolving line of credit h&fsar year term which expires on
December 31, 2011. All loans under the new credilify have an interest rate equal to a basedefiaed as a fluctuating rate per annum e
to the higher of (a) the Federal Funds Rate pls%and (b) the rate of interest in effect for sdely as publicly announced from time to time
by KeyBank as its "prime rate" plus a margin fag tarm loans of 6.5% to 7.5% and a margin of 1.0%.25% on the revolving line of credit.
The applicable margin at date of borrowing is detaed by the ratio of the Company's aggregate ubeits EBITDA for the previous four
fiscal quarters. The Company used the
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credit facility to fund the acquisition of Haverdtiand to retire the outstanding debt from an Cet@®06 credit agreement with Key Bank.

The credit agreements contain covenantstwiipose certain restrictions on the Companytybo, among other things, incur additio
debt, pay dividends, make investments or sell as$ée credit agreements are collateralized bysisets of the Company. Additionally, cer
non-recurring cash inflows such as proceeds fraetagles, insurance recoveries, and equity offemmay have to be used to pay down
indebtedness and may not be reborrowed. In additi@encredit agreements contain certain finan@akoants which are defined by the ternm
the agreements. These financial covenants includexdmum first lien leverage ratio, a maximum tdéerage ratio, a minimum liquidity

ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, amdicimum consolidated EBITDA at various dates fog $50.0 million term loan and the
$25.0 million revolver as outlined in the followinable.

Minimum

Maximum First

Maximum Total

Minimum Fixed
Charge Coveragt

Consolidated

Lien Leverage Minimum EBITDA
Date Ratio Leverage Ratio  Liquidity Ratio Ratio (in millions)
2008 3.22t04.76:1.C 3.761t05.68:1.C 1.56to 1.33:1.C 1.05t0 0.50:1.C $16.1 to $19.
2009 297t02.33:1.C 2.78t03.50:1.C 1.60to1.58:1.C 1.11t01.02:1.C $19.8to $21.
2010 1.75t02.00:1.C 2.25t02.50:1.C 1.541t01.49:1.C 1.10to0 1.06:1.C $21.5to $23.
2011 1.75:1.0( 2.25:1.00 1.55t01.53:1.C 1.10:1.0 $24.4 to $26.
2012 1.75:1.01 2.25:1.0( 1.42t0 1.54:1.C 1.10:1.00 $26.7 to $27.

The $10.0 million subordinated term loasogbrovides for similar financial covenants.

As of December 28, 2008, the Company'stanting balance on the facility was $78.8 milliordahe weighted average interest rate on
the debt as of December 28, 2008 was 10.66%. Aeoémber 28, 2008, the unused line of credit utiderevolving line of credit was
approximately $2.0 million. The only restriction tre use of these funds is that the Company must bempliance with covenants of the
credit facility. The Company was in compliance withcovenants under the credit facility as of Draber 28, 2008.

In March 2008, the Company entered interdative agreement to settle its 2004 and 2007 isiesuclass action litigation actions and, ¢
result, the Company recorded a $4.9 million chémgee quarter ended December 31, 2007 to accsighire of the settlement amounts and an
estimate for a contingent liability associated wibal proceedings related to the derivative astioet of the amounts to be covered by the
Company's insurance carriers. As a consequenacofding this legal settlement, the Company didmeeét certain of the financial covenants
in accordance with the credit facility. Accordingbn March 27, 2008, the Company obtained an amentland waiver from its lenders to
waive the impact of the legal settlement amountigfinancial covenants as of December 31, 20@I7the affected future periods. The
amendment also amended the credit facility to pl®¥or an increase in the LIBOR floor rate to 4.2884l to require that the Company set
aside in a restricted account approximately 50%hefproceeds of the recovery from the theft oflstautions by its former stock option
administrator, or approximately $1.7 million, tonflithese settlement amounts. In April 2008, $1 lianiwas transferred to a restricted cash
account and in July 2008, an additional $0.6 millieas transferred for the amount received fromkarance carriers as settlement on the
theft of stock options. In July 2008, the fundirfghee 2007 Securities Litigation
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Settlement included the use of $1.2 million of dash from the restricted account. The lenders hisgereserved the right to require the
Company to utilize the entire amount of the $3.4iom in proceeds received from the theft of stogkions to permanently pay down
indebtedness. This right can be exercised no edile 60 days from March 27, 2008 and expired uperCompany's compliance with
financial covenants under the credit facility foetfour consecutive quarters commencing after Jsriy2008. The cost of the amendment,
which was approximately $0.5 million was recordediaferred financing costs in current assets othempanying consolidated balance
sheet which will be amortized over the remainirfig df the facility.

On June 26, 2008, the Company enteredaisiecond amendment to its credit facility in otdecomplete the merger with SYS. The
amendment specifically approves that certain uneecsubordinated convertible notes issued by SYtsdaded as subordinated debt under the
credit facility, provided that a Subordination Agmeent is obtained from the note holders represgminless than 95% of the aggregate
principal amount of all subordinated notes, whicdswbtained in July 2008. In addition, the amendmesvides for an add-back for amounts
representing actual transaction costs incurrednbgcguired entity in the computation of ConsolidaBITDA, as defined in the credit
agreement, in any acquisition in which 100% ofphiechase price is paid in equity securities ofGloenpany.

On February 11, 2008, the Company entertedthree derivative financial instruments with K@gnk to reduce the Company's exposu
its variable interest rates on its outstanding de€hése instruments initially hedged $70 millioritsfLIBOR-based floating rate debt with the
amounts hedged decreasing over time. The derivathagure on March 31, 2010 and March 31, 2011 eswltrin an average fixed rate of
3.16% for the term of the agreements. The Compasigdated these instruments as cash flow hedgésaich 2008, as a result of the
amendment to the Company's credit facility, whietlided a LIBOR floor rate of 4.25%, the Compantedained that these instruments were
no longer highly effective as a hedge. The net &ss®ciated with marking the derivative finanatiuments to market for the twelve months
ended December 28, 2008 was $1.7 million and hes teflected in other income (expense). Futuresyand losses on these derivative
instruments will continue to be recognized in tt@rpany's Statement of Operations. See Note 10.

In 2008, the Company paid approximately8$illion related to the 2007 securities litigatiand $3.0 million related to the 2004
securities litigation settlements in 2008. This amtovas partially funded by $2.2 million from thesstricted cash account which was funded as
a result of the first amendment to the current Gieakility. The Company expects to be reimbursedpd.6 million of the payment related to
the 2004 securities litigation settlement by thenpany's insurance which is anticipated during st fialf of 2009.

(b) Subordinated Notes

As of December 28, 2008, the Company hastanding convertible notes payable which were medlas a result of the SYS acquisition
totaling $3.1 million, of which $0.8 million was pable to related parties. The convertible notesipleyare unsecured and subordinated to the
Company's bank debt and bear interest at 10% pemaipayable quarterly. Principal is due February?009 and the notes are convertible at
any time into shares of common stock at a convensite of $2.86 per share.
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The balance of the outstanding notes is reflectamliirent and long-term portion of long-term debtHe accompanying consolidated balance
sheets.

In February 2009, in the interest of pres®y cash due to the current macroeconomic comditithe Company provided each note holder
with the option to:

(1) be paid cash in accordance with tligiral agreement

(2) extend the note for an additionahi@nths at the existing 10% rate and modify the eosion feature to the lower of the
existing conversion price of $2.86 per share orkthagos closing share value on February 13, 2009, o

(3) convert the principal balance of Kiashares at the lower of the existing conversiare pf $2.86 or the Kratos closing share
value on February 13, 2009 less a 10% discount.

As of February 28, 2009, $1.8 million oéthotes have been paid, $1.0 million of the note® been extended to August 14, 2010, and
$25.0 thousand have been converted to common slidolekers of approximately $0.2 million of the neteave not responded. As of
December 28, 2008, approximately $2.1 million & Balance on the subordinated debt is reflectediaent portion of long-term debt and
approximately $1.0 million is reflected as longrtedebt in the accompanying consolidated balancetshe

Future maturities of long-term debt ardadiews:

2009 $ 5.¢
2010 9.6
2011 36.2
2012 16.:
2013 13.¢

$81.¢
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The Company leases certain facilities andpmment under operating leases having terms expat various dates through 2016. Future
minimum lease payments under capital and oper&tagps as of December 28, 2008 are as followsi(iioms):

Net
Capital  Operating

Leases Leases
Year ending December 3
2009 $04 $ 8C
2010 0.4 5.4
2011 0.4 3.C
2012 0.3 1.8
2013 0.3 0.8
Thereaftel 0.2 04
Total future minimum lease payme! 20 $ 194
Less amount representing inter 0.9
Present value of capital lease obligati 11
Less current portio 0.2
Long-term capital lease obligatiol $ 0.8

Pursuant to the terms of sublease agresmasmif December 28, 2008, approximately $0.1 oniltif sublease income will offset future
minimum lease payments. Gross rent expense unéeatiqy leases for the years ended December 38, 2007 and December 28, 2008 w
$4.0 million, $4.3 million and $6.6 million, resgaely. Total sublease income for the years endeddinber 31, 2006, 2007 and December 28,
2008 totaling $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.4llion, respectively, has been netted against eapense.

Based on management's assessment of assusnginsidering existing market conditions, sufdeintal rates and recoverability of
operating lease expenses for the Company's vacgmenies and due to the Company's actions to didiase facilities, during the fourth quar
of 2006, the Company reevaluated its accrual faised office space and determined that a portidts @brporate facility would no longer be
utilized to the extent previously expected. Assute the Company calculated the estimated loasnaised office space to increase by
approximately $1.4 million in the quarter ended &mber 31, 2006. In 2007, the Company recorded ditiaaal $0.8 million for an excess
facility accrual for obligations under facility Is@s that were unfavorably impacted by our recergdtitures of our wireless network services
businesses which resulted in unused office spac2008, the Company recorded an additional $0.liomifor an excess facility accrual as a
result of the Consolidation of space that occuagthe Company has integrated its recent acquisitio

The accrual for loss on unused office speae $2.4 million and $1.7 million as of Decembgr 3007 and December 28, 2008,
respectively. The Company estimates that the rangaerccrual will be paid through 2010. These amgané included in asset impairment and
other charges on the Company's statements of aqgpesafhe lease on certain office facilities in@sdscheduled base rent increases over the
term of the lease. The total amount of the basep@yments is being charged to
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expense on the straight-line method over the tdrtheolease. In addition to the base rent paynbatCompany pays a monthly allocation of
the building's operating expenses. The Companydwsded deferred rent, included in accrued exgeasd other liabilities in the consolida

balance sheets, of $0.8 million and $0.4 millioatember 31, 2007 and 2008, respectively, togeftes excess of rent expense over cash

payments since inception of the respective lease.

Note 9. Income Taxes

The Company adopted the provisions of FNod January 1, 2007. The total liability for urognized tax benefits as of the date of
adoption was $4.7 million. Additionally, the Comgamas a tax refund claim of $2.4 million for whiithhas not recorded any benefit under
FIN 48 or prior standards. As a result of the impdatation of FIN 48, the Company recognized a #illfon increase in the liability for
unrecognized tax benefits, with $0.2 million net@ase in valuation allowance, $0.1 million chargedetained earnings, and $0.4 million
recorded to goodwill. In addition, the Company reghliits gross deferred tax assets by $10.8 milbonnrecognized tax benefits, which was
offset by a reduction in its valuation allowancetbg same amount.

The following table summarizes the activitjated to the Company's unrecognized tax ben@fitsillions):

Total

Balance at December 31, 2C $16.4
Increases related to prior peric 5.5
Decreases related to current year tax posit (7.3
Expiration of applicable statutes of limitatic (1.0
Foreign currency translatic 0.3

Balance at December 31, 2C $13.¢
Increases related to prior peric 0.C
Decreases related to current year tax posit 0.C
Expiration of applicable statutes of limitatic (2.0
Foreign currency translatic (0.

Balance at December 28, 2C $12.€

Included in the balance of unrecognized@mefits at December 28, 2008, are $12.8 milliotaxo benefits that, if recognized, would
affect the effective tax rate. Included in this ambis $8.8 million that would become a deferredaaset if the tax benefit were recognized. As
such, this benefit may be impacted by a correspondaluation allowance depending upon the Compayisolidated financial position at the
time the benefits are recognized.

The Company recognizes interest and pesalélated to unrecognized tax benefits in its igiom for income taxes. For the years ended
December 31, 2007 and December 28, 2008, the Compaarded $0.2 million and $0.1 million, respeetiy in interest or penalties.
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The Company believes that it is reasonpbhsible that as much as $3.2 million of the FINa8liabilities will expire within 12 months
of December 28, 2008 due to the expiration of weriapplicable statutes of limitations and possieltiement of a pending income tax refund
claim.

The Company is subject to taxation in th8.l&nd various state tax jurisdictions. The Comgjsatax years for 2000 and forward are
subject to examination by the U.S. and state talxaaities due to the existence of net operating twaryforwards. Generally, the Company's
tax years for 2002 and forward are subject to eratiun by various foreign tax authorities.

In assessing the realizability of defert@dassets, management considers on a periodi, bdséther it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will hetrealized. As such, management has determined thappropriate to maintain a full
valuation allowance against its deferred tax asgéth the exception of an amount equal to its defitax liabilities which can be expected to
reverse. Management will continue to evaluate #eeasity to maintain a valuation allowance agaissteferred tax asset.

As of December 28, 2008, the Company haetaleferred tax liability of zero. The deferred &ssets and liabilities are allocated based
upon the underlying asset or liability that prodiitiee deferred taxes. As of December 28, 2008ettvere no deferred tax assets or liabilities
allocated to discontinued operations.

The provision (benefit) for income taxesnfr continuing operations for the years ended Deeerdb, 2006 and 2007 and December 28,
2008 are comprised of the following (in millions):

2006~ 2007 2008
Current:

Federal $(0.5) $0.C $0.C
State 0.7 0.7 1.3
Total current 0.2 0.7 1.3

Deferred:
Federal 121 0.5 (1.9
State 15 01 (0.3
Total deferrec 13.6 0. (2.0
Total $13.¢ $1.2 $(0.7)

A reconciliation of total income tax prows (benefit) to the amount computed by applying statutory federal income tax rate of 35% to
loss from continuing operations before income tax
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provision (benefit) for the years ended Decembe2BD6 and 2007 and December 28, 2008 is as fol{pwmillions):

2006 2007 2008

Income tax expense (benefit) at federal statutaty $(11.9) $(9.4) $(37.2)
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit and vadunadilowanc 2.1 7 1.3
Increase (decrease) in federal valuation allow: 15.¢ 9.¢ 2.3
Increase (decrease) in reserves for uncertaindsitipns 0.1 — —
Nondeductible expen: 0.6 0.1 0.1
Nondeductible goodwill impairment charc 6.4 — 32.€

Total $13¢ $1.23 $ (0.7

The tax effects of temporary differencest fhive rise to the deferred tax assets and def¢aseliabilities as of December 31, 2007 and
2008 are as follows (in millions):

2007 2008
Deferred tax asset
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 08 $ 09
Sundry accrual 0.5 1.1
Vacation accrue 0.7 1.9
Stock-based compensatic 7.7 9.8
Property and equipment, principally due to differesin depreciatic 1.3 2.5
Investments 24 2.8
Net operating loss carryforwar 62.4 79.1
Capital loss carryforwar 1.6 15
Tax credit carryforward 0.3 0.3
Deferred revenu — 0.1
Reserves and oth 6.7 3.9
84.4 104.(
Valuation allowanct (75.00 (96.9
Total deferred tax assets, net of allowa 9.4 7.6
Deferred tax liabilities
Unearned revent (0.9 (0.5
Other intangible: (9.0 (5.6)
Property and equipment, principally due to differesin depreciatic (1.6) (1.5
Total deferred tax liabilitie (11.9 (7.6)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ (2.0 $ (0.0
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At December 28, 2008, the Company had #ddex loss carryforwards of $202.8 million (inciog stock option net operating loss
carryforwards) which expire beginning in 2020 amdious state tax loss carryforwards of $232.4 orillivhich expire beginning in 2012.
Federal and state tax laws impose restrictionhientilization of net operating loss and tax creditryforwards in the event of an "ownership
change" for tax purposes as defined by Sectiono382e Internal Revenue Code. At December 28, 20@8Company does not believe that it
has incurred any "ownership changes" which woultenelly limit the utilization of the loss carryfaards. If an "ownership change” does
occur, utilization of the net operating loss orditearryforward amounts may be limited. As disagsslsewhere, deferred tax assets relating to
the net operating loss and credit carryforwardsoffiset by a full valuation allowance. In additiantilization of state tax loss carryforwards is
dependent upon sufficient taxable income apportidoghe states.

In assessing the realizability of defert@dassets, management considers, on a periods; bdether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will hetrealized. During fiscal 2008, the Company reedran increase in its valuation allowance of
$21.4 million. Of this amount, $2.5 million is astét of current year operations, causing the ctilyear tax expense to increase over the
expected expense or benefit. The remaining incrieatbe valuation allowance is attributed to deddrtax assets acquired in the acquisitions of
SYS Technologies and Digital Fusion, Inc. and the4up of beginning deferred tax assets based toialgex return filings. The increase was
required based on the Company's overall assesshthd risks and uncertainties related to its feitaibility to realize and utilize the Compar
deferred tax assets.

Note 10. Fair Value Measurement

The Company adopted SFAS 157 as of Jariydt908, with the exception of the applicationtdd statement to norecurring nonfinancie
assets and nonfinancial liabilities. Non-recurnrampfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitiesvidnich it has not applied the provisions of
SFAS 157 include those measured at fair value adgdl impairment testing, indefinite lived intarme assets measured at fair value for
impairment testing, asset retirement obligationitsaity measured at fair value, and those initiaitgasured at fair value in a business
combination.

SFAS 157 establishes a valuation hierafohdisclosure of the inputs to valuation used &asure fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes
the inputs into three broad levels as follows. lldvmputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in aatiaekets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 inputs are quoted prices for similar asaet$ liabilities in active markets or inputs the¢ abservable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly through market corroboratjdar substantially the full term of the financiaktrument. Level 3 inputs are unobservable
inputs based on the Company's own assumptionstagadasure assets and liabilities at fair valuénancial asset or liability's classification
within the hierarchy is determined based on theskilevel input that is significant to the fair walmeasurement.
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The following table provides the assets lgadllities carried at fair value measured on eureing basis as of December 28, 2008 (in
millions):

Fair Value Measurements at December 28, 2008 using

Significant Significant
Quoted prices other observable  unobservable
Total in active markets
Carrying Value inputs inputs
December 28, 20C (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Derivative liabilities $ 17 % — 3 1.7  $ —

The significant Level 2 observable inpuifiaed to value the Company's derivative finandmstruments are based upon calculations
provided by an investment advisor and is validatét the use of a nationally recognized financegarting service.

Carrying amounts and the related estimfatiecdvalues of the Company's financial instrumemsmeasured at fair value on a recurring
basis at December 28, 2008 and December 31, 2@0asdpllows:

2007 2008
Carrying Carrying
Fair Fair
$ in millions Amount Value Amount Value
Cash surrender value of life insurance poli $ — $ — $ 02 %03
Capital lease obligatior $ 12 $12 $ 1C $0.8
Long-term debt $ 755 $75Et $ 78.¢& 76.2

Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance ddedi—The Company maintains whole life insurance policiesx group of executives for use
a funding source for deferred compensation arraegésn These policies are recorded at their caskradgr value as determined by the

insurance carrier. The policies are utilized asiig funding source for supplemental employegertent plans and amounts associated with
these policies are recorded in other assets indhsolidated statements of financial position.

Capital lease obligations—The fair valuecapital lease obligations was calculated basedterest rates available for leases with terms
and due dates similar to the Company's existingel@rangements.

Long-Term Debt—The fair value of the loregrh debt was calculated based on interest ratélsbleafor debt with terms and due dates
similar to the Company's existing debt arrangemént2007, the fair value of the long-term debt wegsiivalent to the carrying value as the
Company entered into the Credit Facility for thebton December 31, 2007.

Note 11. Stockholders' Equity

(@) Preferred Stock

On May 30, 2002, the Company issued aneagge of 90,000 shares of Series B Convertibleebesf Stock, at an aggregate purchase
price of $45.0 million, in a private placement tuiges

116




Table of Contents

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
December 28, 2008

Note 11. Stockholders' Equity (Continued)

affiliated with one of the directors of the Compd#®,000 shares), to a brother of the ChairmanGmdf Executive Officer of the Company
(10,000 shares) and to an unrelated third-partgstor (40,000 shares). The Company received $4dliomof net proceeds. Each share of
Series B Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible 100 shares of Common Stock for a conversiisef $5.00 per share, which was the
fair market value of the common stock at the d&issuance, at the option of the holder at any tisubject to certain provisions in the Serie
Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement. Prior to DeeeBih 2004, 64,517 shares of Series B ConverfitBéerred Stock were converted into
6,451,700 shares of the Company's Common Stocldpgdih5, 2006, 15,483 shares of Series B Convestleferred Stock were converted
into 1,548,300 shares of the Company's Common Sidwre was no issuance, redemption or converditimredSeries B Convertible Preferred
Stock in the most recent fiscal years ended DeceB8the2007 or December 28, 2008. On December 28,28 total liquidation preference
equaled $5.0 million. In accordance with EITF 03“P@rticipating Securities and the Two-Class Methoder FASB Statement 128", the
Company's Series B Preferred Stock was considepediti@ipating security for purposes of computirggio earnings per share.

(b) Stock Option Plans and Restricted Stock UniPlans

During the years ended 1997, 1999 and 2b@0Board of Directors approved the 1997 Stockddplan (the "1997 Plan"), the 1999
Equity Incentive Plan (the "1999 Plan") and the @0bn-statutory Stock Option Plan (the "2000 Plare¥pectively. Further, in February
2005, the Board of Directors approved the 2005 fgdacentive Plan (the "2005 Plan"). The 2005 Riaas subsequently approved by a
majority of the Company's stockholders on May X&)%

Stock options granted under the 1997 Pteh1®99 Plan may be incentive stock options or statutory stock options and are exercisable
for up to ten years following the date of granteT®ompany ceased making grants under, and subsbaieeminated the 1997 Plan upon
completion of its initial public offering. The 20@an permits the grant of non-statutory stockansj which are exercisable for a period
following the date of grant as determined by thatBloof Directors (generally ten years). Additiogalh July 2004, the Board of Directors
resolved that all future stock option grants uraleof the Company's stock option plans would be-statutory stock options, until such further
determination by the Board of Directors.

Stock option exercise prices for the 198P1999 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2005 Plan must bal émor greater than the fair market value
the common stock on the date of grant. A cumulatival of 5.3 million, 15.9 million, 6.5 million @ah6.5 million shares of common stock have
been authorized for issuance under the 1997 P&89 Plan, 2000 Plan and 2005 Plan, respectivelgrdlemain approximately 2.3 million
shares of common stock authorized for the 1997 Wlainh are no longer issuable due to the terminagicthe plan.

Digital Fusion Inc. 1998, 1999, 2000, ar@D3 Stock Option and Stock Incentive PlandDigital Fusion, Inc.'s 1998, 1999, 2000, and
2005 Stock Option and Stock Incentive Plans acdutieough the Company's acquisition of Digital Bmsilnc. ("DFI"), were terminated on
December 24, 2008, and no further grants were raader these plans after that date. Award grantsabee outstanding under these plans on
December 24, 2008 will continue to be governedhjrtexisting terms and may be exercised for shafrise Company's common stock at any
time prior to the expiration of the ten-year optierm or any earlier termination of those optiamgsénnection with the optionee's cessation of
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service with the Company. Stock options granteceutitese plans included incentive stock optionsoorstatutory stock options. All non-
statutory options vest upon change in control aatevit00% vested on December 24, 2008. With respéatentive stock options, the
qualified stock option plans provide that the eier@rice of each such option must be at leastlequ®0% of the fair market value of its
common stock on the date of grant. Stock optioastgd under these plans may generally be exerfrisedone to ten years after the date of
grant. Certain of these options had change in obptovisions that extended the exercise periogjfants for two years from the transaction
closing date. Awards granted under these plansrgiingest equally over three years; however, inr@ztion the with Company's acquisition
of Digital Fusion, Inc. the plans were amendechtdude immediate vesting of all unvested grantswguoy future change in control of the
Company. DFI also had certain options granted detsf its qualified stock option plans. These naoalified "out of plan" stock options expire
10 years from grant date.

On December 28, 2006, the Board of Directdrthe Company approved the acceleration of mgstf all unvested options issued prior to
June 30, 2006 to purchase shares of common stdble @ompany that were held by employees and direcThe acceleration was effective
of December 29, 2006, provided that holders ofritige stock options within the meaning of Secti@2 4f the Internal Revenue Code of 1¢
as amended, were given the election to declinadbeleration of an option if such acceleration widwve the effect of changing the status of
such option for federal income tax purposes fronmaantive stock option to a non-qualified stockiop. Options to purchase approximately
2.1 million shares of common stock were subje¢hi® acceleration.

The acceleration of these options was uallen to eliminate the future compensation expémstethe Company would have otherwise
recognized in its consolidated statement of opamativith respect to these options under the Stateaid-inancial Accounting Standards 12
" Share-Based Paymehtissued by the Financial Accounting StandardsrBgaFAS 123R). The expense that was incurred in 2006 related t
the vesting of these options was $ 5.4 millionantmnuing operations and $4.1 million in discon@dwperations.

On January 10, 2007, the Compensation Ctendf the Board approved a form of RestrictectiStdnit Agreement (the "RSU
Agreement") to govern the issuance of restrictedkstinits ("RSU") to executive officers under then@pany's 2005 Plan. Each RSU repres
the right to receive a share of common stock (at&h on the vesting date. Unless and until the &&st, the Employee will have no right to
receive Shares under such RSUs. Prior to actuaitdiion of Shares pursuant to any vested RSUsh &5Us will represent an unsecured
obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) oflgm the general assets of the Company. The RBatsriay be awarded to executive officers
under the RSU Agreement will vest according to mgsschedules specified in the notice of grant equanying each grant. We recognize
compensation expense on a straight-line basistheeresting periods based on the market price oftmek on the grant date. The awards
granted in 2007 had vesting periods ranged fromafths to 10 years with accelerated vesting oaugiuipon a change in control or
termination. The awards granted in 2008 had vegiér@gds ranging from monthly after one year toytears with accelerated vesting occurl
for some of the grants upon a change in contrédmnination. Upon exercise of the RSU, the Compgasyes new shares of common stock.
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The Company records compensation expemsariployee stock options based on the estimateddhie of the options on the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing maated the weighted average assumptions (annualizeémages) included in the following
table. Awards with graded vesting are recognizedguihe straight-line method. Fair value under SHASR is determined using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model with the following asgptions:

2006 2007 2008
Expected life:(1]

Stock options 3.8 year 10.0 year 5.3 year
Risk-free interest rate(z 4.3%-5.2% 4.3%-4.7% 0.0%- 2.1%
Volatility(3) 53.4%- 63.4% 56.8% 38.8%- 70.3%
Forfeiture rate(4 23.7% 23.7% 10.6%

Dividend yield(5) — _ _

Q) The expected life of stock options granted undermilan is the life of the option when the optiod @)% vested at grant. In 2006,
expected life of unvested options granted undePtha was based upon historical exercise pattehigwvthe Company believes are
representative of future behavior. No unvestedonstivere granted in 2007. In 2008, all unvestetboptgranted related to the
acquisition of DFI. As historically, the majorityf options granted were part of the Company's n@eatitinued Wireless Network
Services segment and not the Company's KGS segtherfompany did not have historical informatiolated to the expected term of
the options granted to DFI. The Company used mémketmation from the Company's peers to estimiageetxpected life of these gra
which was consistent with the methodology previpusled by DFI. A majority of the options grantedXBl were 100% vested at gra

(2)  Therisl-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury yiel@$fect at the time of grant with a term equattie expected term of tl
options.

3) The Company estimated the implied volatility ofétenmon stock at the date of grant based on arlggqueighted average of trailing
volatility and market based implied volatility ftre computation in 2006. In 2007 and 2008, the Cmyestimated implied volatility
based upon trailing volatility.

4) Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantdag®n historical information. Forfeitures will bevised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from estimatés 2008, the estimated forfeitures for the DFliaps were based upon the historical
information of DFI option holders.

(5) The Company has no history or expectation of pagiugiends on its common stock.
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Upon option exercise, the Company issu@sstares of common stock. A summary of the stattiseoCompany's stock option plan as of
December 28, 2008 and of changes in options outistgrunder the plan for the year ended Decembe2@®3 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual
Number of  Exercise Price
Term (in Aggregate
Shares per Share years) Intrinsic Value
(000's) (000's)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 6,17 $ 6.41 52 & 10.t
Options grante: 10,02 % 1.1¢
Options exercise —
Options forfeited or expire (67C) $ 5.1¢
Options outstanding at December 31,z  15,52¢ $ 3.0¢ 53 % 3,25(
Options exercisable at December 28,2  14,86¢ $ 3.1¢ 52 % 3,13¢

As of December 28, 2008, there was $0.8anibf total unrecognized stock compensation espaelated to nonvested shares which is
expected to be recognized over a remaining weigatedage vesting period of 0.9 years.

During the years ended December 31, 20087 2nd 2008, the following activity occurred under option plans:

2006 2007 2008
Weighted average grant date fair value of opticasigd $2.32 $1.54 $0.71
Total intrinsic value of options exercised (in teands; 17¢ 10 —

Additional information about stock optiomststanding at December 28, 2008 with exerciseepriiess than and greater than $1.17 per
share, the exercise price at December 28, 200Rshé&ading day of the period, follows (numbesbéres in thousands):

Exercisable Unexercisable Total

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise

Stock Options of Shares Price of Share: Price of Shares Price
Less than $1.1 537: $ 0.6 41¢ $ 0.9¢ 5,792 $ 0.67
Above $1.17 9,49¢ $ 4.61 237 $ 1.5¢ 9,73 $ 4.54
Total outstanding 14,86¢ $ 3.1¢ 65€ $ 1.1¢ 1552t $ 3.0¢
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The following table summarizes the Company's Restried Stock Unit activity:

Weighted-
Restricted Average
Stock Units ~ Grant-Date

(Shares in Thousands) (000's) Fair Value
Nonvested balance at December 31, 20 2,156 $ 2.2¢
Grants 81C $ 2.0¢
Vested (1139 $ 2.3¢
Forfeitures (100 $ 2.0¢t
Nonvested balance at December 28, 20 284: $ 221

As of December 28, 2008, there was $5.8anibf total unrecognized stock compensation espaelated to nonvested restricted stock
units which is expected to be recognized over aieimg weighted-average vesting period of 7.6 yeHng fair value of RSU awards that
vested in 2007 and 2008 was $1.2 million and $0lBom, respectively, (none in 2006).

(c) Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In August 1999, the Board of Directors apyad the 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (thelBse Plan™). A total of 4.4 million
shares of Common Stock have been authorized foaig® under the Purchase Plan. The Purchase Riffieglas an employee stock purch
plan within the meaning of Section 423 of the Ing#¢Revenue Service Code. The Purchase Plan conethém&lovember 1999 upon
completion of the Company's initial public offerif@gn November 16, 2005, the Compensation Committéiee Board of Directors elected to
suspend all future offerings under the Purchase &ffective January 1, 2006. On February 27, 2683Compensation Committee elected to
reinstate offerings under the Purchase Plan effeétpril 1, 2008.

Unless otherwise determined by the Compgars&ommittee of the Board of Directors, all emes were eligible to participate in the
Purchase Plan so long as they are employed bydhgény (or a subsidiary designated by the boardjtfeeast 20 hours per week and were
customarily employed by the Company (or a subsydi@signated by the board) for at least 5 monthsgendar year.

Employees who actively participate in thedhase Plan are eligible to have up to 15% of therinings for each purchase period withheld
pursuant to the Purchase Plan. The amount thatwtialseld was used at various purchase dates wit@roffering period to purchase shares of
Common Stock. The price paid for Common Stock ahesaich purchase date is equal the lower of 85&beofair market value of the Comm
Stock at the commencement date of that offeringpdear 85% of the fair market value of the Commaac® on the relevant purchase date.
Employees are also able to end their participatiadhe offering at any time during the offering jogk; and participation ends automatically
upon termination of employment. From the Purchdaa'®inception through December 28, 2008, the ¢atiwe number of shares of Common
Stock that have been issued under the Purchasevg@.7 million. During 2008, 162 thousand sharese purchased under the plan for a
purchase price of $252 thousand. At December 283 28pproximately 1.7 million shares were availdblefuture issuance.
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The fair value of Kratos's ESPP share2@f)8 was estimated using the Black-Scholes optiming model. The assumptions and
resulting fair values of options granted for 2008&evas follows:

Offering
Period
April 1 to
September 3(
2008
Expected term (in years)( 0.5 year
Risk-free interest rate(Z 1.52%
Expected volatility(3] 63.1%
Expected dividend yield(« 0%
Weighted average gre-date fair value per sha $0.6(
Offering
Period
October 1 to
December 31
2008
Expected term (in years)( 0.25 year
Risk-free interest rate(Z 0.85%
Expected volatility(3] 48.4%
Expected dividend yield(« 0%
Weighted average gre-date fair value per sha $0.4¢

(D) The expected term is equivalent to the offeringqaker
(2)  The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Trgagelds in effect at the time of grant with arteequal to the expected term.
3) The Company estimated implied volatility based uprailing volatility.

4) The Company has no history or expectation of pagiugiends on its common stock.

As of December 28, 2008, there was no wyeized compensation expense related to the Pwdéhan. The weighted average purchase
price per common share issued under the PurchasenRls $1.56. Employees had payroll deductionsingt&0.4 million for the year ended
December 28, 2008 to purchase shares through ticbdae Plan.

(d) Stockholder Rights Agreement

On December 16, 2004, the Company enteteda Stockholder Right Agreement (the "Rights Agnent”). Under the terms of the Rig
Agreement, initially, the Rights will attach to akrtificates representing shares of outstanding@2my common stock and no separate Rights
Certificates will be distributed. Subject to th@yisions of the Rights Agreement the Rights wifpaete from the Company common stock and
the "Distribution Date" will occur upon the earlief (i) ten business days following a public anncement (the date of such announcement
being the "Stock Acquisition Date") that persorgooup of affiliated or associated persons has aeduir obtained the right to acquire
beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the thenstartdding Common
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Stock (an "Acquiring Person"), or (ii) ten businésgys (or such later date as may be determinedtimneof the Board of Directors prior to
such time as any person becomes an Acquiring Pefsitowing the commencement of a tender offer xxtenge offer that would result in a
person or group becoming an Acquiring Person. Aquiing Person does not include certain personecifépe in the Rights Agreement.

On December 16, 2004, the Company's Bobdrectors authorized and declared a dividendr# dght (a "Right") to purchase one one-
hundredth of a share of the Company's Series @#eelf Stock ("Series C Preferred") for each outtanshare of Common Stock, par value
$0.001 ("Common Stock"), to stockholders of recasdf the close of business December 27, 2004'Réeord Date"). Each Right entitles the
registered holder, subject to the terms of the Biglgreement, to purchase from the Company onehoné+edth of a share of Series C
Preferred at a purchase price of $54.00, subjeatijisstment (the "Purchase Price").

The Rights are not exercisable until thetilhution Date and will expire at the close ofiness on the tenth anniversary of the Rights
Agreement unless earlier redeemed or exchangeleb@dmpany.

Note 12. Employee Benefit Plan

In 1996, the Company implemented a 4014k)reys plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the maeRevenue Code (the "Code"), covering
substantially all employees. Participants in thenphay contribute a percentage of compensatiomdiuh excess of the maximum allowed
under the Code. The Company may make contributibtise discretion of its Board of Directors. Then@uany made contributions of
$2.5 million in 2006, $2.1 million in 2007 and $2rdllion in 2008.

On November 18, 2004, the Board of Dirextmlopted the Wireless Facilities, Inc. Nonqualifzeferred Compensation Plan, effective
of January 1, 2005 (the "Plan"). The Plan proviebescutive officers and other eligible highly comgpated employees with the opportunity to
enter into agreements to defer up to eighty per@a%) of their cash compensation derived from tzadary, bonus awards and/or
commissions. In addition, the Company may, indie &ind absolute discretion, award any participaicter the Plan an additional employer
contribution. Deferrals are adjusted for gain @sldased on the performance of one or more investopdions selected by the participant from
among investment funds chosen by the committeeiafgubto administer the Plan. Participants mayteteat distribution of deferred amounts
be paid in the form of either a lump sum or in adrinstaliments if the participant terminates enypdent as a result of his or her retirement.
However, all other distributions under the Plan W made in a single lump sum. Distributions oagown termination of service or upon such
other dates that may be elected by the participaamtcordance with the terms of the Plan. The Caompia its sole discretion, may suspend or
terminate the Plan or revise or amend it in anpeeswhatsoever; provided, however, that no sutbramay reduce amounts credited to
deferral accounts and such accounts will contiougetowed to the participants or beneficiaries\aiticcontinue to be a liability of the
Company.
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The following table presents our key custasrfor the years presented and the percentaget ghles made to such customers (in millic

% of Total

Key Customer Revenue Revenue
2006

U.S. Navy $ 34.2 22%
2007

U.S. Army 46.7 24%

U.S. Navy $ 38.7 20%
2008

U.S. Navy $106.¢ 36%

U.S. Army $ 49.C 16%

Our top five customers accounted for appnately 47%, 62% and 63% of our total revenue i6&®007 and 2008, respectively.
The following table presents net accouatgivable for customers with significant conceimndrat (in millions):

% of Total accounts

Key Customer Accounts receivable, ne receivable, net
2007

U.S. Army $ 15.2 20%

U.S. Navy $ 10.4 14%
2008

U.S. Navy $ 26.€ 28%

Note 14. Segment Information

The Company has historically organizeditsiness along service lines to include three tapta segments: Wireless Network Services
(WNS), Enterprise Network Services (ENS) and Gorernt Network Services (GNS). The Wireless Netwagkviges segment was
discontinued in the first quarter of 2007 (see NBjtand we have renamed the ENS segment to thécFRdfety & Security (PSS) segment and
the GNS segment to the Government Solutions (KGtBgrwise referred to as Kratos Government Solstisagment to more accurately
describe the underlying business operations. @eirrabme and charges that are not allocated to eegnin the Company's management
reports because they are not considered in evadutdte segments' operating performance are cageglais reconciling items in the table

below. Due to the aforementioned discontinued djmers, prior period amounts have been reclassifieatder to conform to the current period
presentation and allocation methodology.
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Revenues, operating income (loss) and sipsevided by the Company's segments for the yerated December 31, 2006, 2007 and
December 28, 2008 are as follows (in millions):

2006 2007 2008
Revenues
Government Solution $ 97.5 $142.F $246.7
Public Safety & Securit 55.€ 51.1 50.€
Total revenue $153.1 193.¢ $297.:
Operating income (loss) from continuing operatic
Government Solution $ 82 $ 33 $(97.9
Public Safety & Securit (23.9 (6.6) (2.0
Corporate activitie (15.9) (21.9 3.5
Total operating loss from continuing operatit $(31.5) $(24.6€) $(94.9

Unallocated charges are related to corpagpenses previously allocated to the discontinviszless network services segment prior to
the disposal of those businesses, share based nsatips charges and related tax adjustments, impair and restructuring charges and
expenses related to the stock option investigatrducted in 2007. As a result of the divestiturthe WNS businesses, the corporate
expenses allocated to the PSS and KGS segmenitscheased in 2007, negatively impacting the opegaticome (loss) for these continuing
operations. The reconciling amounts in 2006 wengaicted by increased stock-based compensation expelesto the Company's adoption of
SFAS 123R in January 2006. Amounts related to catpactivities in 2007 were impacted by $10.6ionillin costs of the stock option
investigation and related costs as well as thevergdfrom the former stock option administrator 2008, there was a benefit of $4.5 million in
corporate activities due to insurance reimbursemehtosts and losses related to the stock optieestigation in 2007 as well as recoveries
from the theft of stock options that had not prergiy been agreed to be covered. See Note 17 tsNwi€onsolidated Financial Statements.

In 2006, the PSS segment has charges o8 $iilion related to the impairment of goodwilldaa $1.8 million impairment of an asset. In
2008, the KGS segment had a goodwill impairmentgdaf $105.8 million.

2007 2008
Assets:
Government Solution $292.¢ $275.¢
Public Safety & Securit 22.t 17.2
Discontinued Operatior 1.7 1.2
Corporate activitie 18.7 18.1
Total asset $335.2 $312.¢
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On February 17, 2006, the Company enterteda definitive agreement to divest all of its igi®ns in Mexico for total approximate cash
consideration of $18.0 million subject to adjusthseior the closing net asset calculations, wittb$iillion payable in cash on signing of the
Equity Purchase Agreement and $16.5 million by reexfra secured promissory note payable in instaits#nrough December 2006, which
approximates the net book value of the operatidohs.purchaser, Sakoki LLC, is a newly-formed entibytrolled by Massih Tayebi. Although
Massih Tayebi has no current role with the Compaeywvas a co-founder of the Company, having seage@hief Executive Officer from
inception in 1994 through September 2000 and aseatdr from inception through April 2002. In addit, as of July 31, 2007, Massih Tayebi
owned or controlled approximately 8.2% of the totating power of the Company's capital stock. Hal$® the brother of Masood Tayebi, who
was the Company's Chairman of the Board of Direatioitil March 6, 2007. Masood Tayebi had no persfimancial interest in the transaction
and has no role with the entity that has purchésedlexico Operations. The transaction was apprdwetthe disinterested members of the
Company's Board of Directors after considerationtber expressions of interest and an independsduation analysis.

The final closing balance sheet as of Fafyrd7, 2006 resulted in net asset adjustmenteggting to a total approximate $18.9 million
consideration, $1.5 million which was paid on Feloyul7, 2006, with the remaining $17.4 million pblgaby means of the promissory note in
installments through December 31, 2006 with arr@#terate of 7.5% per annum. On June 26, 2006Ctimepany entered into an Addendum
with the buyer to finalize the closing net assdtuations, pursuant to which the parties agreed ttie resulting total purchase price was
$18.9 million. The Addendum also provided for aditional waiver that permits the purchaser to mgdeespayment due on August 17, 2006 by
September 30, 2006, and for the installments dudawember 17, 2006 and December 31, 2006 to be made before December 29, 2006.
Failure to make the payments on such later datesdWtave resulted in a restoration of the origteais of the note. The first scheduled note
payment of $3.3 million was received from the bugemvay 19, 2006, and the second scheduled notagatyof $5.5 million was received in
installments of $5.2 million on September 29, 2@06 $0.3 million on October 10, 2006. The remaimnote receivable balance of $9.5 mill
which included accrued interest through Decembef@06, was paid in full on December 29, 2006.

Note 16. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company periodically evaluates all pegar threatened contingencies and any commitméreaay, that are reasonably likely to
have a material adverse effect on its operatiorimancial position. The Company assesses the pilityeof an adverse outcome and
determines if it is remote, reasonably possiblprobable as defined in accordance with the pronssiof SFAS 5)Accounting for
Contingencies.If information available prior to the issuance loé tCompany's financial statements indicates thafatobable that an asset had
been impaired or a liability had been incurrechatdate of the Company's financial statementstlzdmount of the loss, or the range of
probable loss can be reasonably estimated, thénlsss is accrued and charged to operations. #acoual is made for a loss contingency
because one or both of the conditions pursuanFf&SS are not met, but the probability of an adeerstcome is at least reasonably possible,
the Company will disclose the nature of the corgimzy and provide an estimate of the possible losarme of loss, or state that such an
estimate cannot be made.
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The Company maintains an accrual for themm@any's health and workers compensation partigirsgirance, which is a component of
total accrued expenses and current liabilitiesisd@htinued operations in the consolidated balaheets. Management determines the
adequacy of these accruals based on a monthlyatiaiwf the Company's historical experience aedds related to both medical and work
compensation claims and payments, information plexlito the Company by the Company's insurance hrldustry experience and the
average lag period in which claims are paid. Ifrstndormation indicates that the Company's accrredgiire adjustment, the Company will,
correspondingly, revise the assumptions utilizethexCompany's methodologies and reduce or prdeidedditional accruals as deemed
appropriate. As of December 31, 2006, 2007 and 20@8accrual for the Company's partial seffurance programs approximated $1.8 mill
$1.1 million and $0.7 million, respectively. In Z8§®007 and 2008 the accrual for these programshahas related to continuing operations
was $0.2 million, $0.6 million, and $0.4 milliorespectively. The Company also carries stop-loggamee that provides coverage limiting the
Company's total exposure related to each medichhamkers compensation claim incurred, as definetié applicable insurance policies. The
medical and workers compensation annual claim $irmie $50,000 and $250,000, respectively. For 208&ompany had one claim that
exceeded the limits for workers compensation argDi7 and 2008 no claims exceeded the limits fakers compensation. For 2006 and
2008, the Company had no claim that exceededtitsIifor medical insurance and in 2007 three clagmseeded the limits for medical
insurance. As of December 28, 2008, the Companystid@million in letters of credit outstanding isslprimarily to cover a performance b
program and liabilities in connection with the Cang's workers' compensation partial self-insuramicieh has now been cancelled and
$34.7 million of written purchase orders which hiveen issued to vendors, but the goods have natreeeived or the services have not been
performed.

Note 17. Legal Matters
Contingencies
IPO Securities Litigation

Beginning in June 2001, the Company anthoeof its officers and directors were named dsmigants in several parallel class action
shareholder complaints filed in the United Statéstriat Court for the Southern District of New Ygnkow consolidated under the caption, In re
Wireless Facilities, Inc. Initial Public OfferingeBurities Litigation, Case 01-CV-4779. In the ameshdomplaint, the plaintiffs allege that the
Company, certain of its officers and directors, grelunderwriters of the Company's initial publifedang ("IPO") violated section 11 of the
Securities Act of 1933 and section 10(b) of theuiies Exchange Act of 1934 based on allegatibas the Company's registration statement
and prospectus failed to disclose material fagianging the compensation to be received by, andttuk allocation practices of, the IPO
underwriters. The plaintiffs seek unspecified mangtlamages and other relief. Similar complaintseviided in the same court against
hundreds of other public companies ("Issuers") tbaiducted IPOs of their common stock in the 1&@0E and 2000. These complaints have
been consolidated into an action captioned Init@alfPublic Offering Securities Litigation, 21 M@ (the "IPO Cases").

In June 2004, the Issuers (including then@any) executed a partial settlement agreementthétiplaintiffs that would have, among other
things, resulted in the dismissal with prejudicalftlaims
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against the Issuers and their officers and diresaod the assignment of certain potential Isswémel to the plaintiffs. On February 15, 2005,
the district court issued a decision certifyindass action for settlement purposes and grantialinpinary approval of the settlement subject to
modification of certain bar orders contemplatedhsy settlement. On August 31, 2005, the court ireadfd class certification of the settlement
class and preliminary approval of the modifiedlsetent in a comprehensive Order. On February 2d6 2the court dismissed litigation filed
against certain underwriters in connection withtaiarclaims to be assigned under the settlemen®&@ih 24, 2006, the district court held a
Final Fairness Hearing to determine whether totginal approval of the settlement, and the coeserved decision at that time. While the
partial settlement was pending approval, the pfésntontinued to litigate against the underwritefendants. The district court directed that the
litigation proceed within a number of "focus casegther than all of the 310 cases that had beesotidated. The Company's case is not one of
these focus cases. On October 13, 2004, the distnict certified the focus cases as class actibms.underwriter defendants appealed that
ruling and on December 5, 2006, the Second Cifeaitrt of Appeals reversed the district court's sleertification decision. On April 6, 2007,
the Second Circuit denied plaintiffs’ rehearingtjmat, but clarified that the plaintiffs could setkcertify a more limited class in the district
court. In light of the Second Circuit opinion, Bain counsel for all issuer defendants, includimg@ompany, informed the district court that the
settlement could not be approved because the dedieilement class, like the litigation class, doubt be certified. On June 24, 2007, the
district court entered an order terminating theppsed settlement.

Plaintiffs filed second consolidated amahdemplaints in the six focus cases on August 0872and, on September 27, 2007, again
moved for class certification. On November 12, 20af¥ftain of the defendants in the focus cases thtwdismiss the second consolidated
amended class action complaints. On March 26, 20@8district court denied the motions to dismissept as to section 11 claims raised by
those plaintiffs who sold their securities for &prin excess of the initial offering price andsbavho purchased outside the previously cert
class period. Briefing on the class certificatioation was completed in May 2008. That motion wathdrawn without prejudice on
October 10, 2008. On February 25, 2009, liaisomselfor the plaintiffs informed the district cotinat a settlement had been agreed to in
principle, subject to formal approval by the pagtéand preliminary and final approval by the cobDde to the inherent uncertainties of litigati
the ultimate outcome of this matter cannot be ptedi In accordance with FASB 5A¢counting for Contingencigsthe Company believes
any contingent liability related to this claim istrprobable or estimable and therefore no amoumte been accrued in regards to this matter.

2004 Securities Litigation

In August 2004, following the Company's anncement on August 4, 2004 that it intended ttatests financial statements for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2000, 2001, 2002 and #@98o0mpany and certain of its current and foraficers and directors were named
defendants ("Defendants”) in several securitiesscétion lawsuits filed in the United States Dist€ourt for the Southern District of
California. These actions were filed on behalfrafge who purchased, or otherwise acquired, the @oypcommon stock between April 26,
2000 and August 4, 2004. The lawsuits generalisgaldl that, during that time period, Defendants nfalde and misleading statements to the
investing public about the Company's business srah€ial results, causing its stock
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to trade at artificially inflated levels. Based these allegations, the lawsuits alleged that Defetslviolated the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, and the plaintiffs sought unspecified damagksse actions were consolidated into a singieractin re Wireless Facilities, Inc.
Securities Litigation, Master File 04CV1589-JAHalritiffs filed a First Amended Consolidated Clasgidn Complaint on April 1, 2005.
Defendants filed their motion to dismiss this fiastbended complaint on April 14, 2005. The plaistifien requested leave to amend their first
amended complaint. The plaintiffs filed their Seddxmended Complaint on June 9, 2005, this timeeimalf of those who purchased, or
otherwise acquired, the Company's common stockdeiviay 5, 2003 and August 4, 2004. Defendantd fileir motion to dismiss this
Second Amended Complaint on July 14, 2005. Theondb dismiss was taken under submission on Oct2®e2005 and on March 8, 2006,
the Court granted the Defendants' motion. Howedlaintiffs were granted the right to amend theimgpdaint within 45 days and subsequently
filed their Third Amended Consolidated Class Act@omplaint on April 24, 2006. Defendants filed atimio to dismiss this complaint on
June 8, 2006. On May 7, 2007, the Court denied#fendants' motion to dismiss. Defendants' filedrtnswer to the plaintiffs' complaint on
July 13, 2007. In February 2008, following a volknytmediation of the matter, the parties reacheshtative agreement to settle the class
action. In June 2008, the parties executed a Memdora of Understanding documenting the essentialdaf the proposed settlement and on
August 8, 2008, the parties filed their joint maotsdfor preliminary approval of the proposed setdatrwith the Court. The Court granted
preliminary approval of the proposed settlemenSeptember 3, 2008. On January 13, 2009, followingpton by the parties, the Court
granted final approval of the proposed settlememhs, issued its final judgment on the matter, améred an order dismissing the case with
prejudice.

Pursuant to the settlement agreement aadldrder of the Court, plaintiffs and the classnissed all claims, with prejudice, in exchange
for a cash payment in the total amount of $12 milliThe Company's directors' and officers' liapilitsurers paid the settlement amount in
accordance with the Company's insurance policgss, the applicable retention or co-insurance ofidiga that were paid directly by the
Company. The Company's amount of payment towarddtttement was approximately $2.4 million. In foerth quarter of 2008, the
Company paid $3.0 million related to this mattérwbich $1.0 million was from its restricted castcaunt. The Company expects to receive
$0.6 million from the insurance carriers for thayment in the first half of 2009. Despite the settbnt reached in this action, the Company
believes that the allegations lacked merit.

In 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filedthe United States District Court for the SouthBistrict of California against certain of the
Company's current and former officers and directBeslicini v. Wireless Facilities, Inc., Case 04®83; and Roth v. Wireless Facilities, Inc.,
Case 04CV1810. These actions were consolidatedisiogle action in In re Wireless Facilities, IBerivative Litigation, Lead Case No
04CV1663-JAH. These lawsuits contain factual alliege that are substantially similar to those miadhe class action lawsuits, but the
plaintiffs in these lawsuits assert claims for loteaf fiduciary duty, gross mismanagement, abusmofrol, waste of corporate assets, viola
of Sarbanes Oxley Act section 304, unjust enrichtraed insider trading. The plaintiffs in these laws seek unspecified damages and
equitable and/or injunctive relief. The lead pléfrftled a consolidated complaint on March 21, 30@n May 3, 2005, the defendants filed
motions to dismiss this action, to stay this acpending the resolution of the consolidated nonvdéve securities case pending in the
Southern District of California, and to dismiss tienplaint against certain
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non-California resident defendants. Pursuant &gaest by the Court, Defendants’ motions were watld without prejudice pending a
decision on defendants' motion to dismiss the cainphgainst the non-California resident defenda@tsMarch 20, 2007, the Court ruled that
it lacked personal jurisdiction over five of the sion-California defendants and dismissed them fitwenfederal derivative complaint. On
March 27, 2007, plaintiffs filed an amended deiiw@atomplaint setting forth all of the same allégias from the original complaint and adding
allegations regarding the Company's stock opti@miing practices. Basically, plaintiffs allege thz¢ Company "backdated" or "springloaded"
employee stock option grants so that the optiong \geanted at less than fair market value. The aegicomplaint names all of the original
defendants (including those dismissed for lackudigiction) as well as nine new defendants. Oy 2uR007, the non-California resident
defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for tafghersonal jurisdiction. On October 17, 2007, @wirt took the motion under submission
without oral argument. On February 26, 2008, tharCagain ruled that it lacked personal jurisdictaver five of the six non-California
defendants and dismissed them from the amendedafedzivative complaint. Plaintiffs subsequentlgwad the Court for certification and
entry of final judgment of the Court's order dissiig the non-residents for lack of personal judgdn so that the plaintiffs may seek
immediate appellate review of the matter. On J@ly2D08, the court granted plaintiffs' motion ferttfication, which was not opposed by
defendants. On August 12, 2008, Plaintiffs filenogice of appeal of the personal jurisdictionalesrdNeither a briefing schedule nor a hearing
date on the matter is presently set. The parties banferred and discussed the Court's personatijational order and notice of appeal and
have stipulated to a briefing schedule for any liemg motions to dismiss that the Company, alonthwhe individual defendants subject to
court's jurisdiction, may bring in an effort to ulisss the complaint as to them. Pursuant to thegsadtipulation, such motions must be brought
on or before March 26, 2009. The Company beliekasthe allegations lack merit and intends to wgsty defend all claims asserted. It is
impossible at this time to assess whether or robtlicome of these proceedings will have a matadeérse effect on the Company.

In April 2007, another derivative complaivas filed in the United States District Court foe Southern District of California, Hameed v.
Tayebi, Case 07-CV-0680 BTM(RBB) (the "Hameed Actjp against several of the Company's current anahér officers and directors. The
allegations in this derivative complaint mirroré tamended allegations in the 2004 federal devigatttion. Pursuant to a Court order and
agreement of the parties, the defendants' respémsles complaint in the Hameed Action were stayetil the Court ruled on the motion to
dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction in theD20derivative litigation. As noted above, on Feloyu26, 2008, the Court ruled that it lacked
personal jurisdiction over five of the non-Calif@mefendants named in the 2004 derivative actimhiding three that were also named in the
Hameed Action. In August 2008, and before deferglhat responded to the complaint, Plaintiff voludtytalismissed the Hameed Action
pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41ITaep Company believes that the allegations lackeit imwed intended to vigorously defend all
claims asserted.

In August and September 2004, two virtuadbntical derivative lawsuits were filed in Califda Superior Court for San Diego County
against certain of the Company's current and fowffezers and directors. These actions containuiicallegations similar to those of the
federal lawsuits, but the plaintiffs in these casesert claims for violations of California's insidrading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty, abuse
of control, gross mismanagement, waste of corp@sdets and unjust
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enrichment. The plaintiffs in these actions seespacified damages, equitable and/or injunctiveefelnd disgorgement of all profits, benefits
and other compensation obtained by defendants eTlhesuits have been consolidated into one actionre-Wireless Facilities, Inc.
Derivative Litigation, California Superior Courta® Diego County, Lead Case GIC 834253. The plé&rfiled a Consolidated Shareholder
Derivative Complaint on October 14, 2004. This@etthas been stayed pending a decision in fedeuat oa a motion to dismiss the federal
derivative lawsuit. In October 2008, the partietifienl the Court of the status of the federal attmd the court continued the stay for an
additional six months. The Court also ordered theigs to file an updated status report in Aprid20The Company believes that the
allegations lack merit and intends to vigorouslfedd all claims asserted. It is impossible at timee to assess whether or not the outcome of
these proceedings will have a material adversetedie the Company.

The Company has recorded an accrual fenéngent liability associated with the legal predigs related to the derivative actions of
$0.7 million based on the Company's estimate optitential amount it could have to pay in relatiorthese lawsuits.

2007 Securities Litigation

In March and April 2007, there were threddral class actions filed in the United StatesrBtsCourt for the Southern District of
California against the Company and several oflitsant and former officers and directors. Thessshkction lawsuits followed the Company's
March 12, 2007 public announcement that it was gotidg a voluntary internal review of its stock igpt granting processes. These actions
were consolidated into a single action, In re WisslFacilities, Inc. Securities Litigation I, MasFile 07-CV-0482-BTM-NLS. The
consolidated class action complaint was filed owédnber 19, 2007. In March 2008, following a voluptmediation of the matter, the parties
reached a tentative agreement to settle the atdismaln May 2008, the parties executed a Memanandf Understanding documenting the
essential terms of the proposed settlement andugiugt 8, 2008, the parties filed their joint mosdar preliminary approval of the proposed
settlement with the Court. The Court granted prilary approval of the proposed settlement on Seipéerd, 2008. On December 19, 2008,
following a motion by the parties, the Court grahtimal approval of the proposed settlement teigsjed its final judgment on the matter, and
entered an order dismissing the case with prejudice

Pursuant to the settlement agreement aadldrder of the Court, plaintiffs and the classnissed all claims, with prejudice, in exchange
for a cash payment in the amount of $4.5 milliohe TTompany's directors' and officers' liabilityurers paid the settlement amount, less the
applicable retention or co-insurance obligations eontributions that were paid directly by the Camp. In July 2008, the Company paid
$1.8 million related to the settlement of thisg#tion. Despite the settlement reached in thimacthe Company believes that the allegations
lacked merit.

Other Litigation and Government Investigations

In January 2005, a former independent eaidr of the Company filed a lawsuit in Brazil agsithe Company's subsidiary, WFI de
Brazil, to which he had been assigned for a pesfdime. He sought to be designated an employ&&Fkifde Brazil and entitled to severance
and related compensation pursuant to Brazilianrliwe. The individual sought back wages, vacatiag, stock
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option compensation and related benefits in exa£$6.5 million. This matter was argued before apgropriate labor court in July 2005 anc
July 2006, the labor court awarded the individbal Brazilian currency equivalent of approximately4million for his back wages, vacation
pay and certain other benefits. The Company filedppeal in the matter on July 20, 2006 and isl@hging the basis for the award on several
theories. On August 22, 2007, the appeals coutigtigrupheld the Company's appeal, although itelghhe individual's designation as an
employee. The court is reviewing possible damagruttions before publishing a final decision. Tempany's counsel is preparing a motion
for clarification of the judgment due to omissidnghe decision. The Company has accrued approgign&0.4 million as of December 28,
2008 related to this matter.

On March 28, 2007, three plaintiffs, on &¢lof a purported class of similarly situated eaygles and contractors, filed a lawsuit against
the Company in the Superior Court of the Statealif@nia, Alameda County. The suit alleges varigigdations of the California Labor Code
and seeks payments for allegedly unpaid straighe ind overtime, meal period pay and associateatpen The Company and the plaintiffs
agreed to venue for the suit in San Diego Countthogh the Company believes that the allegatiank merit, it has agreed with the plaint|
to settle their claims for an aggregate amounhérange of $0.3 million to $0.5 million, to inckiéhdividual and incentive awards, attorneys'
fees and administrative costs, subject to court@@b. The actual amount paid by the Company vépehd upon the number of responses
received from members of the purported class dffites. The Company has recorded an accrual foorgtingent liability associated with this
legal proceeding in the amount of $0.3 million.

On May 3, 2007, Kratos announced thatd &diled a lawsuit against a former employee wievipusly served as its stock option
administrator and left Kratos in mid-2004, andd$psuse. The lawsuit sought to recover damagedgiresfdom the theft by a former employee
of Kratos stock options and common stock valueeikicess of $6.3 million. The thefts, which appeandve taken place during 2002 and 2003,
were discovered through the Kratos review of itst paactices related to the granting and pricingraployee stock options with the assistance
of its outside counsel and forensic computer cdasts. The complaint also alleged that the fornnepleyee attempted to cover up the scheme
by, among other things, deleting entries from #words of Kratos.

Kratos promptly reported to the SEC theal®ry of the theft. The SEC initiated an inquindaommenced an enforcement action agi
the former employee. The U.S. Attorney's Officeodlsrwarded a grand jury subpoena to Kratos sealdngrds related to the former employee
and Kratos' historical option granting practicese SEC filed a federal lawsuit and obtained a taamyaestraining order and asset freeze
against the former employee and his spouse. TheAtt&ney's Office indicted him for the theft ahd pled guilty to federal criminal charges
and has been sentenced to 46 months in prisonuarehtly is incarcerated. On April 1, 2008, the Sidified Kratos that it had completed its
investigation and that it did not intend to recormeh@ny enforcement action by the SEC against thepgaoy. Kratos has cooperated with, and
continues to cooperate with the U.S. Attorney'sd@fbn this matter and otherwise. The former emgxognd his wife entered into a settlement
agreement with Kratos on October 5, 2007, turnivey substantially all of their assets to Kratoseéttlement of the damages incurred in the
theft. On February 15, 2008, the SEC approvedehtitement. On February 19, 2008, the court entarfilal judgment approving the
settlement. Kratos has obtained the assets, whigiegate approximately $3.4 million, and is in pinecess of liquidating

132




Table of Contents

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contired)
December 28, 2008

Note 17. Legal Matters (Continued)

the remaining assets which approximate $0.1 miiliowalue. In June 2008, Kratos' insurance caeigeed to reimburse Kratos for

$0.6 million related to the theft of stock optioKsatos' directors' and officers' liability insusdrave agreed to reimburse it for $4.1 million
related to fees previously incurred on the ongdaingstigation by the U.S. Attorney's Office as wadlfees previously incurred on the SEC
investigation. As a result, a benefit for this amilias been recorded in the recovery of unauthdisiance of stock options and stock option
investigation and related fees line item in theoagganying Consolidated Statements of Operations.

In addition to the foregoing matters, frime to time, the Company may become involved ifoees claims, lawsuits and legal
proceedings that arise in the ordinary course sfrfass. However, litigation is subject to inhenemtertainties, and an adverse result in the:
other matters may arise from time to time that fasm the Company's business. The Company is cilymottaware of any such legal
proceedings or claims that it believes will havelividually or in the aggregate, a material advef§ect on our business, financial condition,
operating results or cash flows.

Note 18. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following financial information reflecall normal and recurring adjustments that aréhénopinion of management, necessary for a
fair statement of the results of the interim pesicBummarized quarterly data for the years ende@émber 31, 2007 and 2008, is as follows (in
millions, except per share data):

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter  Quarter Quarter  Quarter

Fiscal year 200"

Revenue: $49.C $47.¢ $47E5 $49:
Gross profil $ 73 $ 75 $ 82 $ 8¢
Operating loss from continuing operatic $(B3 $@BY $3B4 $ 46
Provision for income taxe $ 02 $ 02 $ 04 % 04
Net income (loss $(20.) $ 4.2 $(13.4 $(11.%)
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $(0.28) $0.0€ $(0.1¢) $(0.1¢€)
Diluted $(0.2¢) $0.0€ $(0.15) $(0.1¢€)

Quarterly Results in 2007

The Company's results by quarter in 200vimpacted by the divestitures of its wirelesswoek services segment. In the first quarter of
2007 the loss was primarily due to impairment cfeds related to the Wireless Deployment busine$4 84 million and an impairment of
goodwill related to this business of $7.2 millicargally offset by a gain of $3.3 million on thelsaf the EMEA business. The second quarter
income was impacted by a gain of $14.8 million loa $ale of the Wireless Engineering Services basinperations. The third quarter was
impacted by a $1.9 million loss from the dispodabar deployment business and a $2.1 million ex¢asiéity accrual. The fourth quarter was
impacted by a gain of $3.4 million related to tkeavery of assets under the settlement with theg@oyis former stock option administrato
well as an expense of $4.9 million related to aiimeated cost of the
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settlement of our 2004 and 2007 Securities Lit@yatSee Note 17 to Notes to Consolidated Finaistatements.

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter  Quarter  Quarter Quarter

Fiscal year 200¢

Revenue! $68.2 $72.5 $80.€ $ 76.2
Gross profil $12€ $12¢ $17.E $ 16.F
Operating income (loss) from continuing operat $ 0.7 $ 29 $ 3.8 $(107.0
Provision (benefit) for income tax $ 0 $ 04 $ 05 $ (2.9
Net income (loss $(19 $ 08 $ (0.2 $(109.9
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $(0.02 $0.01 $(0.00 $ (1.09
Diluted $(0.02) $0.01 $(0.00 $ (1.09

Quarterly Results in 2008

In the fourth quarter of 2008, the Compeegorded a non-cash impairment charge of the cayyalue of its goodwill of $105.8 million
as a result of adverse equity market conditionsthedesulting decline in current market multipdesl the company's stock price. The Com|
recorded benefits for the recovery of unauthorgedk options and fees related to the ongoing tig&son by the U.S. Attorney's Office of
$0.6 million, $1.0 million and $2.9 million for theecond, third and fourth quarters, respectivedya sesult of agreements reached with the
Company's insurance carriers to cover these l@smtexpenses. See Note 17 to Notes to Consoliéatadcial Statements.

Note 19. Subsequent Events

As of December 28, 2008, the Company hastanding convertible notes payable which were medwas a result of the SYS acquisition
totaling $3.1 million. The convertible notes payahte unsecured and subordinated to the Compaaryksdebt and bear interest at 10% per
annum payable quarterly. Principal is due Febrddry2009 and the notes are convertible at any itimoeshares of common stock at a
conversion rate of $2.86 per share. In Februar®2b0the interest of preserving cash due to threeotl macroeconomic conditions, the
Company provided each note holder with the option t

(1) be paid cash in accordance with tiigiral agreement;

(2) extend the note for an additionahi@nths at the existing 10% rate and modify the eosion feature to the lower of the
existing conversion price of $2.86 per share okratos closing share value on February 13, 2009; o

(3) convert the principal balance of Kisashares at the lower of the existing conversitref $2.86 or the Kratos closing share
value on February 13, 2009 less a 10% discount.

As of February 28, 2009, $1.8 million oéthotes have been paid, $1.0 million of the note®been extended to August 14, 2010, and
$25,000 have been converted to common shares. tdafl@pproximately $0.2 million of the notes hane responded.
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Given continued significant decline in gteck market in general and specifically our stpdke in 2009, we believe it is more likely than
not that this could be an indication of additiogabdwill impairment and could potentially resultartriggering event under SFAS 142 and an
additional goodwill impairment charge in the figgtarter of 2009.
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EXHIBIT 10.6
INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT
This INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENT (this Agreement) is made and entered into this day of ,20  (the
"Effective Date") by and between Kratos Defensee8ity Solutions, Inc., a Delaware corporatiore(tiCompany'), and [ ]

(the "Indemnite€").
WHEREAS, the Company believes it is esséii retain and attract qualified directors anficefs;
WHEREAS, the Indemnitee is a director andfficer of the Company;

WHEREAS, both the Company and the Indenenigzognize the increased risk of litigation arttkotclaims being asserted against
directors and officers of public companies;

WHEREAS, the Company's Certificate of Inmmmation (thé'Certificate of Incorporatior) and Bylaws (the Bylaws") require the
Company to indemnify and advance expenses torigstdirs and officers to the extent permitted byDRI&&CL (as hereinafter defined);

WHEREAS, the Indemnitee has been servimbjiatends to continue serving as a director andffficer of the Company in part in reliance
on the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws; and

WHEREAS, in recognition of the Indemnitereéed for (i) substantial protection against peastiability based on the Indemnitee's
reliance on the Certificate of Incorporation andaBys, (ii) specific contractual assurance thatgratection promised by the Certificate of
Incorporation and Bylaws will be available to tieelémnitee, regardless of, among other things, amgndment to or revocation of the Bylaws
or any change in the composition of the Compangaré of Directors (the Board") or acquisition transaction relating to the Comypaand
(iii) an inducement to continue to provide effeetservices to the Company as a director and/acesfthereof, the Company wishes to provide
for the indemnification of the Indemnitee and teaace expenses to the Indemnitee to the fullesnéxtermitted by law and as set forth in this
Agreement, and, to the extent insurance is maiathiy the Company, to provide for the continuedecage of the Indemnitee under the
Company's directors' and officers' liability insoica policies.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of therpiges contained herein and of the Indemnitee cointinto serve the Company directly
at its request, with another enterprise, and iritentb be legally bound hereby, the parties heagiee as follows:

1. Certain Definitions.
(&) A "Change in Controt shall be deemed to have occurred if:

(i) any "person," as such term is use8ections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exghakct of 1934, as amended, and
the rules and regulations thereunder (tlExthange Act), other than (a) a trustee or other fiduciarydimd) securities under an
employee benefit plan of the Company; (b) a corfiamaowned, directly or indirectly, by the stocktlets of the Company in
substantially the same proportions as their ownpmshstock of the Company; or (c) any current e stockholder or group,
as defined by Rule 138-0f the Exchange Act, including the heirs, ass@mds successors thereof, of beneficial ownershiijm
the meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the Exchange Actgealsities possessing more than 50% of the totabooed voting power of
the Company's outstanding securities; hereaftesrhes the "beneficial owner," as defined in Rule-33uf the Exchange Act,
directly or indirectly, of securities of the Compampresenting 20% or more of the total combinetihgopower represented by
the Company's then outstanding Voting Securities;

(i) during any period of two consecutiyears, individuals who at the beginning of suchiqeeconstitute the Board and
any new director whose election by the Board or ination
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for election by the Company's stockholders was@gg by a vote of at least two-thirds of the dioestthen in office who either
were directors at the beginning of the period ooséhelection or nomination for election was presip$so approved, cease for
any reason to constitute a majority thereof; or

(i) the stockholders of the Company ap@ a merger or consolidation of the Company with @ther corporation, other
than a merger or consolidation which would resuthie Voting Securities of the Company outstandimgediately prior thereto
continuing to represent (either by remaining ounsitag or by being converted into Voting Securitidshe surviving entity) at
least 80% of the total voting power representethieyVoting Securities of the Company or such sumng\entity outstanding
immediately after such merger or consolidatiortherstockholders of the Company approve a plamofptete liquidation of th
Company or an agreement for the sale or dispoditjothe Company, in one transaction or a seriggaofactions, of all or
substantially all of the Company's assets.

(b) "DGCL" shall mean the General Corporation Law of theeSth Delaware, as the same exists or may herdadtamended
interpreted; provided, however, that in the casamyfsuch amendment or interpretation, only toetktent that such amendment or
interpretation permits the Company to provide bevaddemnification rights than were permitted ptioereto.

(c) "Expensé shall mean attorneys' fees and all other cogfsemses and obligations paid or incurred in conoeatith
investigating, defending, being a witness in otipguating in (including on appeal), or preparigy &ny of the foregoing, any
Proceeding relating to any Indemnifiable Event.

(d) "Indemnifiable Event shall mean any event or occurrence that takesepither prior to or after the execution of this
Agreement, related to the fact that the Indemrige® was a director or officer of the Companyisoor was serving at the request of the
Company as a director, officer, employee, or agéanother corporation or of a partnership, joiehture, trust or other enterprise,
including service with respect to employee bergéihs, or by reason of anything done or not donthbyindemnitee in any such
capacity.

(e) 'Proceedingd' shall mean any threatened, pending or complatédra suit, investigation or proceeding, and apyeal
thereof, whether civil, criminal, administrative iavestigative and/or any inquiry or investigatiovhether conducted by the Company
or any other party, that the Indemnitee in goothfhelieves might lead to the institution of angls@action.

() "Reviewing Party shall mean any appropriate person or body cdangistf a member or members of the Company's Board o
any other person or body appointed by the Boaryiing the special independent counsel referréd &ection 6) who is not a party
the particular Proceeding with respect to whichltftemnitee is seeking indemnification.

(g) "Voting Securitie$ shall mean any securities of the Company whicte gznerally in the election of directors.

2. Indemnification. In the event the Indemnitee was or is a pariyrtis involved (as a party, witness, or otherjvineany
Proceeding by reason of (or arising in part outaofindemnifiable Event, whether the basis of trez@eding is the Indemnitee’s alleged action
in an official capacity as a director or officeriorany other capacity while serving as a directoofficer, the Company shall indemnify the
Indemnitee to the fullest extent permitted by the@@ against any and all Expenses, liability, argsl{including judgments, fines, ERISA
excise taxes or penalties, and amounts paid o fmai in settlement, and any interest, assesspwrdther charges imposed thereon, and any
federal, state, local, or foreign taxes imposeduy director or officer as a result of the actuatleemed receipt of any payments under this
Agreement) (collectively, Liabilities ") reasonably incurred or suffered by such persaronnection with such Proceeding. The Companyt
provide




indemnification pursuant to this Section 2 as sa®practicable, but in no event later than 30 ddtgs it receives written demand from the
Indemnitee. Notwithstanding anything in this Agresrto the contrary and except as provided in 8ed&ibelow, the Indemnitee shall not be
entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Agremrh(i) in connection with any Proceeding initiatadthe Indemnitee against the Company or
any director or officer of the Company unless tlenPany has joined in or consented to the initiatbsuch Proceeding or (ii) on account of
any suit in which judgment is rendered againstitidemnitee pursuant to Section 16(b) of the Exchakgt for an accounting of profits made
from the purchase or sale by the Indemnitee ofrétéesiof the Company.

3. Advancement of Expenses. The Company shall advance Expenses to the Inidieenwithin 30 business days of such request (an
Expense Advanc'); provided, however, that if required by applitaborporate laws such Expenses shall be advamdgdipon delivery to th
Company of an undertaking by or on behalf of tridemnitee to repay such amount if it is ultimatedyesimined that the Indemnitee is not
entitled to be indemnified by the Company; and ptes further, that the Company shall make such acksonly to the extent permitted by
law. Expenses incurred by the Indemnitee whileawbing in his/her capacity as a director or offigecluding service with respect to employee
benefit plans, may be advanced upon such termsamditions as the Board, in its sole discretiorgrdg appropriate.

4. Review Procedure for Indemnification. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the obligats of the Company under Sections 2 a
above shall be subject to the condition that theié¥gng Party shall not have determined (in a writbpinion, in any case in which the special
independent counsel referred to in Section 6 héssiof/olved) that the Indemnitee would not be pigied to be indemnified under applicable
law, and (ii) the obligation of the Company to makeExpense Advance pursuant to Section 3 aboviebghsubject to the condition that, if,
when and to the extent that the Reviewing Partgrdg@hes that the Indemnitee would not be permiibdok so indemnified under applicable
law, the Company shall be entitled to be reimbutsethe Indemnitee (who hereby agrees to reimbiins€ompany) for all such amounts
theretofore paid; provided, however, that if thddmnitee has commenced legal proceedings in a gbaompetent jurisdiction pursuant to
Section 5 below to secure a determination thatrtiemnitee should be indemnified under applicaée, lany determination made by the
Reviewing Party that the Indemnitee would not berited to be indemnified under applicable law shat be binding and the Indemnitee
shall not be required to reimburse the Companyifyr Expense Advance until a final judicial deteration is made with respect thereto (as to
which all rights of appeal therefrom have been ested or have lapsed). The Indemnitee's obligatiorimburse the Company for Expense
Advances pursuant to this Section 4 shall be umedcand no interest shall be charged thereon. BwéeRing Party shall be selected by the
Board, unless there has been a Change in Conthel; than a Change in Control which has been apprby a majority of the Company's
Board who were directors immediately prior to s@tange in Control, in which case the ReviewingyPsinall be the special independent
counsel referred to in Section 6 hereof.

5. Enforcement of Indemnification Rights. If the Reviewing Party determines that the lmdéee substantively would not be
permitted to be indemnified in whole or in part endpplicable law, or if the Indemnitee has noeothise been paid in full pursuant to
Sections 2 and 3 above within 30 days after a&ritemand has been received by the Company, teenhitee shall have the right to
commence litigation in any court in the State ofdd&re having subject matter jurisdiction theremd & which venue is proper to recover the
unpaid amount of the demand (aBriforcement Proceediryy and, if successful in whole or in part, the Imdgtee shall be entitled to be paid
any and all Expenses in connection with such Eefoent Proceeding. The Company hereby consentswicesef process for such
Enforcement Proceeding and to appear in any sutdréament Proceeding. Any determination by the Bwing Party otherwise shall be
conclusive and binding on the Company and the Inmdie®.




6. Change in Control. The Company agrees that if there is a Chan@wirtrol of the Company, other than a Change int@bn
which has been approved by a majority of the ComigaBoard who were directors immediately prioréals Change in Control, then with
respect to all matters thereafter arising concerttie rights of the Indemnitee to indemnity payrseartd Expense Advances under this
Agreement or any other agreement or under appédall or the Company's Certificate of IncorporatimBylaws now or hereafter in effect
relating to indemnification for Indemnifiable Eventhe Company shall seek legal advice only froeti independent counsel selected by the
Indemnitee and approved by the Company, which agpshall not be unreasonably withheld. Such spéuikependent counsel shall not have
otherwise performed services for the Company otridemnitee, other than in connection with suchtemaf within the last five years. Such
independent counsel shall not include any persam whder the applicable standards of professiomadicct then prevailing, would have a
conflict of interest in representing either the @amy or the Indemnitee in an action to determireltidemnitee's rights under this Agreement.
Such counsel, among other things, shall rendevritsen opinion to the Company and the Indemniteéoavhether and to what extent the
Indemnitee would be permitted to be indemnifiedemapplicable law. The Company agrees to pay thsoreable fees of the special
independent counsel referred to above and to indegriutly such counsel against any and all exper(geduding attorneys' fees), claims,
liabilities and damages arising out of or relatioghis Agreement or the engagement of specialpaeddent counsel pursuant to this Agreen

7. Partial Indemnity.  If the Indemnitee is entitled under any prasmisof this Agreement to indemnification by the Camy for
some or a portion of the Expenses and Liabilities,not, however, for all of the total amount tredfréhe Company shall nevertheless
indemnify the Indemnitee for the portion thereofaoich the Indemnitee is entitled. Moreover, nohsittinding any other provision of this
Agreement, to the extent that the Indemnitee hag Baccessful on the merits or otherwise in defehs@y or all Proceedings relating in
whole or in part to an Indemnifiable Event or irfatese of any issue or matter therein, includingnisal without prejudice, the Indemnitee
shall be indemnified against all Expenses incuimezbnnection therewith. In connection with anyatatination by the Reviewing Party or
otherwise as to whether the Indemnitee is entttbeloe indemnified hereunder, the burden of proafldie on the Company to establish that the
Indemnitee is not so entitled.

8. Non-exclusivity. The rights of the Indemnitee hereunder shalhtaddition to any other rights the Indemnitee rhaye under an
statute, provision of the Company's Certificaténarporation or Bylaws, vote of stockholders agintierested directors or otherwise, both ¢
action in an official capacity and as to actiomitother capacity while holding such office. To éx¢ent that a change in the DGCL permits
greater indemnification by agreement than woul@tierded currently under the Company's Certifiadténcorporation and Bylaws and this
Agreement, it is the intent of the parties herégt the Indemnitee shall enjoy by this Agreemeatgteater benefits so afforded by such
change.

9. Liability Insurance.  To the extent the Company maintains an ins@auodicy or policies providing directors' and offis’ liability
insurance, the Indemnitee shall be covered by patiby or policies, in accordance with its or thigrms, to the maximum extent of the
coverage available for any director or officerlndé ICompany.

10. Settlement of Claims. The Company shall not be liable to indemnify thdemnitee under this Agreement (a) for any artsoun
paid in settlement of any action or claim effecdthout the Company's written consent, which cohséall not be unreasonably withheld; or
(b) for any judicial award if the Company was nistegp a reasonable and timely opportunity, at ifsesse, to participate in the defense of such
action.




11. No Presumption. For purposes of this Agreement, to the fuledent permitted by law, the termination of anyd@eding, action,
suit or claim, by judgment, order, settlement (\leetwith or without court approval) or convictiar,upon a plea of nolo contendere, or its
equivalent, shall not create a presumption thatritlemnitee did not meet any particular standarcbofduct or have any particular belief or
a court has determined that indemnification ispermitted by applicable law.

12. Period of Limitations.  No legal action shall be brought and no cadisetion shall be asserted by or on behalf of thben@any or
any affiliate of the Company against the Indemnitee Indemnitee's spouse, heirs, executors oopalsr legal representatives after the
expiration of two years from the date of accruatwéh cause of action, or such longer period asbeagquired by state law under the
circumstances, and any claim or cause of actidghefCompany or its affiliate shall be extinguisleed deemed released unless asserted by the
timely filing of a legal action within such periogrovided, however, that if any shorter periodiafifations is otherwise applicable to any such
cause of action, such shorter period shall govern.

13. Consent and Waiver by Third Parties. The Indemnitee hereby represents and warrhatdie or she has obtained all waivers
and/or consents from third parties which are nexgder his or her employment with the Company le& terms and conditions set forth herein
and to execute and perform this Agreement witheiridgpin conflict with any other agreement, obligator understanding with any such third
party. The Indemnitee represents that he or shetisound by any agreement or any other existingrevious business relationship which
conflicts with, or may conflict with, the performea of his or her obligations hereunder or previeatftll performance of his or her duties and
obligations hereunder.

14. Amendment of this Agreement. No supplement, modification or amendment of thjreement shall be binding unless executed
in writing by both of the parties hereto. No waiwagrany of the provisions of this Agreement shalldeemed or shall constitute a waiver of any
other provisions hereof (whether or not similagr shall such waiver constitute a continuing wai¥etcept as specifically provided herein, no
failure to exercise or any delay in exercising agit or remedy hereunder shall constitute a watlrereof.

15. Subrogation. In the event of payment under this Agreemdret, Gompany shall be subrogated to the extent ¢f pagment to all
of the rights of recovery of the Indemnitee [(otHean against the Other Indemnitors)], who shaticete all papers required and shall do
everything that may be necessary to secure subtsrigcluding the execution of such documents s&ary to enable the Company effectively
to bring suit to enforce such rights.

16. No Duplication of Payments. The Company shall not be liable under this &grent to make any payment in connection with any
claim made against Indemnitee to the extent therimitee has otherwise actually received paymertgjuany insurance policy, Bylaw, vote,
agreement or otherwise) of the amounts otherwidenmifiable hereunder.

17. Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and irtarthe benefit of and be enforceable by the pah@sto and their
respective successors, assigns, including anytdiréndirect successor by purchase, merger, cataan or otherwise to all or substantially
all of the business and/or assets of the Compaoyses, heirs, and personal and legal represesgafihe Company shall require and cause
any successor (whether direct or indirect by pusehanerger, consolidation or otherwise) to all ssabtially all, or a substantial part, of the
business and/or assets of the Company, by writiezeanent in form and substance satisfactory ténthemnitee, expressly to assume and
agree to perform this Agreement in the same maameto the same extent that the Company woulddpgireel to perform if no such
succession had taken place. This Agreement shatiineee in effect regardless of whether the Indeemiontinues to serve as a director or
officer of the Company or of any other enterpristha Company's request.

5




18. Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be sabker in the event that any of the provisions he(eaiuding any
provision within a single section, paragraph ornteece) is held by a court of competent jurisdictiofe invalid, void or otherwise
unenforceable, and the remaining provisions skeaflain enforceable to the fullest extent permittgdal. Furthermore, to the fullest extent
possible, the provisions of this Agreement (inahggdiwithout limitation, each portion of this Agreen containing any provision held to be
invalid, void or otherwise unenforceable, thatds mself invalid, void or unenforceable) shall tenstrued so as to give effect to the intent
manifested by the provision held invalid, illegalumenforceable.

19. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and coedtand enforced in accordance with the laws oftiage of
Delaware applicable to contracts made and to bemeed in such State without giving effect to thigpiples of conflicts of laws.

20. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or movaterparts, each of which shall be deemed annadigbut all of
which together shall constitute one and the sarsteliment.

21. Notices. All notices, demands, and other communicatieqgsiired or permitted hereunder shall be made itingrand shall be
deemed to have been duly given if delivered by hagdinst receipt, or mailed, postage prepaidifisettor registered mail, return receipt
requested, and addressed to the Company at:

and to the Indemnitee at:

Notice of change of address shall be dffeainly when done in accordance with this Sectiddhnotices complying with this Section sh
be deemed to have been received on the date gédebr on the third business day after mailing.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto hduly executed and delivered this Agreement ab®fiay first set forth above.
THE COMPANY:
KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, INC.

By:

Name:

Title:

INDEMNITEE:

Signature

Print Name:
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our reports dated Marcl®09 2with respect to the consolidated financialesteents and internal control over financial
reporting included in the Annual Report of Kratosfénse & Security Solutions Inc. and subsidiarie$orm 10-K for the year ended
December 28, 2008. We hereby consent to the incatipa by reference of said reports in the RedistnaStatements of Kratos Defense &
Security Solutions, Inc. and subsidiaries on Fo&¥8(File No. 333-53014, effective December 29, 00le No. 333-71618, effective
October 15, 2001, File No. 333-74108, effective dlober 28, 2001, and File No. 333-112956, effedtekruary 19, 2004), on Form S-4 (File
No. 33:-112957, effective February 19, 2004, File No. 358165, effective April 10, 2008, and File No. 383604, effective November 24,
2008) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-90455, effeciovember 5, 1999, File No. 333-54818, Februa0D1, File No. 333-1702, effective
October 17, 2001, File No. 333-91852, effectivey 1)I2002, File No. 333-116903, effective JuneZ®)4, No. 333-124957, effective May 16,
2005, File No. 333-127060, effective August 1, 2@08 File No. 333-155317, effective November 1280

/sSIGRANT THORNTON LLP

San Diego, CA
March 9, 2009
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Eric M. DeMarco, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Kratos Defense & Security Solutiolims;.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyindiagr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
() and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlpaédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafcial reporting, or caused such internal corax@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures agskepted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth quarter in the case of an annualrtgptat has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasti's internal control over financial reportingdan

5. The registrant's other certifyindiagr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mastnteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theétaxmmmittee of the registrant's board of direct@anspersons performing equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and madweaknesses in the design or operation of iatezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiaiatinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2009

/s/ ERIC M. DEMARCC

Eric M. De Marco
Chief Executive Officer and Preside¢

(Principal Executive Officer




QuickLinks
EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANTO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002



QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this dioant

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Deanna H. Lund, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual reporform 10-K of Kratos Defense & Security Solutioims.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmislieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyindiagr(s) and | are responsible for establishing araihtaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-(f))for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controlsodedures, or caused such disclosure controlparédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafcial reporting, or caused such internal corax@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of thggsteant's disclosure controls and procedures agskepted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any changéhie registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regigts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The registrant's other certifyindiagr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our mastnteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and theétaxmmmittee of the registrant's board of direct@nspersons performing similar functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and madweaknesses in the design or operation of iatezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materiaiatinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 10, 2009

/sl DEANNA H. LUND

Deanna H. Lund
Chief Financial Offer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of K Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (the "Compaon Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Secsréiel Exchange Commission on the date hereof Repdrt"), I, Eric M. DeMarco, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuaniil8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursugdettion 906 of the Sarban@sdey Act of
2002, that to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with theguirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the S&earExchange Act of 1934; and

2. That the information contained ie fReport fairly presents, in all material respettts,financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 10, 2009

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, IN

/sl ERIC M. DEMARCO

Chief Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 18 U.S.C SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of s Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. (the "Compaon Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2007 as filed with the Secsrétiel Exchange Commission on the date hereof Rapdrt"), |, Deanna H. Lund, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursugmtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursugsettion 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with theguirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), of the S&earExchange Act of 1934; and

2. That the information contained ie fReport fairly presents, in all material respettts,financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: March 10, 2009

KRATOS DEFENSE & SECURITY SOLUTIONS, IN

/sl DEANNA H. LUND

Chief Financial Officel
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